
 
City   of   Mission 

Regular   Meeting   Agenda 
Wednesday,   August   16,   2017 

7:00   p.m. 
Mission   City   Hall 

 
If you require any accommodations (i.e. qualified interpreter, large print, reader, hearing assistance) in              
order to attend this meeting, please notify the Administrative Office at 913-676-8350 no later than 24                
hours   prior   to   the   beginning   of   the   meeting. 
 
CALL   TO   ORDER   AND   PLEDGE   OF   ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL   CALL 
 
PUBLIC   HEARING 
 

● Mission   Gateway   Fourth   Amended   Redevelopment   Project   Plan    (page   4) 
● Mission   Gateway   Community   Improvement   District   #3    (page   72) 

 
1.     SPECIAL   PRESENTATIONS 
 

● Presentation to Holiday Adoption Program - Cameron Peck, Shawnee Mission North           
Student   Council 

 
2.    ISSUANCE   OF   NOTES   AND   BONDS 
 
3.     CONSENT   AGENDA 
 
NOTE:  Information on consent agenda items has been provided to the Governing Body.  These              
items are determined to be routine enough to be acted on in a single motion; however, this                 
does not preclude discussion.    If a councilmember or member of the public requests, an              
item may be removed from the consent agenda for further consideration and separate             
motion. 
 
CONSENT   AGENDA   -   GENERAL 
 
3a.      Minutes   of   the   July   19,   2017   City   Council   Meeting 
  
CONSENT   AGENDA   -   Finance   &   Administration   Committee 
  Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-2-17 

Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-2-17 
Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-9-17 
Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-9-17 

 
3b. Replacement   of   Servers 
3c. Resolution   Designating   Surplus   Property 
3d. Ordinance   Adopting   STO   and   UPOC 
3e. Selection   of   Voting   Delegates   for   LKM   and   NLC   Annual   Meetings 
3f. Consolidated   Fire   District   No.   2   Street   Solicitation   Application 
3g. Resolution   Designating   Additional   City   Sponsored   Festival   Events 
 
 
 

http://missionks.org/files/documents/CityCouncilMinutes07-19-17101453080117AM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteePacket08-02-17031818080117PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteeMinutes08-02-17051110081017PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteePacket08-09-17071617080417PM1578.pdf


CONSENT   AGENDA   -   Community   Development   Committee 
 Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-2-17 
 Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-2-17 
 Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-9-17 
Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-9-17 

 
3h. 2017   Mill   and   Overlay   Program   Contract 
 
COMMUNITY   COMMITTEE   REPORTS 
 

Approved   Minutes   from   Board   and   Commission   meetings   are   available   on   the  
City   of   Mission   website   under   the   “ Agendas   &   Minutes ”   tab. 

 
4.     PUBLIC   COMMENTS 
 
5.     ACTION   ITEMS  
 

Planning   Commission 
 

Miscellaneous 
 
6.     COMMITTEE   REPORTS 
 
Finance   &   Administration,   Nick   Schlossmacher 
  Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-2-17 

Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-2-17 
Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-9-17 
Finance   &   Administration   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-9-17 

 
6a. Resolution   Implementing   Recommendations   from   2017   Classification   and  

Compensation   Study    (page   79) 
6b. 2018   Budget   Resolution    (page   84) 
6c. 2018-2022   CIP   Resolution    (page   87) 
6d. Adoption   of   2018   Budget    (page   93) 

● 2018   City   of   Mission   Budget 
● 2018   Rock   Creek   Drainage   District   No.   1 
● 2018   Rock   Creek   Drainage   District   No.   2 

 
    Community   Development,   Kristin   Inman 

Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-2-17 
 Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-2-17 
Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Packet   8-9-17 
Community   Development   Committee   Meeting   Minutes   8-9-17 

 
6e. Rental   Licensing   Ordinance   Changes    (page   171) 
6f. Community   Center   Parking   Lot   Improvements    (page   203) 
6g. Resolution   in   Support   of   Dog   Park   Task   Force   Recommendation    (page   223) 
6h. Adopt   a   Park   Program    (page   231) 
6j. Kennett   Place   Streets   -   Maintenance   Agreement   and   Release    (page   239) 
6j. Contract   for   Gateway   Plan   Inspections    (page   242) 
 
 
7.     UNFINISHED   BUSINESS 
 

http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteePacket08-02-17064202072817PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteeMinutes08-02-17122142080817PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteePacket08-09-17053705080817PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/agenda.aspx
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteePacket08-02-17031818080117PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteeMinutes08-02-17051110081017PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/FinanceandAdministrationCommitteePacket08-09-17071617080417PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteePacket08-02-17064202072817PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteeMinutes08-02-17122142080817PM1578.pdf
http://missionks.org/files/documents/CommunityDevelopmentCommitteePacket08-09-17053705080817PM1578.pdf


8.     NEW   BUSINESS 
 
 
9.     COMMENTS   FROM   THE   CITY   COUNCIL 
 
10.    MAYOR'S   REPORT 
 

Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   Commission 
● Dahnika   Sachs,   Ward   2 
● Kelsey   Gibbs,   Youth   Member 
● Watson   Deacon,   Youth   Member 

 
Sustainability   Commission 

● Josh   Thede,   Ward   2 
● Sollie   Flora,   Ward   4 

 
11.     CITY   ADMINISTRATOR'S   REPORT  
 
EXECUTIVE   SESSION 
 
ADJOURNMENT 











































































































































 

55854322.2 

PETITION FOR THE CREATION OF THE MISSION GATEWAY 

COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

TO: The Governing Body,  
City of Mission, Kansas  

 
The undersigned, being the owner of record, whether resident or not, of the following: 
 
1. More than fifty-five percent (55%) of the land area contained within the hereinafter 

described community improvement district; and 
2. More than fifty-five percent (55%) by assessed value of the land area contained 

within the hereinafter described community improvement district. 
 

hereby petitions the City of Mission, Kansas (the “City”) to create a community 
improvement district and authorize the proposed projects hereinafter set forth, all in the 

manner provided by K.S.A § 12-6a26, et seq. (the “Act”).  In furtherance of such request, 
the petitioner states as follows: 

 

1. MAP AND LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DISTRICT 

 

A map generally depicting the proposed community improvement district (the 

“District”) is attached hereto as EXHIBIT “A”.  The legal description of the District 

is attached hereto as EXHIBIT “B”.   

 

2. GENERAL NATURE OF THE PROJECTS  

 

The general nature of the proposed projects to be funded by the District (the 

“Projects”) is to promote the development of a new mixed-use commercial 
development located generally at the northeast corner of Shawnee Mission Parkway 
and Roeland Drive in the City of Mission, Kansas.  The Projects may be more 
particularly described as the construction, maintenance, and procurement of certain 
improvements, costs, and services within the District, including, but not limited to: 
land acquisition, infrastructure related items, sidewalks, parking lots, drainage 
improvements, buildings, tenant improvements, utilities, landscaping, lighting, signage, 
marketing and advertisement, cleaning and maintenance, security, soft costs of the 
Projects, and the City and the petitioner’s administrative costs in establishing and 
maintaining the District, and any other items permitted to be financed within the 
District under the Act.   
 

3. ESTIMATED COST 

 

The estimated or probable cost of the Projects is $214,558,862.  See the attached 

EXHIBIT “C” for a detailed budget.  
 
 



 

55854322.2 

4. PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING 

 

It is proposed that the Projects be financed through a combination of private equity, 
private debt, community improvement district financing, and tax increment financing.  
It is proposed that community improvement district revenue will be made available to 
finance the cost of the Projects through the issuance of pay-as-you-go financing, as 
defined in the Act, special obligation revenue bonds, or any combination of these 
methods as further described herein.   
 

5. PROPOSED AMOUNT OF SALES TAX 

 

It is being proposed that the Projects be financed in part through the levying of a one 
percent (1.00%) community improvement retail sales tax as authorized by the Act with 
such sales tax to commence on January 1, 2019 or such other date as shall be 
approved by ordinance of the City. 

 

6. PROPOSED METHOD AND AMOUNT OF ASSESSMENT 

 

There are no assessments proposed by this Petition other than the sales tax described 
herein.  

 

7. NOTICE TO PETITION SIGNATORY 

 

Names may not be withdrawn from this Petition by the signatory hereto after the City 
commences consideration of this Petition, or later than seven (7) days after the filing 
hereof with the City Clerk, whichever occurs first.   
 

 





 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

MAP OF DISTRICT 

 



 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICT 

 
Lot 1, The Gateway First Plat, Part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, City 

of Mission, Johnson County, Kansas, less any portions in dedicated public street right of way (if any), 

more particularly described as: 

 

All that part of the West half of Section 9, Township 12 South, Range 25 East, in the City of Mission, 

Johnson County, Kansas, described as follows: 

 

COMMENCING at the Southwest corner of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Township 12 South, 

Range 25 East; thence North 1 degree 49 minutes 20 seconds West along the West line of the Northwest 

Quarter of said Section 9 a distance of 349.28 feet (339.15 feet Deed) to a point; thence North 88 degrees 

10 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 1740.63 feet (1742.10 feet Deed) to a point on the East right of 

way line of Roeland Drive, the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes  13 seconds 

West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 358.19 feet to a point on the South 

right of way line of Johnson Drive; thence North 67 degrees 34 minutes 47 seconds East along the South 

right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 143.70 feet to a point; thence North 68 degrees 09 minutes 

28 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 434.76 feet to a point; 

thence South 21 degrees 50 minutes 32 seconds East along the South right of way line of Johnson Drive a 

distance of 1.53 feet to a point; thence North 72 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds East along the South right 

of way line of Johnson Drive a distance of 342.82 feet to a point; thence in a Northeasterly direction along 

the South right of way line of Johnson Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 297.25 feet, 

through a central angle of 9 degrees 19 minutes 18 seconds, an arc  distance  of 48.36 feet to a point of 

compound  curvature; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the South right of way line of Johnson 

Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 106.25 feet, through a central angle of 85 degrees 

00 minutes 09 seconds, an arc distance of 157.63 feet to a point of compound curvature, said point also 

lying on the West right of way line of Roe Avenue; thence in a Southeasterly direction along the West right 

of way line of Roe Avenue and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 397.25 feet, through a central 

angle of 9 degrees 59 minutes 48 seconds, an arc distance of 69.31 feet to a point; thence South 3 degrees 

03 minutes 14 second East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 111.19 feet to a 

point; thence South 2 degrees 07 minutes 38 seconds East along the West right of way line of Roe Avenue 

a distance of 200.66 feet to a point; thence  South 1 degree 54 minutes 32 seconds East along the West 

right of way line of Roe Avenue a distance of 42.62 feet to a point on the Northwesterly right of way line of 

Shawnee Mission Parkway (also known as US Highway 56) as established in Book 200706 at Page 

003864; thence South 37 degrees 23 minutes 58 seconds West along the Northwesterly right of way line of 

said Shawnee Mission Parkway a distance of 936.45 feet to the point of intersection of the Northwesterly 

right of way line of Shawnee Mission Parkway and the East right of way line of Roeland Drive; thence 

North 52 degrees 36 minutes 02 seconds West along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance 

of 44.00 feet to a point; thence in a Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland 

Drive and along a curve to the right, having a radius of 260.50 feet, through a central angle of 53 degrees 

32 minutes 02 seconds, an arc distance of 243.40 feet to a point of reverse curvature; thence in a 

Northwesterly direction along the East right of way line of Roeland Drive and along a curve to the left, 

having a radius of 490.00 feet, through a central angle of 34 degrees 25 minutes 13 seconds, an arc 

distance of 294.37 feet to a point; thence North 33 degrees 29 minutes 13 seconds West along the East 

right of way line of Roeland Drive a distance of 125.55 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and 

containing 721,889 Square Feet or 16.572 Acres, more or less. 



 

55854322.2 

EXHIBIT “C” 
ESTIMATED PROBABLE COST OF PROJECTS 

 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs Total 

Land, Demolition & Predevelopment Costs $38,134,083 

Total Land Costs $38,134,083 

Site Work, Infrastructure & Parking 

Hard Costs - Parking Garage (1,041 Spaces) $15,010,155 

Stormwater Improvements $11,991,916 

Sitework $7,999,429 

Offsite $500,000 

$35,501,500 

Hard Costs   

 

Hard Costs Retail (Roeland) $3,854,490 

Hard Costs Retail (Johnson) $2,066,827 

Hard Costs Junior Anchors $32,224,500 

Hard Costs Hotel (includes Restaurant & Spa)  $23,745,480 

Hard Costs Residential $22,295,094 

Hard Costs Office $9,750,000 

Payment & Performance Bonds $523,457 

Insurance/Builders Risk $1,235,477 

General Contractor Fee $2,830,020 

Tenant Improvements $5,043,180 

Contingency $6,101,746 

Total Hard Costs $109,670,271 

Soft Costs 

Architecture/Engineering Services $3,248,652 

Legal $375,000 

Platting $75,000 

Civil Engineer (includes geo-tech and survey) $29,000 

Testing & Special Inspections $200,000 

Residential Marketing and FF&E $358,000 

Project Branding & Marketing $50,000 

Farmers Interest $504,000 

Hotel Pre Opening $1,000,000 

Hotel Supplies $400,000 

Hotel FFE $3,400,000 

Hotel Operator Technical Services Fee $200,000 



 

55854322.2 

Development Fee $4,564,451 

Project Staffing $2,250,000 

Residential Staffing $150,000 

Permit & Fees $796,053 

Accounting (Audit, etc.) $50,000 

Developer Reimbursements $300,000 

Leasing Commissions $1,792,817 

Soft Cost Contingency $750,000 

Total Soft Costs $20,492,974 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost 

Mortgage Broker Fee $57,029 

Bank Fee $114,059 

Title Insurance $85,544 

Mortgage Recording Tax $17,109 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $200,000 

3rd Parties $0 

Mezzanine Loan Closing Cost $473,741 

Construction Loan Closing Cost 

Mortgage Broker Fee $616,821 

Bank Fee $1,233,642 

Title Insurance $925,231 

Mortgage Recording Tax $185,046 

Legal (Owner and Lender) $500,000 

Construction Monitoring $150,000 

3rd Parties $250,000 

Construction Loan Closing Cost $3,860,740 

Interest Reserve 

Construction Loan Interest Reserve $3,000,000 

Bond Payment Reserve $2,399,022 

Mezzanine Loan Interest Reserve $1,026,530 

Total Financing Costs $6,425,552 

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS $214,558,862 

 
 
 

 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6a. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2017 

Administration From: Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Implementation   of   2017   Classification   and   Compensation   Study   Recommendations 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   Resolution   adopting   a   formal   compensation   philosophy   for 
the   City   of   Mission   and   authorizing   the   City   Administrator   to   proceed   with   the   implementation 
steps   as   recommended. 
 
DETAILS:          In   March   2017,   the   City   contracted   with   The   Austin   Peters   Group   (APG)   to   conduct 
a   classification   and   compensation   study.      Over   the   last   several   weeks,   the   City   Council   has 
received   the   preliminary   and   final   recommendations   from   the   study,   and   subsequently   directed 
staff   to   develop   an   implementation   plan   for   the   study’s   recommendations.   The   final   report   from 
APG   and   a   memo   outlining   implementation   strategies   was   discussed   at   the   August   2 nd    Finance 
&   Administration   Committee   meeting   and   a   Resolution   has   been   developed   for   Council 
consideration   at   the   August   16th   City   Council   meeting.  
 
Implementation   of   the   classification   and   compensation   study   would   occur   in   five   steps: 
  

1. Adopt   a   compensation   philosophy 
2. Establish   position   salary   ranges/grades 
3. Fund   market   adjustments   to   existing   salaries 
4. Conduct   annual   performance   reviews   and   implement   merit   increases 
5. Ensure   ongoing   review   and   maintenance   of   the   system 

 
Recommendations   1-4   will   be   implemented   beginning   in   September,   and   will   be   in   place   before 
the   end   of   the   2017   fiscal   year.   The   estimated   impact   to   base   wages   on   an    annual    basis   is 
($132,456   total) ,   resulting   from   moving   13   employees   to   new   range   minimums,   and   providing 
one-time   market   pay   compression   adjustments   to   49   employees.   In   addition   to   the   impact   on 
base   wages,    there   is   an   estimated   annual   impact   on   additional   salary   related   benefits   (FICA, 
KPERS,   KPF,   etc.)   of   approximately   $53,367.  
 
The   2017   and   2018   budgets   can   accommodate   the   recommended   implementation   plan.   The 
APG   Report   and   the   implementation   recommendations   are   included   again   the   packet   for   your 
reference. 
 
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       The   recommended   total   compensation   strategy 
considers   wages   and   benefits   which   support   employees   of   all   abilities   and   in   all   life   stages. 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



CITY   OF   MISSION 
RESOLUTION   NO.   _____ 

 

A   RESOLUTION   ESTABLISHING   A   COMPENSATION   PHILOSOPHY   FOR   THE   CITY   OF 
MISSION   AND   IMPLEMENTING   THE   RECOMMENDATIONS   OF   THE   2017 
CLASSIFICATION   AND   COMPENSATION   STUDY. 

WHEREAS,    it   is   an   organizational   best   practice   to   periodically   conduct   a   review   of   the 
classification   and   compensation   system    to   assist   in   identifying   potential   structural   deficiencies 
such   as   compression,   overlap,   or   internal   inequities,   and   to   provide   a   benchmark   against   the 
external   market ,   and; 

WHEREAS,    Mission’s   last   comprehensive   analysis   was   completed   in   2005,   and; 

WHEREAS,    the   City   Council   authorized   a   Classification   and   Compensation   Study   in   the 
2017   Budget   selecting   The   Austin   Peters   Group   of   Overland   Park,   Kansas   as   the   consultant; 
and, 

WHEREAS,    The   Austin   Peters   group   was   tasked   with:   1)   developing   an   overall 
compensation   philosophy,   2)   updating   the   classification   structure,   3)   conducting   a   market 
analysis,   4)   updating   job   descriptions,   5)   making   recommendations   (including   a   cost   analysis, 
and   6)   developing   a   process   and   training   staff   to   provide   for   on-going   maintenance   of   the 
system;   and, 

WHEREAS,    the   study’s   recommendations   had   to   consider   balancing   several   objectives 
including,   1)   implementing   a   fair   and   reasonable   classification   and   compensation   system,   2) 
remaining   competitive   with   the   area   market,   3)   respecting   the   current   budget   parameters,   and   4) 
managing   implications   for   future   budgets;   and, 

WHEREAS,    recognizing   that   the   employees   are   the   organization’s   greatest   asset,   the 
Council   directed   staff   to   move   forward   with   a   specific   implementation   plan   and   timeline   to   move 
the   City’s   classification   and   compensation   structure   toward   the   60th   percentile   of   the   market;  

NOW,   THEREFORE,   BE   IT   RESOLVED   BY   THE   GOVERNING   BODY   OF   THE   CITY 
OF   MISSION,   KANSAS: 

Section   1.       The   following   is   adopted   as   the   compensation   philosophy   for   the   City   of 
Mission,   Kansas: 

“The   City   of   Mission   values   all   employees   and   wants   to   attract,   retain,   and   develop   the 
brightest   employees   to   fully   serve   our   residents,   businesses   and   visitors.   The   Mission 
community   attracts   people   from   throughout   the   metropolitan   area    to   work,   shop,   or 
attend   to   other   business,   and   provides   a   place   where   they   can   enjoy   “big   city   services"   in 
a   safe,   friendly,   small-town   atmosphere.    The   City’s   compensation   philosophy   is   tied   to 
many   factors,   including   the   current   and   future   financial   position,   the   size   of   the 



organization,   the   market   competition,   and   the   level   of   difficulty   in   finding   and   retaining 
qualified   talent.  

Therefore,   the   City   of   Mission’s   adopts   a   Compensation   Philosophy   which   seeks   to: 

● Implement   pay   programs   and    total    reward   strategies   targeted   at   the   60 th 
percentile   of   the   market,   which   treat   all   employees   in   a   fair   and   equitable   manner. 

● Support   the   organization’s   fiscal   needs,   business   strategy,   competitive   outlook, 
operating   objectives   and   human   capital   needs. 

● Position   the   City   as   an   employer   of   choice,   one   who   takes   care   of   its   employees 
and   their   families. 

● Motivate   and   reward   employees   to   perform   at   the   best   of   their   competencies, 
abilities   and   skill   sets. 

● Retain   key   talent   and   reward   high-performing   employees. 
● Conduct   a   regular   review   of   its   pay   and   reward   structure,   based   on   business 

conditions,   competition   and   ability   to   pay.” 

Section   2.       The   pay   grades   and   ranges   by   position,   as   detailed   in   Exhibit   1,   are 
established   effective   September   1,   2017   when    incumbents   will   be   brought   into   the   new 
ranges,   and   as   necessary,   will   be   moved   to   the   new   range   minimums   on   the   September 
22,   2017   payroll.  

Section   3.       The   City   Administrator   is   authorized   to   implement   the   strategic,   one-time 
market   pay   compression   adjustments   with   the   October   6,   2017   payroll   to   improve 
Mission’s   competitiveness   with   the   market   and   assist   with   employee   retention. 

Section   4.       The   City   Administrator   and   Department   Directors   are   authorized   to   proceed 
with   the   annual   performance   review   process,   implementing   approved   merit   increases 
effective   with   the   November   17,   2017   payroll. 
 
Section   5.       The   City   Administrator   is   directed   to   work   with   APG   to   select   an   appropriate 
market   index   to   be   considered   in   future   salary   ranges   adjustments,   and   support   a 
compensation   strategy   for   new   and   existing   employees   which   allows   them   to   generally 
anticipate   progression   through   a   salary   range   based   on   market   benchmarks   and 
individual   performance. 

 

THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   PASSED   AND   APPROVED   BY   THE   CITY   COUNCIL   OF   THE   CITY   OF 
MIS SION,    this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 

THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   APPROVED   BY   THE   MAYOR     this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 

 

 



__________________________________ 
Steve   Schowengerdt,   Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 
Martha   Sumrall,   City   Clerk 



EXHIBIT 1

Position Department

Current 

Salary 

Grade

Recommended 

Salary Grade

Grade 

Movement

Current 

Grade 

Minimum

Current 

Grade 

Maximum

Recommended 

Grade Minimum

Recommended 

Grade Maximum

Maintenance Worker Parks & Recreation 10 10 = $30,527 $44,264 $31,066 $45,033

Sr. Accountant** Administration 17 11 - $42,954 $62,285 $32,261 $46,789

Office Assistant Community Development 11 11 = $32,053 $46,478 $32,261 $46,789

Office Assistant Parks & Recreation 11 11 = $32,053 $46,478 $32,261 $46,789

Laborer/Equip Oper I Public Works 11 11 = $32,053 $46,478 $32,261 $46,789

Court Clerk Municipal Court 13 13 = $35,339 $51,242 $37,115 $53,826

Aquatics Coordinator Parks & Recreation 13 13 = $35,339 $51,242 $37,115 $53,826

Rental Coordinator Parks & Recreation 15 13 - $38,961 $56,494 $37,115 $53,826

Police Clerk Police 13 13 = $35,339 $51,242 $37,115 $53,826

Laborer/Equip Oper II Public Works 13 13 = $35,339 $51,242 $37,115 $53,826

Neighorhood Services Officer Community Development 14 14 = $37,106 $53,803 $40,664 $58,868

Recreation Program Coordinator Parks & Recreation 15 15 = $38,961 $56,494 $42,620 $61,803

Police Officer (Police Officer I) Police 15 15 = $38,961 $56,494 $42,620 $61,803

Mechanic Public Works 13 15 + $35,339 $51,242 $42,620 $61,803

Police Officer (Police Officer II) Police 15 16 + $38,961 $56,494 $44,666 $64,770

Public Works Crew Leader Public Works 15 16 + $38,961 $56,494 $44,666 $64,770

HR Specialist Administration 17 17 = $42,954 $62,285 $45,110 $65,404

Aquatic Manager Parks & Recreation 17 17 = $42,954 $62,285 $45,110 $65,404

Detective Police 19 19 = $47,357 $68,668 $51,814 $75,115

Corporal Police 19 19 = $47,357 $68,668 $51,814 $75,115

Sr. Accountant** Administration 17 20 + $42,954 $62,285 $53,864 $78,081

Administrative Supervisor Parks & Recreation 20 20 = $49,725 $72,101 $53,864 $78,081

Recreation Program Supervisor Parks & Recreation 20 20 = $49,725 $72,101 $53,864 $78,081

Facility/Maintenance Supervisor Parks & Recreation 20 20 = $49,725 $72,101 $53,864 $78,081

Public Information Officer Administration 19 21 + $47,357 $68,668 $57,116 $82,829

Public Works Superintendent Public Works 21 21 = $52,212 $75,706 $57,116 $82,829

Sergeant Police 21 22 + $52,212 $75,706 $60,051 $87,084

City Clerk Administration 23 23 = $57,563 $83,467 $62,974 $91,313

Planner** Community Development 21 23 + $52,212 $75,706 $62,974 $91,313

Captain Police 26 26 = $66,637 $96,623 $74,657 $108,235

Parks & Recreation Director Parks & Recreation 29 29 = $77,140 $111,853 $84,399 $122,377

Public Works Director Public Works 29 29 = $77,140 $111,853 $84,399 $122,377

Assistant City Administrator/Finance Director Administration 29 31 + $77,140 $111,853 $93,490 $135,553

Police Chief Police 29 31 + $77,140 $111,853 $93,490 $135,553

City Administrator Administration 33 33 = $93,764 $135,958 $102,580 $148,728

**Title Change Pending



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6b. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2017 

Administration From: Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    2018   Budget   Resolution   and   Financial   Policies 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   2018   Budget   Resolution   outlining   the   policy   decisions,   mill 
levies,   and   fees   included   in   the   City   of   Mission,   Rock   Creek   Drainage   District   #1   and   Rock 
Creek   Drainage   District   #2   budgets   for   2018. 
 
DETAILS:          As   a   part   of   the   annual   budget   process,   the   City   Council   adopts   a   budget   resolution 
which   outlines   and   describes   the   financial   policies,   tax   and   fee   structures   and   other   related 
issues   identified   in   a   particular   fiscal   year.      Following   the   2018   Budget   Public   Hearing   on   August 
2,   2017,   a   draft   of   the   2018   Budget   Resolution   was   considered.   No   changes   were 
recommended,   and   the   final   version   is   now   ready   for   consideration   on   the   August   16th   City 
Council   Agenda.  
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       The   2018   Budget   was   developed   with   the   goals   and 
objectives   of   the   Communities   for   All   Ages   program   in   mind.      A   community   for   all   ages   seeks   to 
meet   the   needs   of   the   very   old,   the   very   young   and   everyone   in   between.   It   creates   and   fosters 
an   active,   caring   and   welcoming   community   that   promotes   respect,   diversity   and   inclusion.   A 
common   goal   is   to   develop   policies,   services   and   programs   that   result   in   affordable,   livable,   and 
sustainable   places.  

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



CITY   OF   MISSION,   KANSAS 
RESOLUTION   NO.        ____ 

 
 
A   RESOLUTION   ESTABLISHING   BUDGET   POLICIES   FOR   BUDGET   YEAR   2018   FOR   THE   CITY   OF 
MISSION,   KANSAS. 
 

WHEREAS,    the   City   of   Mission   must   provide   basic   services   to   protect   the   health,   safety,   and 
welfare   of   the   citizens   of   this   community;   and 

 
WHEREAS,    the   City   of   Mission   continues   to   promote   a   redevelopment   vision   designed   to   bring 

increased   density   to   our   community   to   positively   impact   property   values   and   lower   the   per   capita   cost   of 
basic   services;   and 

 
WHEREAS,    it   is   important   to   fund   the   replacement   and   repair   of   public   infrastructure   such   as 

streets,   sidewalks,   storm   water   structures,   parks,   and   public   facilities   to   maintain   and   enhance   property 
values   and   to   encourage   private   redevelopment;   and 
 

WHEREAS,    the   City   has   implemented   more   transparent   methods   for   paying   for   services   and 
infrastructure   through   dedicated   stormwater,   solid   waste,   parks   and   recreation,   and   street   revenues; 
 

NOW,   THEREFORE,    be   it   resolved   by   the   Governing   Body   of   the   City   of   Mission: 
 
Section   1.          The   Governing   Body   establishes   the   following   policies   to   maintain   the   public   infrastructure 
as   part   of   the   5-Year   Capital   Improvement   Program   (CIP)   within   the   2018   Budget. 
 
1. Maintain   the   Stormwater   Utility   Fee   at   $28   per   ERU   per   month.      This   provides   an   estimated   $2.5 

million   annually   in   Stormwater   Utility   fees   for   repayment   of   debt   service   and   maintenance   of 
stormwater   infrastructure. 

2. Establish   a   property   tax   mill   rate   of   8.802   mills   in   Rock   Creek   Drainage   District   #1   which   is 
anticipated   to   generate   approximately   $3,000   annually. 

3. Maintain   a   property   tax   mill   rate   of   10.500   mills   in   Rock   Creek   Drainage   District   #2   which   is 
anticipated   to   generate   approximately   $85,000   annually.  

4. Maintain   the   total   mill   levy   in   the   General   Fund   at   an   estimated   total   mill   rate   of   18.019.      The 
revenues   equivalent   to   approximately   7   mills   ($900,000),   will   be   transferred   to   the   Capital 
Improvement   Fund   to   support   street   maintenance   activities. 

5. Use   revenues   from   the   ⅜-cent   Parks   &   Recreation   Sales   Tax   ($850,000)   for   debt   service   on   the 
outdoor   aquatic   facility,   facility/equipment   costs   associated   with   the   Sylvester   Powell,   Jr. 
Community   Center   and   maintenance   of   the   City’s   outdoor   park   and   trail   amenities. 

 
Section   2.          The   Governing   Body   has   established   the   following   policies   to   maintain   basic   services   and 
city   operations   as   part   of   the   General   Fund   and   within   the   2018   Budget. 
 
1. Preserve   an   estimated   11.019   mills   for   General   Fund   operations.   Although   the   total   mills   to   be 

levied   in   the   General   Fund   are   estimated   at   18.019,   the   revenues   generated   by   approximately   7 
mills   will   be   used   exclusively   for   street   maintenance. 

2. Maintain   a   General   Fund   balance   of   no   less   than   $2.5   million.   The   City’s   goal   for   reserve   funds   is 
25%   of   total   General   Fund   revenues.   The   estimated   unreserved   fund   balance   at   December   31, 



2018   is   $2.76   million,   or   24%   of   annual   General   Fund   revenues. 
3. Increase   the   Solid   Waste   Utility   Rate   from   $163.08   to   $168.84   annually   for   single-family   property 

owners.   An   estimated   transfer   of   $110,000   from   the   General   Fund   subsidizes   the   remainder   of 
the   contract   for   single-family   residential   trash   service   which   will   be   billed   at   a    rate   of   $16.36   per 
household   per   month   in   2018. 

4. Continue   to   manage   the   organization’s   pay   structure   and   benefits   in   accordance   with   the   total 
compensation   philosophy   developed   in   2017,   including   evaluating   the   potential   to   implement   both 
market   and   merit   adjustments   as   the   budget   allows.   A   3%   merit   pool   has   been   included   in   the 
2018   Budget. 

5. Fund   replacement   of   the   highest   priority   capital   equipment   needs,   including   replacement   of 
copiers   for   City   Hall,   the   Police   Department,   and   Parks   and   Recreation,   a   crack   seal   machine   and 
skid   steer   trailer   in   Public   Works,   Municipal   Court   software,   and   handguns   and   radar   units   in   the 
Police   Department.   Capital   equipment   replacement   will   be   accomplished   through   purchase   and 
lease-purchase   and   is   estimated   at   $432,325. 

6. Maintain   the   Franchise   and   Mill   Rate   Rebate   program   at   100%   of   the   City   Franchise   Fees,   100% 
of   the   total   City   Mill   exclusive   of   all   City   special   assessments,   and   50%   rebate   of   the   Solid   Waste 
Utility   Fee.      This   expense   is   estimated   at   approximately   $20,000. 

7. Continue   to   move   cost   recovery   for   the   Community   Center   toward   100%   of   operating   costs, 
excluding   capital.  

 
Section   3.          The   Governing   Body   directs   staff   to   pursue   the   following   areas   as   part   of   on-going   budget 
considerations. 
 
1. Continue   to   look   for   partnership   options   that   could   decrease   costs   supported   by   Mission 

taxpayers. 
2. Continue   to   aggressively   manage   department   expenditures   to   be   as   efficient   as   possible   in   using 

limited   resources   to   deliver   high   quality   services. 
 
PASSED   AND   APPROVED   BY   THE   GOVERNING   BODY   OF   THE   CITY   OF   MISSION    on   this   16th   day 
of   August   2017. 

 
APPROVED   BY   THE   MAYOR    on   this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 

 
 

______________________________________ 
Steve   Schowengerdt,   Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Martha   Sumrall,   City   Clerk 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6c. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2016 

Administration From: Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    2018-2022   Capital   Improvement   Program   Resolution 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   Resolution   adopting   the   City   of   Mission’s   Recommended 
Capital   Improvement   Program   (CIP)   for   2018-2022. 
 
DETAILS:          As   a   part   of   the   annual   budget   process,   the   Governing   Body   adopts   a   resolution 
which   outlines   and   describes   the   financial   policies,   tax   and   fee   structures   and   other   related 
issues   included   in   the   recommended   budget   for   the   upcoming   fiscal   year.      For   the   last   several 
years,   the   Governing   Body   has   also   adopted   a   resolution   that   addresses   the   recommended 
five-year   infrastructure   plan,   also   referred   to   as   Mission’s   Capital   Improvement   Program   (CIP). 
 
The   revenues   and   expenses   programmed   in   the   CIP   for   2018   are   included   in   the   2018 
Recommended   budget   in   the   appropriate   funds.      The   remainder   of   the   CIP   is   designed   to   be 
fluid   and   flexible   in   order   to   evaluate   and   address   changes   in   resources   or   priorities   in   future 
years.      Projects   which   have   been   identified   or   discussed   but   were   not   specifically   included   in   the 
2018-2022   CIP   may   be   outlined   in   the   body   of   the   Resolution   in   order   to   establish   a   public 
record/reminder   of   historical   considerations.   These   projects   may   be   eventually   be   programmed 
within   the   5-year   plan   as   a   part   of   future   budget   discussions. 
 
Approval   of   the   2018-2022   CIP   does   not   commit   the   City   to   any   specific   expenditures   beyond 
those   detailed   in   2018.   A   draft   of   the   Resolution   was   reviewed   and   discussed   at   the   August   2nd 
Finance   &   Administration   Committee   meeting   and   no   changes   were   proposed. 
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       The   2018-2022   CIP   was   developed   with   the   goals   and 
objectives   of   the   Communities   for   All   Ages   program   in   mind.      A   community   for   all   ages   seeks   to 
meet   the   needs   of   the   very   old,   the   very   young   and   everyone   in   between.   It   creates   and   fosters 
an   active,   caring   and   welcoming   community   that   promotes   respect,   diversity   and   inclusion.   A 
common   goal   is   to   develop   policies,   services   and   programs   that   result   in   affordable,   livable,   and 
sustainable   places.  
 
 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description: Various 

Available   Budget: 2017   -   $6,312,056   (all   program   areas   combined) 

 



CITY   OF   MISSION,   KANSAS 
RESOLUTION   NO.   ___ 

  
A   RESOLUTION   ADOPTING   THE   2018-2022   CAPITAL   IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM   (CIP)   FOR   THE   CITY   OF   MISSION,   KANSAS. 
  

WHEREAS ,   the   City   of   Mission,   faces   significant   infrastructure   projects, 
including,   streets,   stormwater,   and   public   facilities   necessary   to   maintain   property 
values   and   encourage   additional   private-sector   redevelopment;   and 

 
WHEREAS ,   in   City-wide   surveys   conducted   by   ETC   in   2007,   2011,   and   2015 

the   citizens   of   Mission   articulated   redevelopment   as   one   of   the   top   priorities   facing 
the   city;   and 
  

WHEREAS ,   the   City   of   Mission,   has   invested   significant   resources   in 
infrastructure   in   support   of   both   public   and   private-sector   goals;   and 
  

WHEREAS ,   a   multiyear   CIP   is   recognized   as   an   important   planning   and 
budgeting   document   for   municipalities;   and 

 
WHEREAS ,   the   CIP   contains   expenditures   to   actively   construct   and   maintain 

capital   projects   as   well   as   to   pay   debt   service   on   bonds   issued   for   infrastructure 
improvements;   and 
  

WHEREAS ,   the   annual   adoption   of   a   CIP   does   not   specifically   commit   the 
city   to   any   expenditures   and   is   an   important   forecasting   tool   for   the   annual   budget 
process;   and 
  

WHEREAS ,   the   CIP   better   positions   the   city   to   solicit   external   resources   to 
help   fund   infrastructure   projects   in   the   City   of   Mission, 
  

NOW,   THEREFORE,    be   it   resolved   by   the   Governing   Body   of   the   City   of 
Mission: 
  

Section   1 .   The   2018-2022   CIP   is   adopted.   The   City   expects   to   receive 
approximately   $5,225,000   million   of   revenue   and   spend   $6,092,647   million 
in   expenditures   as   part   of   the   2018   budget   related   to   the   Capital 
Improvement   Program.   The   expenditures   exceed   revenues   as   a   result   the 
draw   down   of   fund   balances   carried   over   from   previous   years.  
 
Section   2 .   In   2018,   the   CIP   will   fund   projects   and   debt   service   in   three 
primary   program   areas:   streets,   stormwater   and   parks   and   recreation. 
Specific   projects   and   debt   service   obligations   are   detailed   in   the   program 



plan   documents   included   as   Exhibit   1. 
 
Section   3 .   The   Governing   Body   acknowledges   that   there   are   other 
infrastructure   projects   which   have   been   identified   but   are   not   budgeted   in 
the   2018-2022   CIP.   These   include,   but   are   not   limited   to:  
  

a. Major   street   construction   projects   for   Barkley   St   (57 th    St   to   61 st    St)   and 
Metcalf   Ave   (56 th    St   to   61 st    St).   Each   of   these   public   projects   would 
likely   be   pursued   in   partnership   with   redevelopment   by   adjacent 
private   property   owners. 

b. Completing   the   remediation   of   the   Rock   Creek   Floodplain   and 
establishing   a   Secondary   Stormwater   System   construction   program. 

c. Supporting   Downtown   Mission   redevelopment   via   public   parking,   public 
parkland,   and   a   local   market   that   considers   the   priorities   established 
by   the   Downtown   Visioning   Committee   (Resolution   849   11-16-11). 

d. Locating   and/or   maintaining   Administrative   and   Public   Safety 
personnel   in   facilities   that   can   sustainably   meet   the   long-term   needs   of 
the   city. 

e. Evaluating   the   results   of   the   Park   Master   Plan   as   it   relates   to   potential 
development   of   the   secondary   trail   system   to   better   connect   residents 
and   visitors   to   the   primary   system. 

 
THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   PASSED   AND   APPROVED   BY   THE   CITY   COUNCIL 

OF   THE   CITY   OF   MISSION ,   this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 
  

THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   APPROVED   BY   THE   MAYOR    this   16th   day   of 
August   2017. 
  
 
  

_______________________________ 
             Steve   Schowengerdt,   Mayor  

 
ATTEST: 
  
  
_____________________________ 
Martha   Sumrall,   City   Clerk 



EXHIBIT 1

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Revenues
Beginning Balance* 766,209 477,562 531,484 (1,286,087) (3,450,937) (5,226,729)

Local Revenue
7 mills dedicated to streets 890,000            900,000            900,000            900,000                  900,000                  900,000                  

0.25% Street Sales Tax Revenues - existing 550,000            575,000            575,000            575,000                  575,000                  145,000                  

Sub-total          1,440,000          1,475,000          1,475,000                 1,475,000                 1,475,000                1,045,000 

External Revenue
CARS Reimbursements 654,040                                    - 574,000                            2,291,650                                -                3,100,000 

Special Highway 246,600            250,000            250,000            250,000                  250,000                  250,000                  

SMAC Reimbursements -                        -                        -                        -                              -                              1,500,000               

Grants / Other Outside Funding -                        -                                      68,000 -                              -                              1,200,000               

Miscellaneous Revenues -                                                -                         -                                -                                -                               - 

Sub-total             900,640             250,000             892,000                 2,541,650                    250,000                6,050,000 

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total                         -                         -                         -                                -                                -                               - 

Total Street Revenues 2,340,640         1,725,000         2,367,000         4,016,650               1,725,000               7,095,000               

Expenses

Capital Projects

Foxridge (56th to 51st)          1,310,279                         -                         -                                -                                -                               - 

Broadmoor (Martway/Johnson Drive)                         -             182,000          1,148,000                                -                                -                               - 

Foxridge (51st to Lamar)                         -                         -             992,000                 4,583,300                                -                               - 

Johnson Drive (Lamar to Metcalf)                         -                         -                         -                                -                 1,778,000                8,994,000 

Lamar (SMP to Foxridge)                         -                         -             555,848 

UBAS Treatement - Roe (SMP to 63rd St)                         -                         -                         -                    110,877                                -                               - 

UBAS Treatment - Nall (Martway to 67th St)                         -                         -                         -                                -                    232,711                               - 

UBAS Treatment - Jo Drive (Nall to Roe)  -  -  -  -  -                   135,756 

Full-depth Reconstruction Projects (non-CARS eligible)                         -             300,000             300,000                    300,000                    300,000                   300,000 

Sub-total          1,310,279             482,000          2,995,848                 4,994,177                 2,310,711                9,429,756 

Maintenance Programs
Street Maintenance Program (seal and mill/overlay) 474,000                        350,000             350,000                    350,000                    350,000                   350,000 

 Chip Seal Contract 105,000              
Mill & Overlay Contract 369,000              

PW Maintenance Programs (sidewalks, traffic safety)               76,500               75,000               75,000                      75,000                      75,000                     75,000 

Stantec Inventory                 30,000 
Trinity Curbs                   6,500 

Striping                 20,000 
Broadmoor/Jo Drive Repairs                 20,000 

Bridge Maintenance/Administrative Costs 25,000              25,000              25,000              25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    

Sub-total             575,500             450,000             450,000                    450,000                    450,000                   450,000 

Debt Service
Remaining Debt Service/ 

Year Retires

Johnson Drive/Martway Debt Service (2012A) $472,045 $472,315 $471,660 $470,060 $472,718 $474,300

Jo Drive - Street Portion (2013C) $271,463 $266,763 $267,063 $267,263 $267,363 $267,363 $271,625 (2023)

Sub-total             743,508             739,078             738,723                    737,323                    740,081                   741,663 

Total Street Expenses 2,629,287         1,671,078         4,184,571         6,181,500               3,500,792               10,621,419             

Ending Balance 477,562            531,484            (1,286,087)        (3,450,937)              (5,226,729)              (8,753,148)              

Street Program Plan (2018-2022)



2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Revenues
Beginning Balance 310,403            67,484              (630,660)                 (1,878,612)              (2,073,181)              (2,262,287)              

Local Revenue
Stormwater Utility Fund Revenues 2,500,000         2,500,000         2,500,000               2,500,000               2,500,000               2,500,000               

Drainage District Revenues 82,000              85,000              85,000                    85,000                    85,000                    85,000                    

Transfer from General Fund for Debt Service -                                               -                               -                               -                               -                               - 

Transfer from CIP Fund for Debt Service                         -                         -                               -                               -                               -                               - 

Gateway Special Benefit District Revenues                         -                         -                               -                               -                               -                               - 

Sub-total          2,582,000          2,585,000                2,585,000                2,585,000                2,585,000                2,585,000 

Extenal Revenue
SMAC Revenues                         -                         -                3,154,140                               -                               -                               - 

Miscellaneous Revenues                         -                         -                               -                               -                               -                               - 

Sub-total                         -                         -                3,154,140                               -                               -                               - 

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total                         -                         -                               -                               -                               -                               - 

Total Stormwater Revenues 2,582,000         2,585,000         5,739,140               2,585,000               2,585,000               2,585,000               

Expenses

Capital Projects
Rock Creek Channel (Nall to Roeland Drive)                         -             640,000                4,206,898 

Sub-total                         -             640,000                4,206,898                               -                               -                               - 

Maintenance Programs
Repair and Maintenance Fund             185,000               25,000                     50,000                     50,000                     50,000                     50,000 

6500 W. 51st
5820 W. 61st

Sinkhole
Miscellaneous Engineering               50,000               25,000                     50,000                     50,000                     50,000                     50,000 

Sub-total             235,000               50,000                   100,000                   100,000                   100,000                   100,000 

Debt Service/Loan Repayment Remaining Debt Service/ Year Retires

KDHE Loan Repayment                 6,562                 6,562                       6,562                       6,562                       6,562                       6,562 $59,058 (2031)

GO Series 2010A             367,813             368,738                   369,388                   364,763  -                               - $0 

GO Series 2010B             279,131             279,131                   279,131                   974,131                1,331,331                1,333,131 $3,161,324 (2026)

GO Series 2013C - Stormwater Portion             283,575             283,675                   283,675                   283,575                   283,375                   283,075 $287,000 (2023)

GO Series 2014-A             321,838          1,389,838                1,741,438                1,050,538                1,052,838                1,054,738 $4,456,389 (2029)

GO Series 2014-B          1,331,000             265,200  -  -  -                               - 0

Sub-total          2,589,919          2,593,144                2,680,194                2,679,569                2,674,106                2,677,506 Total Remaining $7,963,771

Total Stormwater Expenses 2,824,919         3,283,144         6,987,092               2,779,569               2,774,106               2,777,506               

Ending Balance 67,484              (630,660)          (1,878,612)              (2,073,181)              (2,262,287)              (2,454,793)              

Stormwater Program Plan (2018-2022)



Revenues
Beginning Fund Balance 706,477    538,806    315,381 230,781 180,931 114,331 

Local Revenue

0.375% Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Revenues      850,000      850,000  825,000  825,000  825,000  800,000 

Transfers/other

Sub-total      850,000      850,000  825,000  825,000  825,000  800,000 

External Revenue
Special Parks & Recreation Revenues 59,000             65,000    65,000    65,000    65,000    65,000 

Sub-total        59,000        65,000    65,000    65,000    65,000    65,000 

Debt Proceeds

Sub-total                 -                 -              -              -              -              - 

Total Parks and Recreation Revenues 909,000    915,000    890,000 890,000 890,000 865,000 

Expenses

Capital Projects
Park Systems Improvements                 -      105,000  100,000  100,000  150,000  150,000 

Park Amenities TBD        65,000 Park Amenities TBD    100,000 Park Amenities TBD  100,000 Park Amenities TBD  150,000 Park Amenities TBD  150,000 

Park Entrance Signage        40,000 

MFAC Improvements/Equipment Replacement        32,240      127,000    28,000              -    45,000              - 

Pool Painting         26,240 MFAC Second Slide Tower       105,000 Gel Coat Slide 1      28,000 MFAC Painting      45,000 

Pool Vacuum           6,000 Lounge Chairs         22,000 

SPJCC Improvements/Equipment Replacement      352,928      269,500  200,500  197,100  117,500  107,500 

Refrigerators         10,000 Small Kaivac           5,000 Seated Rider Scrubber      16,000 Conference Center Banquet Chairs      24,100 Conference Center Blinds      10,000 Conference Center Carpet      30,000 

Conference Center Projectors         15,000 Gym Dividers (2)         25,000 Small Kaivac        5,000 Natatorium Ceiling Repainting      70,000 Roof Resurfacing    100,000 Conference Center Projectors      18,000 

Replace Back-Up Battery Sytem           8,000 Pool Vacuum           6,000 Pool Pak Repairs/Replacement      65,000 Dry Sauna Re-cedar      17,500 Conference Center Painting      20,000 

 Parking Lot Pool Pak Repairs/Replacement         65,000 Elevator Maintenance      20,000 Resurface Pool Deck      40,000 Natatorium Painting      32,000 

Construction       178,000 Sound System A&B         10,000 Roof Repairs      30,000 Gel Coat Indoor Pool Slide      28,000 

Design/Construction Inspection         17,928 Cardio/Weight/Stairs Flooring         85,000 A&B Flooring      30,000 Conference Center Tables      10,000 

Pool Pak Repairs/Replacement         65,000 Carpet Cleaner         16,000 Admin Office Carpeting      15,000 

Building Paging System         10,000 Indoor Pool Resurfacing         50,000 Dance Floor Conference Ctr      12,000 

Gymnastic Mats           6,500 

Roof Repairs         35,000 

Computer Replacement           7,500 Computer Replacement           7,500 Computer Replacement        7,500 Computer Replacement        7,500 Computer Replacement        7,500 Computer Replacement        7,500 

Sub-total Capital Projects      385,168      501,500  328,500  297,100  312,500  257,500 

Maintenance/Operations
Facility Reserve Funds (SPJCC)        50,000        50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000 

Facility Reserve Funds (MFAC)        10,000        10,000    10,000    10,000    10,000    10,000 

Park Improvement Fund        50,000 

Sub-total      110,000        60,000    60,000    60,000    60,000    60,000 

Debt Service/Lease Payments

Outdoor Aquatic Facility Debt Service (2013B) 526,450    529,000     531,100  527,750  529,100  530,000 $1,060,900 (2023)

Cardio Equipment Lease        47,925        47,925    55,000    55,000    55,000    55,000 on-going lease

HVAC Controller Lease          7,128                 -              -              -              -              - 

Sub-total      581,503      576,925  586,100  582,750  584,100  585,000 

Total Parks & Recreation Expenses 1,076,671 1,138,425 974,600 939,850 956,600 902,500 

Ending Balance 538,806    315,381    230,781 180,931 114,331 76,831   

Parks & Recreation Program Plan (2018-2022)
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022



 
6090 Woodson Street 

Mission, KS 66202 
(913) 676.8390 

www.missionks.org 
 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council of the City of Mission, Kansas: 
 
The City of Mission Leadership Team is pleased to present the Recommended 2018 budget. It is a 
balanced budget, as required by law, and maintains the City’s high service levels and sound financial 
position while also minimizing the tax burden on our citizens and businesses. 
 
Each year we identify potential threats and opportunities to the budget. These may be identified from 
economic trends, legislative action, the public, the City Council, or professional staff. The following 
issues were discussed during the development of the 2018 Budget:  
 

● Balancing service delivery/operating needs with infrastructure investment 
● Appropriately funding facility and equipment needs 
● Implementing recommendations from the 2017 Classification and Compensation study 
● Anticipated increases in employee health/welfare and retirement costs that outpace inflation 
● Continuing to explore cost recovery goals for the Community Center to move toward 100% 

self-sufficiency 
● Impacts of decision on repayment obligations related to the Transportation Utility Fee 
● Leveraging increased redevelopment opportunities city-wide 
● Planning for and implementing changes necessitated by the property tax lid  

 
The City of Mission's budget covers the period of January 1st through December 31st. The entire 
budget is made up of more than a dozen individual funds totaling $18.6 million in estimated 
expenditures for 2018. Most of the annual budget discussions focused on the City’s General Fund and 
those funds tied specifically to capital infrastructure investments, including the Capital Improvement 
Fund, the Stormwater Utility Fund, the Street Sales Tax Fund, the Special Highway Fund, the Special 
Parks Fund, and the Parks & Recreation Sales Tax Fund. In addition, there are several miscellaneous 
funds which the City is required to maintain that are detailed later in this overview. 
 
General Fund 
 
The City’s General Fund accounts for core municipal functions and services such as Public Safety, 
Public Works, Parks & Recreation, and Administration. It is an operating budget, focused primarily on 
revenues coming and going in a particular fiscal year. There are three primary revenue streams that 
support the General Fund budget:  sales/use taxes (local and intergovernmental), property taxes, and 
parks and recreation revenues. Altogether, they make up nearly 80% of the annual General Fund 
budget resources. Fluctuations in these revenue streams impact how the City is able to pay for and 
maintain core services.  
 
Revenue Highlights 
 
Total estimated revenues in the 2018 General Fund budget are $11.75 million. Revenues are predicted 
to experience a slight decrease (less than 1%) between 2017 and 2018. While there are shifting trends 

1 



among revenue categories (sales taxes, fines, community center), the revenue streams do not 
demonstrate increases sufficient to keep pace with inflation, increases in personnel costs, or ongoing 
capital equipment and facility needs. 
 

 
 

The 2018 Recommended Budget maintains the mill levy constant with 2017, and  
does not include any significant increases in fees or taxes collected by the City.  

 
Of the total estimated mill rate used to support the 2018 Recommended Budget (18.019 mills), 11.019 
mills will support General Fund operations. The revenue generated by the remaining 7 mills ($900,000) 
has been earmarked for street maintenance and will be transferred to the Capital Improvement Fund. 
 
The only new revenue stream included in the 2018 Recommended Budget is the ¼-cent Public Safety 
sales tax approved by the County in November 2016.  The sales tax is “special purpose,” dedicated to 
construction of the Johnson County Courthouse and Coroner’s Facility and became effective April 1, 
2017. Staff has estimated receipts of $193,000 in the 2018 Budget. The sales tax has a 10-year sunset. 
While use of the sales tax is restricted at the County level, the City has no restrictions on how the funds 
may be used locally. 
 
 

2 



The 2018 Budget is the first one subject to the property tax lid legislation passed during the 2016 
legislative session. Using the 5-year rolling average of CPI-U inflation rates (1.4%) and incorporating 
the exemptions and formulas set out in the new law, the City was able to retain the estimated appraisal 
growth without limitation.  
 
Expenditure Highlights 
 
The 2018 Recommended General Fund expenditures are estimated to decrease 5.18% from the 2017 
Budget, including transfers.  This is primarily the result of reductions in expenses associated with 
capital equipment purchases and leases.  The 2018 General Fund Expenditures by function are 
detailed in the graph below: 
 

 
 
Personnel 
 
The largest expenditure category in the General Fund is Personnel Services. Budgeted at $6.85 million,               
these costs represent approximately 64% of the total General Fund budget, excluding transfers. No              
new positions were requested as a part of the 2018 Budget process. The 2018 Recommended Budget                
includes sixty-eight (68) full-time employees. 
 
 

3 



Personnel costs increased 4.18% over the 2017 Budget, primarily as a result of the implementation of                
changes recommended by the 2017 Classification and Compensation Study.  
 
Contractuals/Commodities 
 
Contractual services and commodities make up the next largest share of the General Fund expenses,               
accounting for a combined total of approximately $3.4 million in 2018. Contractual services are things               
provided or secured through contracts with others, including utilities, legal services, engineer/architect            
services, prisoner housing, and maintenance/operation of traffic signals. Commodities are consumable           
goods such as fuel, salt, program supplies, etc. Careful management of the departmental budgets              
provides for controlled expenditures in both of these categories.  
 
Capital/Debt Service 
 
The 2018 Budget includes funding for all current capital lease-purchase obligations including            
streetlights, police vehicles, and the street sweeper. Capital expenditures reflect purchases which will             
be made outright, and are based on vehicle and equipment replacement schedules maintained by each               
Department. Capital equipment items to be purchased from the General Fund in 2018 include: 
 

● Replacement Servers 
● Multi-function printers/copiers (City Hall, Police Department, Community Center) 
● Court Software 
● Crack Seal Machine 
● Utility Trailer 
● Ice Maker 
● Work area modifications to improve customer service 
● Handguns/Shotguns 
● Radar Equipment 

 
Transfers 
 
Transfers are used to support programs and activities budgeted in other funds. The 2018 budget               
includes a transfer from the General Fund to the Capital Improvement Fund in the amount of $900,000                 
for street maintenance activities. A transfer in the amount of $110,000 is also included, and represents                
the transfer to the Solid Waste Utility Fund to subsidize a portion of the residential trash service                 
contract. Finally, the 2018 Budget includes a transfer of $100,000 to the Equipment Replacement Fund               
to build reserves for capital equipment purchases in future years. 
 
General Fund Policy Assumptions 
 
The 2018 Recommended Budget, accomplishes a number of Council goals and objectives, and             
includes the following policy assumptions: 
 

1. Holding the mill levy rate constant (18.019 mills).  Of that total, 11.019 mills will be used to 
support General Fund operations. The revenue generated from the remaining 7 mills ($900,000) 
will be transferred to the Capital Improvement Fund to support street maintenance activities. 

 
 

4 



2. Maintaining a General Fund balance of no less than $2.5 million. The City’s goal for reserve 
funds is 25% of total General Fund revenues. The estimated unreserved fund balance at 
December 31, 2018 is $2.76 million, or 24% of annual General Fund revenues. 

3. Increasing the Solid Waste Utility Rate from $163.08 to $168.84 annually for single-family 
property owners. An estimated transfer of $110,000 from the General Fund subsidizes the 
remainder of the contract for single-family residential trash service which will be billed at a rate 
of $16.36 per household per month. 

4. Continuing the Franchise and Mill Rate Rebate program at 100% of city franchise fees, 100% of 
total city mill excluding special assessments, and 50% rebate of the solid waste utility fee. 
Current rebate program costs budgeted in the General Fund total $20,000. 

5. Transferring $100,000 to the Equipment Reserve Fund. 
6. Funding for no new positions, and a 3% merit pool to reward employee performance. 
7. Maintaining funding for the Business Improvement Grant (BIG) Program at $35,000. 
8. Increasing the Park Maintenance budget to $25,000 in the Public Works Department in 

continued response to recommendations outlined in the 2016 Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan. 

9. Continuing efforts to move the cost recovery goal for the Community Center toward 100% of 
operating costs, excluding capital.  

10. Funding for the highest priority capital equipment purchases for each Department. 
 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
 
Over the last 10-12 years, the City has taken steps to address infrastructure challenges. Specifically by 
creating a number of revenue streams dedicated to capital infrastructure investment, including: 
 

● Stormwater Utility Fees 
● Property Tax Revenues (7 mills for streets) 
● Sales Tax Revenues 

○ ¼-cent Dedicated Street Sales Tax 
○ ⅜-cent Dedicated Parks & Recreation Sales Tax 

● Drainage District Revenues 
 
These revenue streams are used to build a multi-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) focused 
around three primary program areas:  streets, stormwater, and parks and recreation. The CIP serves as 
a guide for the efficient and effective provision of public infrastructure facilities, outlining a schedule of 
capital projects over a five-year period of time.  

 
Capital infrastructure projects are generally large in scope and often take several years to complete, 
making it more appropriate to handle them outside of the General Fund. The associated revenues and 
expenses are managed in the CIP as part of the annual budget process. Mission’s 2018-2022 Capital 
Improvement Program seeks to forecast future public improvements and facilities with the following 
objectives in mind: 
 

● Integrate the CIP into the Annual Budget in order to provide a comprehensive financial plan for                
accomplishing the goals of the City. 

● Leverage City resources against available federal, state and county funds in such a manner that               
the present and future citizens of Mission will be provided with the highest level of services and                 
facilities without adverse financial impacts in the future. 

5 



● Support decisions and actions that assist in maintaining the City’s bond rating. 
 
In 2016, the City faced several challenges in the CIP, including the need to address a shortfall in 
stormwater revenues, as well as potential options to replace the Transportation Utility Fee (TUF). 
Several changes were made for the 2017 Budget, are are recommended to carry over into 2018. 
Highlights of the 2018-2022 CIP are discussed by program area below. 
 
Street Program 
 
When the current street maintenance program was established in 2010, the goal was to use 
approximately $1.5-1.7 in locally generated funds to support a comprehensive street maintenance 
program. In the 2018-2022 CIP, streets are funded with three local revenue streams: 
 

1. Special Highway funds (gas tax) distributed by the State ($250,000 annually) 
2. ¼-cent Sales Tax for Streets ($575,000 annually) 
3. 7 mills ($900,000 annually) 

 
The 2018-2022 Street Program Plan illustrates that the street projects contemplated in the next two 
years can be accommodated within existing revenues. However, budgetary shortfalls appear in 2019 
and continue in the remaining years of the CIP. Longer term decisions surrounding a preferred, 
sustainable street maintenance program will impact future years and will be influenced by a number of 
factors, including: 
 

● Decision on repayment of the Transportation Utility Fee 
● Decision on Gateway Development (impact on Street Sales tax) 
● Renewal of the ¼-cent Street Sales Tax (sunsets March 30, 2022) 
● Impact of the property tax lid on future revenues generated by the mill levy dedicated to streets. 
● Procurement of outside funding (SMAC and STP funds) for the Johnson Drive project 

 
In addition to the annual residential street programs of chip seal and mill and overlay, the 2018 Street 
Program includes the design of improvements to Broadmoor (Johnson Drive to Martway) with 
construction anticipated to occur in 2019. Construction and construction inspection for the Broadmoor 
project will be funded 50% from the Johnson County CARS Program. 
 
Stormwater Program 
 
Over the last ten years, the City completed major stormwater improvements along the Rock Creek               
Channel, removing significant sections of private commercial properties from the 100-Year FEMA            
Floodplain. Revenues supporting the stormwater program include: 

● Stormwater Utility Fee - ($2.5 million annually) 
● Drainage District Revenues ($88,000 annually) 

 
Although not shown in the 2018-2022 Stormwater Program, the City does anticipate annual special              
assessment revenues from the Gateway site in the amount of $600,000 per year. The 2018 Stormwater                
program includes design of the Rock Creek Channel project (just west of Nall to Roeland Drive). This                 
project not only completes improvement to the downstream portion of the channel (from Roe to Maple),                
but also addresses the significant erosion occurring on the north and south sides of the channel. This                 

6 



project was submitted to the Johnson County SMAC program and is currently programmed for              
construction funding in 2019. If Gateway assessments are not realized in 2017 or 2018, design and                
construction of this project will need to shift to a future program year. 

Parks & Recreation Program 
 
The Parks & Recreation Program Plan addresses the capital infrastructure needs of the Sylvester 
Powell, Jr. Community Center, the Mission Family Aquatic Center (including debt service), eight (8) 
outdoor parks, and trails throughout the City.  Revenues dedicated to this program are generated 
through: 
 

● ⅜-cent Parks and Recreation Sales Tax ($850,000 annually) 
● One-third the alcohol funds distributed by the State ($65,000 annually)  

 
Parks & Recreation Program Plan expenses are categorized in three general areas: capital projects,              
maintenance/operations and debt/lease service payments. In addition to the facility and equipment            
replacement needs specifically programmed for the outdoor pool and the Community Center, efforts to              
build reserve funds for both facilities continue.  
 
The recommended 2018-2022 plan shows a positive fund balance at the end of each program year,                
however, there are a number of significant items which were not programmed pending further review               
and consideration. The HVAC and mechanical systems, including those which support the indoor pool,              
cause the most concern with regard to maintenance and/or replacement, and have the potential to               
outpace the revenue streams dedicated to Parks and Recreation over the next 5-10 years. Continued               
research and analysis will assist staff in bringing forward appropriate program recommendations. 
 
Recommended Capital Improvement Program 2018-2022 
 
The 5-year CIP is a planning document, designed to be fluid and flexible.  The first year of the plan 
reflects the recommended capital budget for 2018. The remaining four years represent a schedule and 
estimate of future capital needs that may be funded given adequate revenues.  The recommended 
2018-2022 CIP includes the following policies and priorities: 
 

1. Maintaining the Stormwater Utility Fee at $28.00 per ERU per month, to generate approximately 
$2.5 million annually and dedicated primarily to the repayment of existing stormwater debt 
service. 

2. Establishing the property tax mill rate in Rock Creek Drainage District #1 at 8.802 mills, 
generating an anticipated $3,000 in annual revenue. 

3. Establishing the property tax mill rate in Rock Creek Drainage District #2 at 10.5 mills, 
generating an anticipated $85,000 in annual revenue.  

4. Dedicating revenue generated from 7 mills levied in the General Fund ($900,000) to support 
street maintenance activities.  

5. Using the ⅜-cent Parks & Recreation Sales Tax ($850,000 annually) for debt service on the 
outdoor aquatic facility, facility and equipment maintenance at the Sylvester Powell, Jr. 
Community Center, and maintenance of the City’s outdoor park and trail amenities. 

 
 
 
 
 
Other Funds 

7 



 
The General Fund and the various funds that support the 5-Year Capital Improvement Program make 
up the majority of the City’s total annual budget. Highlights from several of the remaining miscellaneous 
funds which the City must maintain separately are detailed below.  
 
Special Alcohol Fund 
 
One-third of the alcohol tax funds allocated to the City from the state must be set aside in a separate 
fund and reserved for the treatment and/or prevention of drug and alcohol abuse.  Revenues in the 
Special Alcohol Fund for 2018 are anticipated to be $65,000. 
 
Historically, the City has contributed the majority of these funds ($30,000 recommended for 2018) to 
the Drug and Alcoholism Council.  The Drug and Alcoholism Council (DAC), a program supported by 
the United Community Services of Johnson County, offers grants each year to various organizations 
within the county that provide alcohol and drug abuse prevention and treatment programs.  The grants 
are structured in such a manner that the awarded organizations have access to funds from multiple 
participating jurisdictions.  The Governing Body of each jurisdiction has the ultimate authority and 
responsibility to determine which organizations receive funds.  
 
Approximately $15,000 is allocated to offset expenses associated with the DARE program in our local 
elementary schools.  The balance of the alcohol tax funds available in 2018 (estimated $15,000) will be 
used used to cover the costs associated with the Johnson County mental health co-responder program.  
 
Solid Waste Utility Fund 
 
The Solid Waste Utility Fund accounts for the fees collected from single-family residential properties 
which are used to support the annual trash, recycling and yard waste contract with Waste 
Management. The 2018 contract is subject to a 3.85% rate increase, for a total estimated annual 
contract amount of $585,000. The current cost sharing percentage (86% resident/14% City) has been 
applied to the 2018 rates for total annual fees per single-family household in 2018 estimated at $168.84 
of the $196.32 total fee. This represents an increase for single-family property owners of $5.76 per 
year. The Solid Waste Utility fees are collected as a part of the annual real estate property tax bill.  
 
The City’s portion of the annual contract is proposed to come from a subsidy/transfer from the General 
Fund in the amount of $110,000. Rebates of the solid waste utility fee, which are part of the 
Franchise/Utility Fee rebate program administered by Neighborhood Services, are budgeted in this fund 
and estimated at $5,000 for 2018. 
 
Mission Convention and Visitors Bureau (MCVB) Fund 
 
The Mission Convention and Visitors Bureau (MCVB) was formed by City ordinance in February of 
2009, and replaced the former Mission Business Development Committee (MBDC) first established in 
August of 2003 to assist in the revitalization and redevelopment of the Mission business district. In 
2016, the Council disbanded the MCVB Committee, but the fund has to be maintained to account for 
transient guest tax revenues (9% hotel/motel tax) received by the City. These funds are used 
exclusively to support the publication and distribution of five issues of the Mission Magazine each year. 
 
The MCVB Fund also currently manages revenues and expenses for the Mission Business Partnership 
and the annual Holiday Adoption program on a “pass-through” basis, and is anticipated to continue to 
do so in the 2018 Budget. 
 
 
Mission Crossing TIF/CID Fund 

8 



 
This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenses associated with the Tax Increment 
Financing District (TIF) and Community Improvement District (CID) associated with the Mission 
Crossing Development. The development is located at Metcalf/Broadmoor/Martway and includes the 
Welstone facility, Culvers, Chik-fil-A, and the small retail strip center.  
 
All distributions from this fund are made in accordance with a development agreement for this project, 
and reimburse the developer for certain approved development costs. The TIF property tax revenues 
are distributed to the City through Johnson County. The TIF sales tax (1% City General) and CID sales 
tax (1% additional) are received from the State.  Staff verifies and performs any necessary calculations 
prior to distributing funds to the developer on a quarterly basis. 
 
Cornerstone Commons CID Fund 
 
This fund is used to account for the revenues and expenses associated with the Community 
Improvement District (CID) associated with the Cornerstone Commons Development.  The 
development is located at Barkley/Johnson Drive and includes the Natural Grocer, several restaurants 
and office space. 
 
All distributions from this fund are made in accordance with a development agreement, and reimburse 
the developer for certain approved development costs.  The CID sales tax (1% additional) is received 
from the State and calculated/verified and distributed by staff.  Payments are made to the developer 
quarterly. 
 
Summary 
 
The City’s Leadership Team is grateful to the Mayor and City Council for their many hours of work and 
focused attention throughout the budget development process. We look forward to adoption and 
implementation of the 2018 Recommended Budget. 
 
 

9 



 

 

 

City of Mission 

 

Proposed 2018 Annual Budget 

 

 

August 2, 2017 



State of Kansas
City

2018

BUDGET SUMMARY
Proposed Budget 2018 Expenditures and Amount of 2017 Ad Valorem Tax establish the maximum limits of the 2018 budget.

Estimated Tax Rate is subject to change depending on the final assessed valuation.

Prior Year Actual for 2016 Current Year Estimate for 2017 Proposed Budget for 2018
Actual Actual Budget Authority Amount of 2017 Estimate

     FUND  Expenditures Tax Rate *  Expenditures Tax Rate * for Expenditures Ad Valorem Tax Tax Rate *
General 10,902,763 18.225 12,528,773 18.019 14,874,345 2,548,552 18.019
Debt Service               
Library               
                
                
                
                
                
                
                
                
                
                
Special Highway 199,062 275,000 290,000
TIF 233,434 344,000 370,000
Special Alcohol 43,038 60,000 101,000
Special Parks & Recreation 55,200 55,200 87,100
Mission Covention/Visitor Bureau 53,080 103,500 60,000
Street Sales Tax 610,870 672,045 722,316
Parks and Recreation Sales Tax 930,794 1,049,000 1,336,100
Stormwater Utility 2,623,945 2,583,865 2,894,693
Solid Waste Utility 567,273 540,500 613,600
Capital Improvement Fund 743,041 1,964,905 1,500,474
Cornerstone Commons 63,772 65,000 75,500
Equipment Replacement Fund  100,000 250,000
        
        
        
        
    
    
    
    
Totals 17,026,272 18.225 20,341,788 18.019 23,175,128 2548552.19 18.019
Less: Transfers 1,181,764 1,590,519 1,473,220
Net Expenditure 15,844,508 18,751,269 21,701,908
Total Tax Levied 2,215,969 2,376,754 xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
Assessed 
Valuation 121,589,183 131,997,269 141,436,310

Outstanding Indebtedness,
  January 1, 2015 2016 2017
G.O. Bonds 36,750,000 32,775,000 29,635,000
Revenue Bonds 0 0 0
Other 0 25,195,785 0
Lease Purchase Principal 251,073 427,506 693,132
     Total 37,001,073 58,398,291 30,328,132
  *Tax rates are expressed in mills

NOTICE OF BUDGET HEARING

Mission
will meet on August 2, 2017 at 6:30 P.M.  at Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson, Mission, KS 66202  for the purpose of hearing and

answering objections of taxpayers relating to the proposed use of all funds and the amount of ad valorem tax.
Detailed budget information is available at City Clerk's Office, Mission City Hall  and will be available at this hearing.

The governing body of 

Brian Scott 
City Official Title: Finance Director 

7/28 1



State of Kansas
Special District

2018

answering objections of taxpayers relating to the proposed use of all funds and the amount of tax to levied.
Detailed budget information is available at City Clerk's Office, Mission City Hall  and will be available at this hearing.

BUDGET SUMMARY
Proposed Budget 2018 Expenditures and Amount of 2017 Ad Valorem Tax establish the maximum limits
of the 2018 budget.  Estimated Tax Rate is subject to change depending on the final assessed valuation.

Prior Year Actual 2016 Current Year Estimate for 2017 Proposed Budget Year for 2018
Actual Actual Budget Authority Estimate

FUND Expenditures Tax Rate* Expenditures Tax Rate* for Expenditures Tax Rate*
General   10.499 3,000 10.442 9,650 4,506 8.802
Debt Service              
               
               
        
        

Totals 0 10.499 3,000 10.442 9,650 4,506 8.802
Less: Transfers 0 3,000 3,000
Net Expenditures 0 0 6,650
Total Tax Levied 4,477 4,457 xxxxxxxxxxxxxx
Assessed Valuation 426,435 426,812 511,942

Outstanding Indebtedness,
  Jan 1, 2015 2016 2017
G.O. Bonds 0 0 0
Revenue Bonds 0 0 0
No-Fund Warrant 0 0 0
Lease Pur. Princ. 0 0 0
     Total 0 0 0
  *Tax rates are expressed in mills.

NOTICE OF BUDGET HEARING

Amount of 2017 
Ad Valorem Tax

The governing body of 
Rock Creek Drainage District #1

Johnson County 

Asst. City Administrator/Finance Dir. 

will meet on August 2, 2017 at 6:30 PM at Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson, Mission, KS 66202 for the purpose of hearing and

Brian Scott

7/28 2



State of Kansas
Special District

2018

answering objections of taxpayers relating to the proposed use of all funds and the amount of tax to levied.
Detailed budget information is available at City Clerk's Office, Mission City Hall  and will be available at this hearing.

BUDGET SUMMARY
Proposed Budget 2018 Expenditures and Amount of 2017 Ad Valorem Tax establish the maximum limits
of the 2018 budget.  Estimated Tax Rate is subject to change depending on the final assessed valuation.

Prior Year Actual 2016 Current Year Estimate for 2017 Proposed Budget Year for 2018
Actual Actual Budget Authority Estimate

FUND Expenditures Tax Rate* Expenditures Tax Rate* for Expenditures Tax Rate*
General 73,670 10.500 85,000 10.500 104,200 87,629 10.500
Debt Service              
               
               
        
        

Totals 73,670 10.500 85,000 10.500 104,200 87,629 10.500
Less: Transfers 50,000 85,000 85,000
Net Expenditures 23,670 0 19,200
Total Tax Levied 84,741 87,380 xxxxxxxxxxxxxx
Assessed Valuation 8,073,921 8,316,972 8,345,602

Outstanding Indebtedness,
  Jan 1, 2015 2016 2017
G.O. Bonds 0 0 0
Revenue Bonds 0 0 0
No-Fund Warrant 0 0 0
Lease Pur. Princ. 0 0 0
     Total 0 0 0
  *Tax rates are expressed in mills.

Asst. City Administrator/Finance Dir. 

will meet on August 2, 2017 at 6:30 PM at Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson, Mission, KS 66202 for the purpose of hearing and

Brian Scott

NOTICE OF BUDGET HEARING

Amount of 2017 
Ad Valorem Tax

The governing body of 
Rock Creek Drainage District #2

Johnson County 

7/28 3



General Fund 

General Fund Summary

Revenue Detail 

General Fund Budget Totals by Expenditure Categories 

General Fund Budget Totals by Department 

Departments

General Overhead

Legislative 

Administration 

Municipal Court 

Neighborhood Services

Public Works 

Community Development 

Parks and Recreation - Mission Family Aquatic Center

Parks and Recreation - Sylvester Powell Jr. Community Center

Police 

Capital Project Funds 

Capital Improvement Fund

Vehicle & Equipmen t Replacement Reserve Fund 

Special Revenue Funds

Storm Drain Fund

Transportation Fund

Street Sales Tax Fund

Parks Sales Tax Fund

Special Highway Fund

Special Alcohol Fund

Special Parks and Recreation Fund 

Solid Waste Fund

Mission Convention and Visitor's Bureau Fund

Mission Crossing TIF/CID Fund

Cornerstone Commons CID Fund

Rock Creek Drainage District #1 Fund

Rock Creek Drainage District #2 Fund 

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget  

 Fund Structure 

7/28 4



General 

Fund 

Capital 

Improv. 

Fund 

Storm Water 

Utility Fund 

Trans. Utility 

Fund 

Street Sales 

Tax Fund 

Parks & 

Recreation 

Sales Tax 

Fund 

Special 

Highway 

Fund 

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE $2,940,834 $335,876 $330,251 $14,176 $160,505 $478,071 $37,107

REVENUES

Property Taxes 1,465,000     -                   

Property Taxes For Streets 900,000        

Payment in Lieu of Taxes

Motor Vehicle Taxes 250,600        

Sales and Use Taxes 3,000,000     575,000                875,000 

Franchise Tax Fees 1,025,000     

Transient Guest Tax

Licenses and Permits 153,300        

Plan Review/Inspection Fees 180,000        

Police Fines 1,055,500     

Charges for Services 172,500        

Bond/Lease Proceeds -                   -                   -                   

Miscellaneous and Other 30,000          60,000          -                   -                   100                                   -                100 

Intergovernmental Revenue 1,406,000     -                   -                   -                           250,100 

Pool Revenues 121,000        

Community Center Revenues 1,997,125     

Special Assessments -                   

Solid Waste Utility Fees

Stormwater Utility Fees 2,535,000     

Transportation Utility Fees -                   

Transfers from Other Funds                  -    1,175,220         88,000                  -                  -                     -                     - 

TOTAL REVENUES 11,756,025   1,235,220     2,623,000     -                   575,100        875,000        250,200        

EXPENDITURES

Personal Services 6,857,330     -                   -                   -                   -                                       -                     - 

Contractual Services 2,895,975     -                   35,000          -                   -                                       -                     - 

Commodities 512,515        -                   -                   -                   -                                       -                     - 

Capital Outlay 154,000        850,000        275,000        -                   200,000                400,000         200,000 

Debt/Lease Service 278,325        650,474        2,309,473     -                   472,316                531,100                     - 

Contingency/Reserves/Trans. -                   -                           330,000 

Transfers to Other Funds 1,110,000     -                   275,220        -                   -                                       -                     - 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 11,808,145   1,500,474     2,894,693     -                   672,316        1,261,100     200,000        

Difference (52,120)         (265,254)       (271,693)       -                   (97,216)         (386,100)       50,200          

ENDING FUND BALANCE 2,888,714     70,622          58,558          14,176          63,289          91,971          87,307          

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

All Funds Summary 

7/28 5



Special 

Alcohol 

Fund 

Special 

Parks & 

Recreation 

Fund 

Solid Waste 

Utility Fund MCVB Fund 

Mission 

Crossing 

TIF/CID 

Fund 

Cornerst. 

Commons 

TIF/CID 

Fund 

RC Drainage 

#1 Fund 

RC Drainage 

#2 Fund All Funds

$45,200 $33,886 -$29,333 $17,416  $     31,321  $       9,495 $3,487 $5,819 $4,414,112

177,000        3,000            85,000          $1,730,000

$900,000

$0

$250,600

182,000        67,000          $4,699,000

$1,025,000

40,000          $40,000

$153,300

$180,000

$1,055,500

$172,500

-                   $0

200               100               10,100          -                   100               $100,700

65,000          65,000          $1,786,100

$121,000

$1,997,125

$0

508,000        $508,000

$2,535,000

$0

                 -                  -       110,000                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - $1,373,220

65,000          65,200          618,100        50,100          359,000        67,000          3,000            85,100          $18,627,045

15,000          -                                       - -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   $6,872,330

-                   -                           588,100 60,000          370,000        67,500          -                   -                   $4,016,575

-                   -                                  500 -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   $513,015

-                   15,000                              - -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   $2,094,000

-                   48,000                              - -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   $4,289,688

$330,000

-                   -                                       - -                   -                   -                   3,000            85,000          $1,473,220

15,000          63,000          588,600        60,000          370,000        67,500          3,000            85,000          $19,588,828

50,000          2,200            29,500          (9,900)           (11,000)         (500)             -                   100               (961,783)         

95,200          36,086          167               7,516            20,321          8,995            3,487            5,919            3,452,329        

7/28 6



Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 % Change

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,511,049$            2,341,443$            2,860,188$            3,598,469$            2,940,834$            

REVENUES

Property Taxes 1,175,675$            1,300,360$            1,396,464$            1,435,000$            1,465,000$            2.09%

Property Taxes For Streets -                               -                               790,654                  890,000                  900,000                  1.12%

Motor Vehicle Taxes 136,642                  159,066                  160,199                  244,200                  250,600                  2.62%

Sales/Use Taxes 3,185,359              3,078,281              3,050,580              3,075,000              3,000,000              -2.44%

Franchise Taxes 1,036,905              1,009,649              1,024,850              970,000                  1,025,000              5.67%

Licenses and Permits 136,024                  143,010                  152,425                  157,500                  153,300                  -2.67%

Review/Plan Inspection Fees 184,662                  247,902                  152,347                  150,000                  180,000                  20.00%

Police Fines 1,131,204              964,828                  974,933                  1,167,300              1,055,500              -9.58%

Service Charges 310,861                  510,404                  250,282                  230,500                  172,500                  -25.16%

Pool Revenues 104,750                  104,545                  122,443                  113,000                  121,000                  7.08%

Community Center Revenue 1,756,951              1,780,144              1,817,753              2,000,125              1,997,125              -0.15%

Intergovernmental Revenue 1,087,600              1,128,918              1,258,349              1,271,000              1,406,000              10.62%

Miscellaneous  56,715                    79,889                    121,845                  92,000                    30,000                    -67.39%

TIF/CID Proceeds 122,748                  42,527                    -                               -                               -                               0.00%

Bond/Lease Proceeds 190,000                  221,260                  367,920                  -                               -                               0.00%

Transfers In 100,000                  25,518                    -                               -                               -                               0.00%

Total 10,716,096$          10,796,303$          11,641,044$          11,795,625$          11,756,025$          -0.34%

EXPENSES 

Personnel Services 6,091,469$            6,088,062$            6,227,084$            6,582,300$            6,857,330$            4.18%

Contractual 2,489,820              2,464,839              2,574,263              2,821,825              2,895,975              2.63%

Commodities 382,685                  398,717                  371,762                  470,450                  512,515                  8.94%

Capital Outlay 600,543                  414,167                  544,381                  782,487                  154,000                  -80.32%

Debt Service/Lease-Purchase 78,104                    79,865                    185,118                  284,000                  278,325                  -2.00%

TIF/CID Payment 104,923                  8,567                      -                               -                               -                               0.00%

Contingency/Reserve 46,257                    178,340                  124,503                  287,198                  -                               -100.00%

Sub Total for Expenses 9,793,802$            9,632,558$            10,027,109$          11,228,260$          10,698,145$          -4.72%

Transfers Out 

Storm Water  Utility -$                             560,000$                -$                             -$                             -$                             0.00%

Capital Improvement Fund -                               -                               790,654                  890,000                  900,000                  1.12%

Debt Service Fund 6,900                      -                               -                               -                               -                               0.00%

Solid Waste Fund 85,000                    85,000                    85,000                    85,000                    110,000                  29.41%

Equipment Replacement Fund -                               -                               -                               250,000                  100,000                  -60.00%

Sub Total for Transfer Out 91,900$                  645,000$                875,654$                1,225,000$            1,110,000$            

Total for Expenses 9,885,702$            10,277,558$          10,902,763$          12,453,260$          11,808,145$          -5.18%

DIFFERENCE 830,394$                518,745$                738,281$                (657,635)$              (52,120)$                

ENDING FUND BALANCE 2,341,443$            2,860,188$            3,598,469$            2,940,834$            2,888,714$            

Fund Balance Adjustments 

Restricted -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             

Committed 79,014                    87,570                    96,436                    115,000                  125,000                  

Assigned -                               -                               287,198                  -                               -                               

Total for Fund Balance Adjust. 79,014$                  87,570$                  383,634$                115,000$                125,000$                

ADJUSTED ENDING FUND BALANCE 2,262,429$            2,772,618$            3,214,835$            2,825,834$            2,763,714$            

Percentage of Fund Balance to Revenues 21% 26% 28% 24% 24%

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

General Fund Summary 

7/28 7



Actual Actual Actual Estimate Proposed 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Property Tax

Real Estate Tax (General Property Tax) 1,162,067      1,296,911      1,370,292      1,425,000      1,450,000      

Delinquent Real Estate Tax 13,609           3,449             26,172           10,000           15,000           

Property Tax 1,175,675      1,300,360      1,396,464      1,435,000      1,465,000      

Property  Tax for Streets (7 Mills) -                     -                     790,654         890,000         900,000         

Motor Vehicle Tax

Motor Vehicle Tax 134,758         156,487         157,488         240,000         247,000         

Recreational Vehicle Tax 371                315                476                700                600                

Heavy Truck Tax 504                1,687             1,746             3,000             2,500             

Rental Excise Tax -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Delinquent Personal Property Tax 1,010             577                489                500                500                

Motor Vehicle Tax 136,642         159,066         160,199         244,200         250,600         

City Sales/Use Tax

City Sales Tax 2,182,135      2,163,877      2,228,893      2,275,000      2,300,000      

City Use Tax 1,003,224      914,404         821,687         800,000         700,000         

City Sales/Use Tax 3,185,359      3,078,281      3,050,580      3,075,000      3,000,000      

Franchise Tax

KCP&L 602,486         611,095         684,428         625,000         650,000         

KS Gas Service 252,212         212,333         158,251         175,000         175,000         

SBC Telephone 56,577           29,359           22,793           26,000           25,000           

Sure West Telephone -                     6,872             4,732             6,000             5,000             

AT&T (SBC) Video 27,939           60,392           63,000           45,000           65,000           

Sure West Video 23,090           20,722           19,181           15,000           20,000           

Time Warner Video 74,601           68,835           69,898           63,000           70,000           

Google (New) -                     41                  2,567             15,000           15,000           

Franchise Tax 1,036,905      1,009,649      1,024,850      970,000         1,025,000      

Licenses and Permits

Occupational License 87,865           90,191           91,154           91,000           91,000           

Public Works Permits 4,041             4,041             2,240             4,000             4,000             

Rental License 34,722           29,792           46,696           40,000           40,000           

Rental Inspection Fee 671                1,000             -                     1,000             3,000             

Tree Service License Fee 220                260                180                -                     200                

Sign Permit Fee 2,523             5,368             3,736             3,500             5,000             

Land Use Fee 577                3,523             1,449             10,000           2,000             

Liquor License 2,500             6,650             5,075             5,000             5,000             

Operator/Solicitor/Massage License 2,905             2,185             1,495             3,000             3,000             

Animal License -                     -                     400                -                     100                

Licenses and Permits           136,024           143,010           152,425           157,500           153,300 

Plan Review/Inspection Fees

Building Permit Fees 119,956         164,142         93,582           100,000         115,000         

Plan Review Fees 64,706           83,760           58,765           50,000           65,000           

Jo Co Plan Review/Inspection Fees 184,662         247,902         152,347         150,000         180,000         

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

Revenue Detail 

7/28 8



Actual Actual Actual Estimate Proposed 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Intergovernmental Revenue 

County Sales/Use Tax 

County Sales Tax 585,242         592,431         656,019         625,000         630,000         

County Use Tax 109,140         114,161         133,266         125,000         127,000         

County Sales/Use Tax 694,382         706,592         789,285         750,000         757,000         

County Sales/Use Tax - Jail

County Jail Sales Tax 145,663         147,226         163,305         160,000         162,000         

County Jail Use Tax 27,285           28,540           33,316           33,000           31,000           

County Sales/Use Tax - Jail 172,948         175,766         196,621         193,000         193,000         

County Sales/Use Tax - Pub Safety

County Public Safety Sales Tax 145,663         147,224         163,303         160,000         162,000         

County Public Safety Use Tax 27,283           28,520           33,296           33,000           31,000           

County Sales/Use Tax - Pub Safety 172,946         175,744         196,599         193,000         193,000         

County Sales/Use Tax - Court House

County Public Safety Sales Tax -                     -                     -                     60,000           162,000         

County Public Safety Use Tax -                     -                     -                     10,000           31,000           

County Sales/Use Tax - Pub Safety -                     -                     -                     70,000           193,000         

Alcohol Tax 45,517           57,129           60,484           65,000           65,000           

Other Intergovernmental Revenue 1,807             13,687           15,360           -                     5,000             

Total for Intergovernmental 1,087,600      1,128,918      1,258,349      1,271,000      1,406,000      

Police Fines

Fines 1,076,738      909,388         917,173         1,100,000      1,000,000      

Parking Fines 4,810             5,006             8,164             5,100             5,000             

Alarm Fines 600                425                200                500                500                

Police Dept. Lab Fees 400                1,210             800                500                500                

Fuel Assessment Fees 36,670           33,504           31,736           44,700           35,000           

ADA Accessibility Fees 9,276             8,556             8,170             10,000           9,000             

Motion Fees 1,710             6,440             7,790             6,000             5,000             

Expungent Fees 1,000             300                900                500                500                

Court Appointed Attorney -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Police Fines        1,131,204 964,828         974,933         1,167,300      1,055,500      

Service Charges 

Court Costs 138,489         126,898         120,265         150,000         130,000         

On Line Convenience 4,587             4,017             3,377             4,500             4,000             

Charge for Services 46,500           -                     50,000           -                     -                     

Reimbursed Expenses 109,219         369,345         65,316           60,000           25,000           

NEAC Administrative Cost Reimbursement 8,743             8,946             9,198             12,000           9,000             

Nuisance Abatement Fees 3,323             1,199             2,126             4,000             4,500             

Weed Abatement Fees -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Service Charges           310,861 510,404                   250,282           230,500 172,500         

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

Revenue Detail 

7/28 9



Actual Actual Actual Estimate Proposed 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Miscellaneous and Other 

Interest/Investments 1,521             1,937             3,596             7,000             5,000             

Sale of Fixed Assets 42,576           46,000           20,720           70,000           5,000             

Farmer's Market -                     -                     2,458             -                     -                     

Contributions -                     -                     52,090           -                     -                     

Miscellaneous 12,467           31,952           42,981           15,000           20,000           

Miscellaneous and Other             56,715 79,889           121,845         92,000           30,000           

Pool Revenues 

Outdoor Pool Membership             35,146 33,563           40,758           35,000           40,000           

Outdoor Pool Front Desk             40,506 38,375           42,896           40,000           45,000           

Outdoor Pool Concessions             22,288 20,472           20,924           22,000           22,000           

Outdoor Pool Program Fees                 320 4,575             7,194             5,000             5,000             

Outdoor Pool Rental                 435 2,220             4,751             5,000             3,000             

Super Pool Pass Revenue               6,055 5,340             5,920             6,000             6,000             

Pool Revenue           104,750 104,545         122,443         113,000         121,000         

Community Center Revenue 

Community Center Membership 837,079         781,576         776,697         816,000         800,000         

Community Center Rental 194,746         212,183         266,601         350,000         285,000         

Community Center Program 328,282         287,694         300,449         325,000         335,000         

Community Center Daily Fees 136,089         212,089         226,288         225,000         250,000         

Community Center Misc. 17,500           10,507           6,156             5,000             8,000             

Community Center Resale of Items 926                954                661                1,000             1,000             

Community Center Sponsorship/Ads -                     -                     -                     -                     10,000           

Morrow Trust Fund (940)               -                     -                     -                     

Mission Summer Program 189,203         222,956         214,338         225,000         255,000         

Mission Square PILOTS 53,125           53,125           26,563           53,125           53,125           

Community Center Revenues        1,756,951 1,780,144      1,817,753      2,000,125      1,997,125      

TIF/CID Proceeds 

Mission Crossing TIF - Sales Tax 51,756           -                     -                     -                     -                     

Mission Crossing CID - Sales Tax 70,662           (5,649)            -                     -                     -                     

Cornerstone Commons - CID Sales Tax -                     48,167           -                     -                     -                     

TDD Sales Tax 329                9                    -                     -                     -                     

CID/TIF Proceeds 122,748         42,527           -                     -                     -                     

Bond/Lease Proceeds 

2014 Lease Purchase of Police Vehicles 190,000         -                     -                     -                     -                     

2015 Lease Purchase of Street Sweeper -                     221,260         -                     -                     -                     

2016 Lease Purchase of Police Vehicles -                     -                     367,920         -                     -                     

Bond/Lease Proceeds 190,000         221,260         367,920         -                     -                     

Transfers From Other Funds 

Parks Sales Tax 100,000         25,518           -                     -                     -                     

Transfers From Other Funds           100,000 25,518           -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenue      10,716,096      10,796,303      11,641,044      11,795,625      11,756,025 

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

Revenue Detail 

7/28 10



Personnel 

Contractual 

Services Commodities Capital Outlay Debt Service Total 

General Overhead -$                      282,500$         44,750$           27,000$           76,000             430,250$         

Legislative 56,622$           112,750$         1,200$             -$                      170,572$         

Administration 811,400$         32,050$           865$                 -$                      844,315$         

Municipal Court 310,600$         21,575$           9,250$             34,000$           375,425$         

Neighborhood Services -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Public Works 846,700$         894,300$         163,850$         67,500$           57,325$           2,029,675$     

Community Development 271,200$         302,250$         4,400$             5,000$             582,850$         

Parks and Recreation 

Mission Aquatic Center 165,000$         61,700$           41,500$           -$                      268,200$         

Sylvester Powell Jr. Community Center 1,447,000$     751,250$         104,000$         7,000$             2,309,250$     

Police 2,948,808$     437,600$         142,700$         13,500$           145,000$         3,687,608$     

TOTAL 6,857,330$     2,895,975$     512,515$         154,000$         278,325$         10,698,145$   

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget

Summary of Costs by Type of Expenditure For Proposed 2018

7/28 11



Actual 2015 Actual 2016 Budget 2017 Proposed 2018

% Change      

2017 to 2018

General Overhead  

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     0.00%

Contractual Services 210,676          252,450          286,500          282,500          -1.40%

Commodities 48,353             45,454             43,750             44,750             2.29%

Capital Outlay 10,495             56,015             175,000          27,000             -84.57%

Debt Service 79,865             78,475             77,000             76,000             -1.30%

TOTAL 349,389$        432,394$        582,250$        430,250$        

Legislative 

Personnel Services 51,011$          51,226$          56,650$          56,622$          -0.05%

Contractual Services 81,492             98,142             112,650          112,750          0.09%

Commodities 99                    253                  700                  1,200               71.43%

Capital Outlay 1,490               -                        231,487          -                        0.00%

TOTAL 134,092$        149,622$        401,487$        170,572$        

Administration 

Personnel Services 706,585$        771,238$        802,050$        811,400$        1.17%

Contractual Services 26,464             35,546             32,400             32,050             -1.08%

Commodities 135                  339                  450                  865                  92.22%

Capital Outlay 3,137               4,958               -                        -                        0.00%

TOTAL 736,321$        812,082$        834,900$        844,315$        

Municipal Court 

Personnel Services 294,281$        314,041$        291,000$        310,600$        6.74%

Contractual Services 55,566             13,664             21,575             21,575             0.00%

Commodities 4,910               7,076               8,000               9,250               15.63%

Capital Outlay 180                  2,107               -                        34,000             0.00%

TOTAL 354,937$        336,888$        320,575$        375,425$        

Neighborhood Services 

Personnel Services 107,102$        114,722$        -$                     -$                     0.00%

Contractual Services 91,730             86,830             -                        -                        0.00%

Commodities 1,327               1,082               -                        -                        0.00%

Capital Outlay -                        23,004             -                        -                        0.00%

TOTAL 200,160$        225,638$        -$                     -$                     

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

Summary of Costs by Department 

7/28 12



Actual 2015 Actual 2016 Budget 2017 Proposed 2018

% Change      

2017 to 2018

Public Works 

Personnel Services 740,426$        697,672$        839,400$        846,700$        0.87%

Contractual Services 758,777          758,303          880,300          894,300          1.59%

Commodities 123,710          76,626             153,350          163,850          6.85%

Capital Outlay 255,654          78,050             315,000          67,500             -78.57%

Debt Service -                        57,325             57,500             57,325             -0.30%

TOTAL 1,878,567$     1,667,976$     2,245,550$     2,029,675$     

Community Development 

Personnel Services 175,643$        114,289$        265,200$        271,200$        2.26%

Contractual Services 271,353          140,047          304,600          302,250          -0.77%

Commodities 408                  752                  4,500               4,400               -2.22%

Capital Outlay -                        1,077               1,000               5,000               400.00%

TOTAL 447,404$        256,166$        575,300$        582,850$        

Mission Aquatic Center 

Personnel Services 101,945$        116,234$        166,500$        165,000$        -0.90%

Contractual Services 47,461             63,952             59,700             61,700             3.35%

Commodities 30,989             36,856             39,500             41,500             5.06%

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                        -                        0.00%

TOTAL 180,395$        217,042$        265,700$        268,200$        

Community Center

Personnel Services 1,333,977$     1,349,990$     1,397,900$     1,447,000$     3.51%

Contractual Services 655,826          772,372          700,250          751,250          7.28%

Commodities 98,171             98,198             93,000             104,000          11.83%

Capital Outlay -                        3,353               -                        7,000               0.00%

TOTAL 2,087,973$     2,223,912$     2,191,150$     2,309,250$     

Police 

Personnel Services 2,577,092$     2,697,671$     2,763,600$     2,948,808$     6.70%

Contractual Services 265,494          352,956          423,850          437,600          3.24%

Commodities 90,615             105,126          127,200          142,700          12.19%

Capital Outlay 143,211          375,817          60,000             13,500             -77.50%

Debt Service -                        49,318             149,500          145,000          -3.01%

TOTAL 3,076,414$     3,580,888$     3,524,150$     3,687,608$     

TOTAL COSTS FOR ALL DEPTS. 9,445,651$     9,902,607$     10,941,062$   10,698,145$   -2.22%

City of Mission 2018 Annual Budget 

Summary of Costs by Department

7/28 13



Fund: General 

Department: General Overhead 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 210,676          252,450          286,500          282,500          

Commodities 48,353             45,454             43,750            44,750             

Capital Outlay 10,495             56,015             175,000          27,000             

Debt Service 79,865             78,475             77,000            76,000             

Total 349,389$        432,394$        582,250$        430,250$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Function and obligations which cannot be readily charged to a particular department are 
grouped within General Overhead.  Included in General Overhead are funds for liability 
insurance, utilities for City Hall and the Police Department, office supplies, postage, building and 
grounds maintenance, professional services, legal services, and other city-wide expenses. 

• Efficiently monitor utility costs
• Control losses through an effective safety and loss control program
• Maintain City Hall and Police Department facilities

7/28 14



Fund: General 

Department: General Overhead 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

-$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Total Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

01-07-201-01 Electricity - City Hall 39,451$         40,541$         42,406$          $         43,000  $         42,000 

01-07-201-03 Natural Gas - City Hall 8,498             4,067             3,222                           6,000               6,000 

01-07-201-05 Water and Sewer - City Hall (948)               2,071             2,383                           4,000               3,000 

01-07-201-08 Telephone 5,959             -                     13,282                         6,000               6,000 

01-07-203-03 Tuition Reimbursement 7,604             7,113             4,000                           7,000               7,000 

01-07-204-01 Advertising 60                  1,443             419                              2,000               2,000 

01-07-205-01 Insurance - City Hall and Equip 45,195           47,554           55,452                       50,000             55,000 

01-07-206-03 Periodicals/Books 450                1,575             719                              1,500               1,000 

01-07-206-04 Legal Publications 2,232             711                1,524                           2,000               2,000 

01-07-206-05 Professional Services 13,634           19                  336                            30,000             10,000 

01-07-207-02 Finance/Audit 20,695           21,295           21,915                       23,000             25,000 

01-07-207-07 Pre-employment/Hiring Expense 296                1,266             35                                1,500               1,000 

01-07-207-07 Bank Fees 3,250             281                -                                   1,000               1,000 

01-07-210-02 Janitorial Services -                     -                     2,022                         18,000               6,000 

01-07-212-06 Service Contracts 22,601           24,256           28,081                       25,000             25,000 

01-07-213-02 Rentals and Leases 8,484             8,545             8,156                         10,000               9,000 

01-07-214-02 Property Taxes 11,529           6,463             1,535                         14,500             18,000 

01-07-214-05 Computer Services 46,401           37,429           53,189                       35,000             50,000 

01-07-214-06 Codification 2,308             3,142             2,755                           3,500               3,500 

01-07-214-13 Website Development 14,199           -                     5,900                           3,500               5,000 

01-07-215-03 Contingency 4,500             2,904             5,120                                  -               5,000 

Total Contractual Services 256,398$       210,676$       252,450$       286,500$       282,500$       

Commodities

01-07-301-01 Office Supplies 4,956$           9,542$           6,783$            $           5,000  $           5,000 

01-07-301-04 Postage 11,365           12,287           11,650                       12,000             12,000 

01-07-304-04 Misc Supplies 62                  173                63                                  250                 250 

01-07-305-01 Janitorial Supplies 2,210             1,292             1,920                           1,500               2,500 

01-07-305-02 Maintenance/Repairs City Hall             10,129             25,059             25,037             25,000             25,000 

Total Commodities 28,722$         48,353$         45,454$         43,750$         44,750$         

Capital Outlay

01-07-402-03 Computer Systems/Software 1,428$           5,829$           3,925$            $       175,000  $         20,000 

01-07-404-06 Equipment Replacement 61,510           4,666             -                                          -               7,000 

01-07-499-01 Land -                     -                     52,090                                -                      - 

Total Capital Outlay 62,938$         10,495$         56,015$         175,000$       27,000$         

Debt Service 

2013A Principal and Interest 78,104           79,865           78,475                       77,000             76,000 

Total Debt Service 78,104           79,865           78,475           77,000           76,000           

 General Overhead Total 426,161$       349,389$       432,394$       582,250$       430,250$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 15



Fund: General 

Department: Legislative

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 51,011$          51,226$          56,650$          56,622$          

Contractual Services 81,492             98,142             112,650          112,750          

Commodities 99                    253                  700                  1,200               

Capital Outlay 1,490               -                        231,487          -                        

Total 134,092$        149,621$        401,487$        170,572$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The City Council serves as the legislative and policy-making body of the City.  The City Council is 
composed of eight councilmembers - two from each ward elected for four year terms - and a 
mayor who is elected at large for a four year term.  

• Function as the City's legislative body
• Develop ordinances, resolutions, and policies for the betterment of the community
• Authorize budget allocations to provide quality services within available resources
• Empower appointed officers and employees to provide and improve municipal government
• Inform constituents and encourage citizens participation
• Establish short-term and long-range plans and objectives 

7/28 16



Fund: General 

Department: Legislative

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-09-101-03 Wages and Salaries 48,507$          $         46,597  $         47,432  $         52,200  $         52,200 

01-09-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits                      -                      -                      -                      -                      - 

01-09-102-02 Social Security 3,695                           3,652               3,494               3,700               3,672 

01-09-102-03 KPERS 348                                     -                      -                      -                      - 

01-09-102-04 Employment Security 49                                  114                 114                 100                 100 

01-09-102-05 Workers Compensation 400                647                185                650                650                

Total Personnel Services 52,999$         51,011$         51,226$         56,650$         56,622$         

01-09-201-07 Telephone 1,310$            $               99  $               81  $                  -  $                  - 

01-09-202-06 Commercial Travel 1,593                           1,036               1,186               3,000               3,000 

01-09-202-07 Lodging and Meals 4,725                           2,087               3,576               4,000               5,000 

01-09-202-08 Parking and Tolls 209                                  17                   59                 200                 200 

01-09-202-09 Mileage 240                                314                 140                 350                 350 

01-09-203-02 Registration 2,740                           1,060               2,580               3,500               3,500 

01-09-205-01 Insurance - Public  Official 3,500                           7,000               6,646               7,000               7,000 

01-09-206-01 Professional Organizations 390                                  50                   50                 100                 100 

01-09-206-02 Municipal Organizations 6,997                           7,335               8,563               8,000               9,000 

01-09-206-03 Periodicals/Books 248                                275                 113                 500                 500 

01-09-208-01 Annual Celebrations 16,162                       13,892               7,351             10,000             10,000 

01-09-208-02 Election Expense 11,715                                -             12,937             15,000             15,000 

01-09-208-03 Holiday Parties 9,908                           5,179               5,725               7,500               7,500 

01-09-208-04 Public Relations 10,071                         6,075               7,644               6,000               6,000 

01-09-208-05 Meeting Expenses 887                                890                 225               1,000               4,000 

01-09-208-07 Economic Development 1,925                                  -                      -                      -                      - 

01-09-208-08 Human Service Fund (UCS) 6,395                           6,395               7,000               7,000               7,600 

01-09-208-09 Chamber of Commerce 5,756                           5,926               5,165               6,500               6,500 

01-09-208-12 MARC 2,024                           2,306               2,343               2,500               2,500 

01-09-208-15 JOCO Utility Assistance -                                   1,555                      -                      -                      - 

01-09-208-16 Farmer's Market -                                          -               6,758             10,000             10,000 

01-09-214-07 Newsletter 20,000                       20,000             20,000             20,000                      - 

01-09-215-03 Miscellaneous -                     -                     -                     500                -                     

Sustainability Expenses -                     -                     -                     -                     5,000             

Parks, Recreation, and Tree Board -                     -                     -                     -                     5,000             

Planning Commission -                     -                     -                     -                     5,000             

Total Contractual Services 106,795$       81,492$         98,142$         112,650$       112,750$       

Commodities

01-09-301-01 Office Supplies -$                   99$                180$               $              500  $              500 

01-09-301-04 Printing 240                -                     73                  200                200                

Clothing -                     -                     -                     -                     500                

Total Commodities 240$              99$                253$              700$              1,200$           

Capital Outlay

01-09-407-05 Contingency 195$              1,490$           -$                   231,487$       -$                   

Total Capital Outlay 195$              1,490$           -$                   231,487$       -$                   

Legislative Total 160,229$       134,092$       149,622$       401,487$       170,572$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 17



Fund: General 

Department: Administration 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 706,585$        771,238$        802,050$        811,400$        

Contractual Services 26,464             35,546             32,400            32,050             

Commodities 135                  339                  450                  865                  

Capital Outlay 3,137               4,958               -                       -                        

Total 736,321$        812,081$        834,900$        844,315$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Administration Department provides for the finance, accounting, human resources, payroll, 
record-keeping and public information functions of the City.

The City Administrator provides the Governing Body with information and implements 
municipal policies, overseeing the day to day operations of the City. 

The Assistant City Administrator/Finance Director is responsible for administering the financial 
functions of the City including accounting, debt service, and auditing.  This position also 
oversees the Human Resources and the risk management functions of the City as well as the 
Community Development Department.

The City Clerk administers and maintains the municipal records of the City.  The City Clerk also 
coordinates the City newsletter and oversees the municipal court function. 

The Public Information Officer coordinates various community outreach initiatives, oversees the 

• Promote organizational excellence
• Provide solid financial control 
• Monitor, supervise, direct, control, and promote organizational activities
• Coordinate and maintain records of business license
• Respond to citizen inquiries and requests for services 
• Administer classification and compensation system and employee benefits in accordance 

7/28 18



Fund: General 

Department: Administration 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-10-101-01 Full Time Salaries 406,253$       487,520$       550,695$       563,000$       575,000$       

01-10-101-02 Part Time Salaries 51,092           38,067           42,872           43,850           44,000           

01-10-101-04 Overtime Salaries -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-10-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 49,994           84,253           63,688           88,200           78,000           

01-10-102-02 Social Security 34,596           39,086           46,751           42,400           46,000           

01-10-102-03 KPERS 34,886           48,293           55,844           51,500           55,000           

01-10-102-04 Employment Security 486                1,255             1,557             600                1,400             

01-10-102-05 Workers Compensation 1,500             1,941             555                1,500             2,000             

01-10-102-06 City Pension 5,949             6,170             9,277             11,000           10,000           

Total Personnel Services 584,757$       706,585$       771,238$       802,050$       811,400$       

01-10-201-08 Telephone 862$               $           1,236  $              965 1,500$           1,500$           

01-10-202-02 Commercial Travel 1,721                           1,433                      - 1,500             1,500             
01-10-202-03 Lodging/Meals 6,189                           3,737                 762 4,000               4,000               
01-10-202-04 Parking/Tolls 392                                198                 167 200                200                

01-10-202-05 Mileage 861                              1,259               1,192 1,500             1,500             

01-10-203-01 Registration/Tuition 4,857                           4,240               4,079 5,500             5,500             

01-10-204-01 Advertising 296                                     -                      - -                     -                     

01-10-205-02 Notary Bonds                      -                   75                 125 100                100                

01-10-206-01 Professional Organizations 3,385                           4,060               3,437 4,500             5,500             

01-10-206-02 Municipal Organizations                      -                 500                 149 500                500                

01-10-206-03 Periodicals/Books/Publications 764                                390                 569 500                2,000             

01-10-206-05 Professional Services 450                                324             13,217 850                1,000             

01-10-206-06 Attorney Services (2,321)                                 -                 455 -                     -                     

01-10-207-07 Pre-Employment Testing -                                          -                 159 -                     -                     

01-10-208-04 Public Relations 4,246                           3,855               3,973 4,000             4,000             

01-10-208-05 Meeting Expenses 1,268                           1,692               1,452 1,500             2,500             

01-10-208-13 Employee Recognition 561                                357                   38 500                1,500             

01-10-212-06 Service Contracts -                                          -                 223 -                     -                     

01-10-214-03 Printing 279                                208                 169 250                250                

01-10-215-03 Miscellaneous 21                                  160                 787 500                500                

01-10-215-04 Sustainability Expenses                (162)               2,740               3,628 5,000             -                     

Total Contractual Services 23,668$         26,464$         35,546$         32,400$         32,050$         

Commodities

01-10-301-01 Office Supplies 473$               $                  -  $              270 250$              250$              

01-10-301-04 Postage                      -                  (30) -                     15                  

01-10-301-05 Printed Forms 65                  135                99                  200                100                

Clothing -                                          -                      -                      -                 500 

Total Commodities 538$              135$              339$              450$              865$              

Capital Outlay

01-10-401-01 Office Machines 430$              -$                   838$               $                  -  $                  - 

01-10-401-02 Office Furnishings -                     3,174             3,507                                  -                      - 

01-10-402-03 Computer Systems 1,558             40                  613                                     -                      - 

01-10-407-05 Contingency -                     (77)                 -                                          -                      - 

Total Capital Outlay 1,988$           3,137$           4,958$           -$                   -$                   

 Administration Total 610,951$       736,321$       812,082$       834,900$       844,315$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 19



Fund: General 

Department: Municipal Court 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 294,281$        314,041$        291,000$        310,600$        

Contractual Services 55,566             13,664             21,575            21,575             

Commodities 4,910               7,076               8,000               9,250               

Capital Outlay 180                  2,107               -                       34,000             

Total 354,937$        336,888$        320,575$        375,425$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 4.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Part-Time 7.00 7.00 2.00 2.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 11.00 10.00 5.00 5.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Municipal Court Department provides a venue for the administration of justice in matters 
concerning violations of City ordinances and penal statutes of the State of Kansas.

The Municipal Court is composed of three court clerks.  The municipal judge is appointed by the 
City Council and serves on a part-time basis.  The City Attorney serves as the prosecutor. 

Until 2016, this department also included part-bailiffs.  This function was transferred to the 
Police Department in 2016.

• Issues warrants for ordinances violations
• Keep current and up-to-date on entering warrants into systems
• Maintain a diversionary program for DUI cases
• Maintain a computerized record of municipal violations and the Court's disposition of cases. 

7/28 20



Fund: General 

Department: Municipal Court 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-11-101-01 Full Time Salaries 123,694$       126,624$       132,071$        $       134,000  $       143,000 

01-11-101-02 Part Time Salaries 16,521           6,962             8,561                                  -                      - 

01-11-101-03 Judge Salaries 30,000           30,000           30,000                       30,000             30,000 

01-11-101-04 Overtime Salaries 8,268             8,213             7,544                           8,000               8,000 

01-11-101-06 City Attorney - Court 44,555           40,365           58,670                       45,000             50,000 

01-11-101-09 City Attorney Appeals - Court 20,685           7,020             13,560                         8,000               8,000 

01-11-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 30,552           37,754           31,534                       32,500             33,000 

01-11-102-02 Social Security 14,914           16,094           12,994                       15,000             18,000 

01-11-102-03 KPERS 12,598           13,419           14,636                       12,500             14,000 

01-11-102-04 Employment Security 170                504                424                                300                 600 

01-11-102-05 Workers Compensation 2,500             3,883             1,109                           3,000               3,000 

01-11-102-06 City Pension 2,787             3,074             2,938                           2,700               3,000 

01-11-102-07 Admin Charge/Pension Plan 556                368                -                     -                     -                     

Total Personal Services 307,799$       294,281$       314,041$       291,000$       310,600$       

01-11-201-08 Telephone 3,382$           5,649$           2,160$           3,500$           3,500$           

01-11-202-03 Lodging/Meals -                     184                452                800                800                

01-11-202-04 Parking/Tolls -                     -                     5                    25                  25                  

01-11-202-05 Mileage -                     273                132                500                500                

01-11-203-01 Registration/Tuition 25                  320                305                600                500                

01-11-204-01 Advertising - Classified 288                -                     -                     100                100                

01-11-205-01 Insurance 600                700                655                700                700                

01-11-205-02 Notary Bonds -                     150                -                     100                100                

01-11-206-05 Professional Services -                     6,000             895                4,800             5,000             

01-11-206-06 City Attorney Services -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-11-207-07 Pre-employment Expenses 140                -                     52                  150                150                

01-11-208-13 Employee Recognition 623                200                -                     300                200                

01-11-209-01 Appeals -                     -                     480                -                     -                     

01-11-209-02 Computer Maintenance 6,100             2,453             6,350             5,000             5,000             

01-11-209-03 Defense  2,914             3,203             2,178                           5,000               5,000 

01-11-214-08 Prisoner Care 28,000           36,435           -                     -                     -                     

Total Contractual Services 42,072$         55,566$         13,664$         21,575$         21,575$         

Commodities

01-11-301-01 Office Supplies 3,014$           2,147$           2,574$           3,500$           3,500$           

01-11-301-04 Postage 123                -                     -                     

01-11-301-05 Printed Forms 1,072             2,763             4,279             4,500             5,000             

01-11-302-01 Clothing 82                  -                     223                -                     750                

Total Commodities 4,291$           4,910$           7,076$           8,000$           9,250$           

Capital Outlay

01-11-401-01 Office Machines -$                   -$                   1,122$            $                  -  $                  - 

01-11-402-03 Computer Systems -                     180                985                                     -  $         34,000 

01-11-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Capital Outlay -$                   180$              2,107$           -$                   34,000$         

Municipal Court Total 354,162$       354,937$       336,888$       320,575$       375,425$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 21



Fund: General 

Department: Neighborhood Services 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 107,102$        114,722$        -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 91,730             86,830             -                       -                        

Commodities 1,327               1,082               -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        23,004             -                       -                        

Total 200,159$        225,638$        -$                     -$                     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 2.00 2.00 2.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 2.00 2.00 2.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Neighborhood Services Department conducts enforcement of the City's property 
maintenance codes and rental dwelling licensure program.  This department also provides a 
number of neighborhood support services including grant assistance for property upkeep, 
neighborhood clean-up programs, and assistance for senior citizens with property tax and utility 
bills.  This department also oversees the City's solid waste management program. 

This department was merged with the Community Development Department in 2017.

• Proactively promote quality housing 
• Proactively provide support to residential neighborhoods
• Proactively address property maintenance code issues 
• Administer the rental dwelling licensing and inspection program
• Create and promote City sponsored assistance programs

7/28 22



Fund: General 

Department: Neighborhood Services (Merged with Community Development 2017)

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-15-101-01 Full Time Salaries 86,545$         74,053$         81,410$         -$                   -$                   

01-15-101-02 Part Time Salaries 9,794             -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-101-04 Overtime Salaries 327                54                  2,049             -                     -                     

01-15-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 11,632           14,408           12,944           -                     -                     

01-15-102-02 Social Security 7,489             5,629             6,354             -                     -                     

01-15-102-03 KPERS 8,598             7,199             8,839             -                     -                     

01-15-102-04 Employment Security 98                  180                208                -                     -                     

01-15-102-05 Workers Compensation 2,500             4,530             1,294             -                     -                     

01-15-102-06 City Pension 1,236             1,049             1,624             -                     -                     

Total Personnel Services 128,218$       107,102$       114,722$       -$                   -$                   

01-15-201-08 Telephone  $                  -  $              160  $                  - -                     -                     

01-15-202-02 Commercial Travel 526                394                286                -                     -                     

01-15-202-03 Lodging / Meals 786                1,041             1,554             -                     -                     

01-15-202-04 Parking / Tolls 20                  82                  96                  -                     -                     

01-15-202-05 Mileage 468                236                456                -                     -                     

01-15-203-01 Registration 1,002             1,411             1,972             -                     -                     

01-15-204-01 Advertising -                     148                -                     -                     -                     

01-15-205-01 Insurance 249                100                234                -                     -                     

01-15-206-01 Professional Organizations 705                215                439                -                     -                     

01-15-206-03 Periodicals/Books 189                -                     49                  -                     -                     

01-15-206-04 Legal Publications 716                -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-206-05 Professional Services 16,394           15,760           288                -                     -                     

01-15-206-06 Legal Services -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-207-04 Housing Imp - Loan Program -                     23                  -                     -                     -                     

01-15-207-07 Pre-Employment Testing 234                -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-208-04 Public Relations 46                  30                  1,991             -                     -                     

01-15-208-13 Employee Recognition 128                50                  -                     -                     -                     

01-15-212-07 Vehicle Maintenance -                     147                125                -                     -                     

01-15-214-03 Printing 551                345                258                -                     -                     

01-15-215-03 Miscellaneous 584                631                367                -                     -                     

01-15-216-01 Nuisance Abatement 395                3,666             5,644             -                     -                     

01-15-216-02 Weed Abatement                      - -                     (366)               -                     -                     

01-15-216-04 Mission Possible Program 32,990           24,830           31,531           -                     -                     

01-15-216-05 How-To Clinics 501                -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-216-06 Neighborhood Grant Program 3,675             3,859             4,136             -                     -                     

01-15-216-07 Business Improvement Grant 25,265           22,750           24,414           -                     -                     

01-15-216-09 Citizen Rebate Program 11,551           9,829             13,080           -                     -                     

01-15-216-11 Jo Co Utility Assistance 826                6,025             -                     -                     -                     

01-15-216-12 Storm Water BMP 106                -                     275                -                     -                     

Total Contractual Services 97,906$         91,730$         86,830$         -$                   -$                   

 

Commodities

01-15-301-01 Office Supplies 110$              48$                71$                -$                   -$                   

01-15-301-02 Clothing -                     513                492                -                     -                     

01-15-301-05 Printed Forms - - -                     -                     -                     

01-15-304-04 Miscellaneous -                     -                     49                  -                     -                     

01-15-306-01 Gas/Oil 860                767                470                -                     -                     

Total Commodities 970$              1,327$           1,082$           -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 23



Fund: General 

Department: Neighborhood Services (Merged with Community Development 2017)

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Capital Outlay

01-15-401-01 Office Machines -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

01-15-401-02 Office Furnishings -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-402-03 Computer Systems -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-15-403-06 Other Equipment/Software -                     -                     1,095             -                     -                     

01-15-407-01 Vehicle -                     -                     21,909           -                     -                     

01-15-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   23,004$         -$                   -$                   

Neighborhood Services Total 227,094$       200,160$       225,638$       -$                   -$                   

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 24



Fund: General 

Department: Public Works 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 740,426$        697,672$        839,400$        846,700$        

Contractual Services 758,775          758,303          880,300          894,300          

Commodities 123,710          76,262             153,350          163,850          

Capital Outlay 255,654          78,050             315,000          67,500             

Debt Service (Lease) -                        57,325             57,500            57,325             

Total 1,878,565$     1,667,612$     2,245,550$    2,029,675$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 11.00 11.00 12.00 12.00

Part-Time 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Seasonal 0.63 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 12.63 12.00 12.00 13.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Public Works Department is responsible - either directly or through third-party contracts -
the maintenance and care of the City's infrastructure and facilities.  

In particular, the department provides general street maintenance services including patching 
and repair, snow removal, and sweeping.  The department also oversees the City's annual 
programs asphalt overlay and slurry seal to pro-long the life of the pavement.  The Department 
also oversees contracts for design and construction of major street and storm water repair 
projects.

The Public Works Department is responsible for the mowing and care of the City's parks and 
playgrounds, and maintenance of the City's facilities. 

• Maintain city streets, curbs and gutters, storm water sewers, sidewalks and trails
• Maintain city parks, playgrounds, shelters, and other facilities
• Maintain yards and landscape areas 
• Maintain public facilities
• Maintain city vehicles and equipment

7/28 25



Fund: General 

Department: Public Works 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-20-101-01 Full Time Salaries 434,544$       478,717$       471,702$        $       532,000  $       525,500 

01-20-101-02 Part Time Salaries 21,672           23,050           12,829                         6,000             27,000 

01-20-101-04 Overtime Salaries 21,979           9,928             9,999                         25,000             21,000 

01-20-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 78,906           95,426           99,177                     147,500           136,500 

01-20-102-02 Social Security 35,684           39,492           35,766                       42,000             44,500 

01-20-102-03 KPERS 47,180           50,952           50,512                       51,500             54,500 

01-20-102-04 Employment Security 464                1,221             1,166                             600               1,200 

01-20-102-05 Workers Compensation 24,000           31,060           8,875                         26,000             28,000 

01-20-102-06 City Pension 9,883             10,581           7,645             8,800             8,500             

Total Personnel Services 674,312$       740,426$       697,672$       839,400$       846,700$       

01-20-201-02 Electricity - Maint. Facility 15,951$         15,237$         15,400$          $         20,000  $         20,000 

01-20-201-04 Natural Gas - Maint. Facility 12,494           5,335             6,479                           9,500               9,500 

01-20-201-06 Water and Sewer - Maint. Facility 5,427             5,801             7,388                           6,500               7,500 

01-20-201-07 Refuse - Maint. Facility 1,097             1,279             1,600                           5,000               3,000 

01-20-201-08 Telephone  6,407             5,740             3,533                           6,500               6,500 

01-20-201-10 Traffic Signals - KCPL Lease 312,112         330,301         348,807                   360,000           378,000 
01-20-201-11 Traffic Signal - OP Interlocal 5,978             5,918             6,112                           8,000               8,000 

01-20-201-12 Traffic Signals Maint. 24,157           19,585           19,425                       25,000             25,000 

01-20-201-13 Street Lights - KCPL Power 81,578           55,146           49,357                       60,000             60,000 

01-20-201-15 Street Lights - Streetscape & Parks 4,189             1,536             1,105                           2,500               2,500 

01-20-202-02 Travel/Commercial 724                781                546                              1,000               1,500 

01-20-202-03 Lodging / Meals 590                1,950             2,210                           2,000               2,000 

01-20-202-04 Parking / Tolls -                     61                  64                                  100                 100 

01-20-202-05 Mileage -                     363                72                                1,000               1,000 

01-20-203-01 Registration / Tuition 1,779             2,514             3,907                           3,500               3,500 

01-20-204-01 Advertising 656                -                     2,996                             500               1,000 

01-20-205-01 Insurance - Building & Equipment 38,500           40,000           37,793                       40,000             40,000 

01-20-206-01 Professional Organizations 1,682             1,734             1,467                           2,500               2,000 

01-20-206-04 Legal Advertising 53                  15                  -                                     100                 100 

01-20-206-05 Professional Services -                     -                     -                                   2,500               2,500 

01-20-207-03 Engineering/Architect Services 34,362           49,341           13,146                       45,000             45,000 

01-20-207-06 Inspections 1,100             3,295             200                              4,000               7,000 

01-20-207-07 Pre-Employment Drug Testing 888                864                1,634                           1,000               1,000 

01-20-208-04 Public Relations 658                549                559                              1,000               1,000 

01-20-208-05 Meeting Expense 238                92                  93                                  500                 500 

01-20-208-13 Employee Recognition 983                1,146             983                              1,500               1,500 

01-20-210-01 Building Repairs /  Maintenance 5,461             10,061           7,593                         10,000             10,000 

01-20-210-02 Janitorial Services -                     -                     1,372             5,000             5,000             

01-20-210-03 Trees / Shrubs Maintenance 3,030             1,471             2,412                         20,000               5,000 

01-20-210-04 Tree Board 2,981             1,467             1,097                           5,000                      - 

01-20-212-03 Storm Warning Sirens 1,449             827                728                              1,500               1,500 

01-20-212-05 Equipment Repairs 548                1,231             1,044             8,000             8,000             

01-20-212-06 Service Contracts 110,314         157,247         184,268         175,000         180,000         

01-20-212-07 Vehicle Maintenance 11,240           21,964           9,765             20,000           20,000           

01-20-212-08 Holiday Decorations 792                11,288           13,857           15,000           20,000           

01-20-212-09 Johnson Drive Maintenance -                     573                5,904             5,000             7,500             

01-20-213-02 Rental Equipment 1,635             2,931             3,838                           4,000               5,000 

01-20-213-03 Laundry / Uniforms 1,264             1,123             1,250                           2,000               2,000 

01-20-214-02 Vehicle Registration 86                  3                    40                                  100                 100 

01-20-214-03 Printing -                     -                     14                                  500                 500 

01-20-214-04 Computer Services -                     -                     248                -                     -                     

01-20-215-03 Contingency -                     10                  -                     -                     -                     

Total Contractual Services 690,451$       758,777$       758,303$       880,300$       894,300$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 26



Fund: General 

Department: Public Works 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Commodities

01-20-301-01 Office Supplies 766$              769$              735$              1,000$           1,000$           

01-20-301-04 Postage 99                  -                     62                  100                100                

01-20-302-01 Uniforms/Clothing 401                175                1,943             1,000             1,500             

01-20-303-04 Safety Supplies 7,717             3,290             3,411             4,000             4,000             

01-20-304-01 Shop Chemicals 1,736             163                1,537             3,000             3,000             

01-20-304-02 Fertilizer / Weeds 537                411                983                1,000             1,000             

01-20-304-04 Misc. Supplies 27                  30                  80                  250                250                

01-20-305-01 Janitor Supplies 717                1,364             254                1,500             1,500             

01-20-305-02 Bld Repair Parts / Plumbing 985                85                  969                3,500             3,500             

01-20-305-03 Tools - Building / Land Maint 4,368             3,030             3,552             4,000             4,000             

01-20-305-04 Landscape 1,098             739                432                2,500             2,500             

01-20-306-01 Gas / Oil 29,761           19,499           15,524           25,000           25,000           

01-20-306-02 Vehicle / Equip Repair Parts 14,875           18,969           23,748           25,000           25,000           

01-20-306-03 Tools - Vehicle / Equip Maint 2,365             5,940             1,631             5,000             5,000             

01-20-307-01 Asphalt Patch -                     916                -                     -                     -                     

01-20-307-02 Rock 638                278                684                1,000             1,000             

01-20-307-03 Sand / Salt 33,973           54,542           1,127             55,000           55,000           

01-20-307-05 Signs 2,745             5,504             4,588             5,000             5,000             

01-20-307-06 Traffic Paint 931                70                  59                  500                500                

01-20-307-07 Park Maintenance 7,693             7,938             15,305           15,000           25,000           

Total Commodities 111,433$       123,710$       76,626$         153,350$       163,850$       

Capital Outlay

01-20-401-01 Office Machines -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

01-20-401-02 Office Furnishings                      -                 479                      - -                     -                     

01-20-402-03 Computer Systems -                     2,147             901                -                     -                     

01-20-403-03 Public Works Vehicles 140,099         253,028         64,379           115,000         -                     

01-20-403-06 Public Works - Other Equipment 12,054           -                     12,770           200,000         67,500           

01-20-404-04 Radios -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-20-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Capital Outlay 152,153$       255,654$       78,050$         315,000$       67,500$         

Debt Service 
2015 Lease Purchase  $                  -  $                  -  $         57,325  $         57,500  $         57,325 

Total for Debt Service  $                  -  $                  -  $         57,325  $         57,500  $         57,325 

Public Works Total 1,628,349$    1,878,567$    1,667,976$    2,245,550$    2,029,675$    

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 27



Fund: General 

Department: Community Development 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 175,643$        114,289$        265,200$        271,200$        

Contractual Services 271,353          140,047          304,600          302,250          

Commodities 408                  752                  4,500               4,400               

Capital Outlay -                        1,077               1,000               5,000               

Total 447,404$        256,165$        575,300$        582,850$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 3.00 2.00 2.00 4.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 3.00 2.00 2.00 4.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Community Development Department works to ensure orderly development and 
redevelopment through the administration of the comprehensive planning, zoning, and 
subdivision review process.  Department staff provides support and assistance to the Planning 
Commission and Board of Zoning Appeals.

The Community Development Department enforces the City's building construction codes 
through a systematic plan review and inspection program.  These services were provided 
through a contractual relationship with Johnson County until the end of 2016.  The City is 
utilizing a not-for-profit organization for these services in 2017 while it explores a more long-
term approach to providing these services.

In 2016 the Community Development Director position was eliminated, and oversight of the 
Department was placed with the Assistant City Administrator/Finance Director.   In 2017 the 
Neighborhood Services Department was merged with the Community Development 

• Effectively manage city redevelopment projects
• Effectively inform the public regarding development opportunities in Mission 
• Effectively manage the development review process
• Maintain efficient permitting and building inspection program

7/28 28



Fund: General 

Department: Community Development (Includes Neighborhood Services for 2017)

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-23-101-01 Full Time Salaries 199,174$       130,259$       93,655$         191,500$       209,500$       

01-23-101-02 Part Time Salaries -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-23-101-04 Overtime Salaries 493                148                91                  800                500                

01-23-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 22,797           17,279           2,027             32,200           14,000           

01-23-102-02 Social Security 14,688           10,610           6,863             14,900           16,000           

01-23-102-03 KPERS 19,399           11,149           9,295             17,500           20,000           

01-23-102-04 Employment Security 191                323                224                200                500                

01-23-102-05 Workers Compensation 1,500             2,783             555                5,000             6,500             

01-23-102-06 City Pension 4,191             3,091             1,580             3,100             4,200             

Total Personnel Services 262,433$       175,643$       114,289$       265,200$       271,200$       

01-23-201-08 Telephone 289$              348$              283$              500$              500$              

01-23-202-02 Commercial Travel -                     -                     698                1,500             1,500             

01-23-202-03 Lodging / Meals 637                88                  890                3,050             3,050             

01-23-202-04 Parking / Tolls 14                  18                  68                  200                200                

01-23-202-05 Mileage 1,171             15                  172                1,650             1,650             

01-23-203-01 Registration /Tuition 1,220             344                1,750             3,300             3,500             

01-23-203-02 Planning Commission 2,071             864                655                4,000             -                     

01-23-205-01 Insurance -                     -                     -                     250                250                

01-23-205-01 Notary -                     -                     100                -                     -                     

01-23-206-01 Professional Organizations 2,353             973                1,138             2,300             2,300             

01-23-206-03 Periodicals/Books/Publications 216                -                     -                     50                  50                  

01-23-206-04 Advertising 56                  83                  120                500                500                

01-23-206-04 Legal Publications -                     -                     -                     1,100             1,100             

01-23-206-05 Professional Services 9,536             20,570           11,373           5,500             5,500             

01-23-206-06 Land Use Attorney Services 29,610           13,972           26,704           30,000           30,000           

01-23-206-08 Jo Co Plan/Inspection Fees 118,923         174,874         78,228           85,000           85,000           

01-23-207-03 Eng/Arch/Planning Services 22,203           58,537           17,316           51,000           51,000           

01-23-207-04 Housing Imp - Loan Program -                     -                     -                     100                -                     

01-23-207-07 Pre-Employment Testing -                     -                     52                  200                -                     

01-23-208-04 Public Relations 106                179                60                  4,250             6,000             

01-23-208-05 Meeting Expense 235                70                  242                250                250                

01-23-208-13 Employee Recognition 150                68                  -                     400                400                

01-23-212-07 Vehicle Maintenance -                     -                     -                     500                500                

01-23-214-03 Printing -                     349                198                1,500             1,500             

01-23-215-03 Miscellaneous -                     -                     -                     1,000             1,000             
01-23-216-01 Nuisance Abatement -                     -                     -                     6,000             6,000             
01-23-216-04 Mission Possible Program -                     -                     -                     35,000           35,000           
01-23-216-06 Neighborhood Grant Program -                     -                     -                     5,000             5,000             
01-23-216-07 Business Improvement Grant -                     -                     -                     35,000           35,000           
01-23-216-09 Citizen Rebate Program -                     -                     -                     20,000           20,000           
01-23-216-11 Jo County Utility Assistance Program -                     -                     -                     5,000             5,000             

01-23-216-12 Storm Water BMP -                     -                     -                     500                500                

Total Contractual Services 188,791$       271,353$       140,047$       304,600$       302,250$       

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 29



Fund: General 
Department: Community Development (Includes Neighborhood Services )

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Commodities

01-23-301-01 Office Supplies 766$              408$              320$              800$              800$              

01-23-301-03 Clothing -                     -                     500                500                

01-23-301-02 City Maps -                     -                     70                  200                100                

01-23-301-04 Postage -                     -                     -                     500                500                

01-23-301-05 Printed Forms -                     -                     363                1,000             1,000             

01-23-306-01 Gas/Oil -                     -                     -                                   1,500               1,500 

Total Commodities 766$              408$              752$              4,500$           4,400$           

Capital Outlay

01-23-401-01 Office Machines -$                   -$                   90$                -$                   -$                   

01-23-401-02 Office Furnishings -                     -                     987                1,000             5,000             

01-23-402-03 Computer Systems -                     -                     

01-23-403-06 Other Equipment/Software -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

01-23-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   1,077$           1,000$           5,000$           

Community Development Total 451,990$       447,404$       256,166$       575,300$       582,850$       

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 30



Fund: General 

Department: Parks and Recreation 

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 1,333,977$     1,349,990$     1,564,400$    1,612,000$     

Contractual Services 655,826          772,372          759,950          812,950          

Commodities 98,171             98,198             132,500          145,500          

Capital Outlay -                        3,353               -                       7,000               

Total 2,087,974$     2,223,913$     2,456,850$    2,577,450$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 13.00 14.00 13.00 13.00

Part-Time (1040 hr avg.) 54.62 54.62 54.62 54.62

Seasonal (650 hr avg. ) 15.84 15.84 15.84 15.84

Total 83.46 84.46 83.46 83.46

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Parks and Recreation Department initiates, develops, and administers recreational 
programs for Mission residents and the general public.  The Community Center facility houses 
the majority of recreational class, programs, and special events.  Programs and services are also 
offered at the outdoor Mission Family Aquatic Center and other outdoor park facilities through 
the City.  The Parks and Recreation budget is structured into two divisions - Mission Family 
Aquatic Center and Community Center.

• Provide programs, classes, and special events at parks and recreation facilities, and through 
community partnerships

• Coordinate on-going needs assessment for parks and recreation programs and facilities
• Staff and operate parks and recreational facilities with a customer service focus, emphasizing 

the effective use of City resources
• Offer age specific programs for youth, seniors and other demographics
• Maintain and operate Mission Aquatic Facility  

7/28 31



Fund: General 

Department: Parks and Recreation - Mission Family Aquatic Center

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-25-101-01 Full Time Salaries 17,583$         16,371$         13,674$          $         20,400  $         21,500 

01-25-101-02 Part Time Salaries 104,535         65,412           88,051                     125,000           115,000 

01-25-101-04 Overtime Salaries 3,338             2,104             1,242                           2,000               2,000 

01-25-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 2,157             2,482             1,598                           3,100               7,700 

01-25-102-02 Social Security 9,761             6,695             8,149                           8,500             10,000 

01-25-102-03 KPERS 2,056             1,811             1,111                           2,000               2,000 

01-25-102-04 Employment Security 132                217                266                                100                 300 

01-25-102-05 Workers Compensation 7,000             6,471             1,849                           5,000               6,000 

01-25-102-06 City Pension 356                382                293                400                500                

Total Personnel Services 146,920$       101,945$       116,234$       166,500$       165,000$       

01-25-201-01 Electricity 13,458$         16,005$         14,113$          $         17,000  $         16,000 

01-25-201-03 Gas -                     -                     -                                   1,000                      - 

01-25-201-05 Water and Sewer 10,616           3,969             19,976                       11,000             12,000 

01-25-201-08 Telephone 803                495                -                                     900                 900 

01-25-203-03 Training/Registration 1,411             525                1,018                           1,500               1,500 

01-25-204-01 Marketing/Public Relations 1,890             615                23                                3,000               2,000 

01-25-205-01 Insurance - Building & Equipment 5,000             5,000             4,679                           5,000               5,000 

01-25-207-07 Pre-Employment Drug Testing 735                -                     105                                800                 800 

01-25-208-13 Employee Recognition 157                266                362                                500                 500 

01-25-210-01 Maint Bldg. / Land 330                932                3,519                           2,000               2,500 

01-25-212-05 Other Equipment / Repairs 40                  236                3,724                           1,000               2,500 

01-25-213-02 Rental Agreements 775                775                1,101                           1,500               1,500 

01-25-214-05 Computer Services -                     -                     669                                     -                      - 

01-25-214-12 Mission Swim Team 7,500             7,513             7,500                           7,500               7,500 

01-25-215-02 Contract Serv/Maint Agreements 7,656                         11,129               7,164               7,000               9,000 
01-25-215-05 Consultant/Instructors               2,566                      -                      -                      -                      - 

Total Contractual Services 52,937$         47,461$         63,952$         59,700$         61,700$         

Commodities

01-25-301-01 Office Supplies 73$                548$              5$                   $              250  $              250 

01-25-301-02 Clothing 1,076             1,396             1,829                           2,500               2,000 

01-25-301-03 Food Service 18,692           16,036           16,930                       20,000             20,000 

01-25-301-04 Printing -                     575                -                                          -                      - 

01-25-301-08 Equipment and Supplies 11,202           3,804             5,719                           7,500               7,500 

01-25-303-04 Safety Supplies -                     545                568                                500               1,000 

01-25-304-02 Cleaning Chemicals 226                266                6                                    750                 750 

01-25-304-05 Pool Chemicals 10,733                         6,982             10,900               7,500               9,000 

01-25-305-05 Repair / Parts Maintenance 286                837                899                                500               1,000 

Total Commodities 42,287$         30,989$         36,856$         39,500$         41,500$         

Capital Outlay

01-25-407-01 Equipment Replacement -$                   -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  - 

01-25-407-02 Filter Elements -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-25-407-03 Pool Imp/ Repair/Design -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-25-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

Total Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

242,144$       180,395$       217,042$       265,700$       268,200$       Parks & Recreation - Mission Family Aquatic Center 

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 32



Fund: General 

Department: Parks and Recreation - Sylvester Powell Jr. Community Center 

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-27-101-01 Full Time Salaries 561,415$       529,386$       561,654$        $       567,000  $       600,000 

01-27-101-02 Part Time Salaries 465,266         478,553         490,390                   510,000           520,000 

01-27-101-04 Overtime Salaries 25,416           24,754           21,855                       25,000             20,000 

01-27-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 114,192         119,155         111,953                   121,000           125,500 

01-27-102-02 Social Security 78,988           81,325           80,640                       86,700             88,000 

01-27-102-03 KPERS 60,512           59,681           61,273                       54,700             61,000 

01-27-102-04 Employment Security 1,025             2,547             2,628                           1,100               3,000 

01-27-102-05 Workers Compensation 15,415           25,949           7,396                         20,000             17,500 

01-27-102-06 City Pension 13,128           12,627           12,201           12,400           12,000           

Total Personnel Services 1,335,357$    1,333,977$    1,349,990$    1,397,900$    1,447,000$    

01-27-201-01 Electric 168,120$       154,863$       199,696$        $       165,000  $       205,000 

01-27-201-03 Gas 53,070           29,732           28,337                       40,000             35,000 

01-27-201-05 Water and Sewer 32,673           34,429           40,702                       35,000             35,000 

01-27-201-08 Telephone 4,704             3,101             2,533                           5,000               5,000 

01-27-202-02 Travel / Commercial 2,453             501                -                                   1,500               2,500 

01-27-202-03 Lodging / Meals 1,499             2,460             1,881                           2,500               3,500 

01-27-202-04 Parking / Tolls 149                104                54                                  150                 150 

01-27-202-05 Mileage Staff 655                391                718                              1,500               1,500 

01-27-203-01 Registration / Tuition 469                2,713             1,184                           2,000               3,500 

01-27-203-02 Staff Training 2,583             2,515             1,813                           5,000               3,000 

01-27-203-03 Tuition Reimbursement -                     89                  -                                          -                      - 

01-27-204-01 Marketing / Public Relations 18,174           21,708           21,485                       30,000             30,000 

01-27-205-01 Insurance - Building & Equipment 37,000           33,000           34,621                       37,000             37,000 

01-27-205-02 Notary Bonds -                     -                     75                                  100                 100 
01-27-206-01 Professional Organizations 1,996             2,015             2,070                           3,000               2,500 

01-27-207-07 Pre-Employment Drug Testing 2,170             2,182             3,382                           2,000               3,500 

01-27-208-13 Employee Recognition 1,561             1,727             1,448                           2,000               3,000 

01-27-210-01 Maint - Bldg. / Land 82,927           47,478           93,318                       40,000             30,000 

01-27-212-05 Equipment Maintenance 12,611           7,679             13,572                         8,000             10,000 

01-27-212-07 Vehicle Maintenance -                     -                     -                                     500                 500 

01-27-213-02 Rental Equipment 8,474             7,154             16,265                         7,500             10,000 

01-27-214-03 Printing 13,415           11,276           11,515           13,000           13,000           

01-27-214-05 Computer Services / Software 11,662           10,774           12,144                       10,000             13,000 

01-27-214-10 Registration Materials -                     (13)                 -                                          -                      - 

01-27-214-11 Special Programs 11,242           8,068             12,861                       10,000             20,000 

01-27-214-12 Swim Programs 515                90                  314                                500                 500 

01-27-214-13 Mission Summer Program 25,050           28,243           28,520                       23,000             29,000 

01-27-215-01 Seasonal Programs 13,711           12,584           12,317                       14,000             20,000 
01-27-215-02 Contract Services / Maint. Agreements 45,276           57,886           57,728                       60,000             60,000 

01-27-215-03 Miscellaneous -                     126                -                                          -                      - 

01-27-215-04 Field Trips -                     31                  -                                          -                      - 

01-27-215-05 Contract Instructors 181,966         152,511         151,310                   160,000           150,000 

01-27-215-06 Transportation Services 6,863             9,993             11,468                       10,000             13,000 

01-27-215-10 Mission Square Parking Lot Lease 9,828             10,417           11,043                       12,000             12,000 

Total Contractual Services 750,816$       655,826$       772,372$       700,250$       751,250$       

Fund: General 

Department: Parks and Recreation - Sylvester Powell Jr. Community Center 

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 33



 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Commodities

01-27-301-01 Office Supplies 3,513$           3,132$           2,728$            $           3,500  $           3,500 

01-27-301-02 Clothing 928                4,202             3,175                           4,000               5,500 

01-27-301-03 Food Services / Concession Supplies 8,724             7,822             7,186                           8,500               7,500 

01-27-301-04 Postage 4,786             1,828             5,794                           5,500               5,500 

01-27-301-05 Printing 899                435                785                              1,500               1,500 

01-27-301-08 Equipment & Supplies 34,297           37,334           41,024                       35,000             40,000 

01-27-301-09 Special Event Supplies 5,283             6,286             4,965                           6,500               6,500 

01-27-303-04 Safety Supplies 297                835                597                                     -                      - 

01-27-304-02 Cleaning Supplies 14,999           20,653           20,278                       15,000             20,500 

01-27-304-05 Pool Chemicals 5,683             8,401             6,070                           6,500               6,500 

01-27-305-05 Bldg. Maint / Repair / Parts 7,176             6,551             4,976                           6,000               6,000 

01-27-306-01 Gas/Oil 599                692                588                              1,000               1,000 

01-27-306-02 Vehicle/Equip Repair Parts -                     -                     30                                       -                      - 

Total Commodities 87,184$         98,171$         98,198$         93,000$         104,000$       

Capital Outlay

01-27-402-03 Computer Systems -$                   -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  - 

01-27-407-01 Eqpt and Eqpt  Replacement 5,706             -                     3,353                                  -               7,000 

01-27-407-03 Construction/Repair -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-27-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

Total Capital Outlay 5,706$           -$                   3,353$           -$                   7,000$           

2,179,062$    2,087,973$    2,223,912$    2,191,150$    2,309,250$    Parks & Recreation -  Community Center Total

7/28 34



Fund: General 

Department: Police

Department Description

Objectives

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 3,076,414$     2,697,671$     2,763,600$    2,948,808$     

Contractual Services 265,494          352,956          423,850          437,600          

Commodities 90,615             105,126          127,200          142,700          

Capital Outlay 143,211          375,817          60,000            13,500             

Debt Service (Lease) -                        49,318             149,500          145,000          

Total 3,575,734$     3,580,888$     3,524,150$    3,687,608$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 31.00 31.00 31.00 31.00

Part-Time (1040 avg.) 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00

Seasonal (650 avg.) 0.94 0.94 0.00 0.00

Total 33.94 33.94 32.00 32.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Police Department is composed of three divisions: Administration, Patrol and 
Investigations.  The Administrative division is responsible for developing and implementing 
departmental policy, providing management controls over daily department administrative and 
line functions, and are the focal point for interaction with other City departments and the 
community.  The Patrol Division is comprised of police officers that respond to calls for service, 
identifying criminal activities, apprehending offenders, making Municipal and District Court 
appearances, enforcing traffic laws, patrolling neighborhoods, and attending community 
events/meetings.  The Investigations Division unit gathers and processes evidence for solving 
crimes and prosecuting criminal suspects.  They investigate crime scenes and support 
department crime prevention efforts by spotting trends in criminal activity and hosting 
community education classes.  

The Vision of the Mission Police Department is "to provide the highest quality law enforcement 
and public safety through honesty, integrity and professionalism in cooperation wish the 
community.   By following this vision, we will create a safe and, peaceful and inviting 

• Efficiently monitor utility costs
• Control losses through an effective safety and loss control program
• Maintain City Hall and Police Department facilities

7/28 35



Fund: General 

Department: Police

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Personnel Services

01-30-101-01 Full Time Salaries 1,641,143$    1,602,050$    1,718,556$     $    1,740,000  $    1,858,000 

01-30-101-02 Part Time Salaries 11,251           11,794           109                            15,000               6,000 

01-30-101-04 Overtime Salaries 75,900           88,113           85,095                     110,000             90,000 

Overtime Salaries (Court) -                     -                     -                                          -             10,000 

01-30-102-01 Health/Welfare Benefits 348,659         334,476         387,423                   406,500           413,000 

01-30-102-02 Social Security 125,350         129,458         129,150                   135,200           150,000 

01-30-102-03 KPERS 8,439             8,833             9,592                           8,200               9,308 

01-30-102-04 Employment Security 1,634             4,012             4,212                           1,700               4,000 

01-30-102-05 Workers Compensation 24,000           33,901           11,094                       30,000             35,000 

01-30-102-06 City Pension 1,492             1,254             (8)                                 2,000               2,000 

01-30-102-07 KP&F Retirement 360,337         364,766         350,047                   315,000           371,000 

01-30-102-08 NEACC Pension 472                (1,564)            2,398             -                     500                

Total Personnel Services 2,598,675$    2,577,092$    2,697,671$     $    2,763,600  $    2,948,808 

01-30-201-08 Telephone 18,094           18,271$         16,533$          $         22,000  $         22,000 

01-30-202-02 Commercial Travel 3,679             665                2,211                           6,000               5,000 

01-30-202-03 Lodging / Meals 11,343           12,875           12,068                       20,000             20,000 

01-30-202-04 Parking / Tolls / Misc. 268                108                39                                  400                 400 

01-30-202-05 Mileage Reimbursement                      - -                     -                                     200                 200 

01-30-203-01 Registration / Tuition / Other 7,314             12,681           11,089                       18,000             22,000 

01-30-203-02 Firing Range 7,562             9,031             10,824                       10,000             10,000 

01-30-203-04 Training / Junior College 1,005             2,262             4,656                           4,000               4,000 

01-30-204-01 Advertising - Classified -                     -                     419                                500                 500 

01-30-205-01 Insurance 1,650             500                2,838                           1,750                      - 

01-30-205-02 Notary Bonds 150                100                100                                400                 400 

01-30-206-01 Professional Organizations 2,715             2,731             3,071                           3,500               3,500 

01-30-206-03 Periodicals/Books/Publications 1,225             925                521                              2,500               1,500 

01-30-206-05 Professional Services 690                141                -                                   2,000               2,000 

01-30-207-07 Pre-employment Exams 4,043             2,364             2,289                           5,000               5,000 

01-30-208-04 Public Relations 8,132             7,163             12,470                       11,500             12,000 

01-30-208-13 Employee Recognition 2,747             1,420             2,143                           3,000               5,000 

01-30-210-02 Janitorial Services -                     -                     3,827                                  -             12,000 

01-30-212-04 Communications / Radios -                     1,388             -                                   5,000               5,000 

01-30-212-05 Other Equip/Radar/Repair/Misc. 4,636             7,477             14,571                       10,000             10,000 

01-30-212-06 Service Contracts/Rentals             27,805             25,796             64,259             75,000             75,000 

01-30-212-07 Vehicle Maintenance             35,505             45,643             55,289             36,000             40,000 

01-30-213-02 Equipment Rental                   70                      -                      -                 750                 750 

01-30-213-03 Uniform Dry Cleaning 7,638             7,216             8,069                         10,000             10,000 

01-30-214-02 Vehicle Registration 300                743                363                                350                 350 

01-30-214-05 Computer Services 53,410           25,190           24,440                       40,000             50,000 

01-30-214-06 Animal Control / Care 73,653           74,034           77,623                       82,000             82,000 

01-30-214-08 Prisoner Care -                     -                     20,730                       50,000             35,000 

01-30-214-09 Crime Prevention 630                750                -                                   3,000               1,000 

01-30-214-10 DARE Supplies 650                2,763             973                                     -                      - 

01-30-214-12 Bullet Proof Vest Grant 4,480             2,920             -                                          -                      - 

01-30-215-03 Miscellaneous 541                338                1,542                           1,000               3,000 

Total Contractual Services 279,986$       265,494$       352,956$        $       423,850  $       437,600 

Contractual Services

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 36



Fund: General 

Department: Police

 Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

Account Number  Account Title 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Commodities

01-30-301-01 Office Supplies 4,381$           3,742$           3,989$            $           4,500  $           4,500 

01-30-301-02 Copy Machine Supplies -                     -                     -                                     200                 200 

01-30-301-04 Postage 1,136             374                1,246                           2,000               2,000 

01-30-301-05 Printed Forms 2,286             1,369             1,137                           4,000               4,000 

01-30-301-06 Other Operating Supplies 1,452             1,477             4,844                           5,500               5,500 

01-30-302-01 Uniforms/Leather/Protect Vests 13,466           9,235             30,066                       23,000             28,000 

01-30-302-02 Equipment - General 8,356             13,162           12,367                       15,000             23,000 

01-30-303-01 Investigation Supplies 1,952             1,576             1,603                           5,000               5,000 

01-30-303-02 Property/Evidence Supplies 1,535             1,474             2,579                           3,500               3,500 
01-30-303-03 Booking Facility Supplies 394                107                261                              1,000               1,000 

Janitorial Supplies -                     -                     -                                          -               2,500 

01-30-306-01 Fuel 64,401           52,413           42,097                       55,000             55,000 

01-30-306-02 Fleet Tire Replacement 6,895             5,686             4,940                           7,500               7,500 

01-30-306-03 Emergency Management -                     -                     -                                   1,000               1,000 

Total Commodities 106,254$       90,615$         105,126$        $       127,200  $       142,700 

Capital Outlay

01-30-401-01 Office Machines -$                   -$                   -$                    $                  -  $           7,000 

01-30-402-02 Office Furnishings -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-402-03 Computer Systems 15,780           11,401           27,238                                -                      - 

01-30-403-01 Police Vehicles 339,956         123,485         345,421                     55,500                      - 

01-30-404-03 Handguns / Shotguns 853                8,325             3,158                           1,000               3,000 

01-30-404-04 Radios -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-404-05 Radar 3,443             -                     -                                   3,500               3,500 

01-30-404-06 Other Equipment 14,969           -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-404-07 Video Recorder 2,562             -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-404-08 Motorcycles -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-404-09 Bicycle Patrol -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

01-30-407-05 Contingency -                     -                     -                                          -                      - 

Total Capital Outlay 377,563$       143,211$       375,817$        $         60,000  $         13,500 

Debt Service 

2014 Lease-Purchase                      -                      -             49,318             49,500             49,000 

2016 Lease-Purchase                      -                      -                      -           100,000             96,000 

Total Debt Service  $                  -  $                  -  $         49,318  $       149,500  $       145,000 

Police Total 3,362,479$    3,076,414$    3,580,888$    3,524,150$    3,687,608$    

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

7/28 37



Fund Group: Capital 

Fund: Capital Improvement 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 1,518               -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay 1,724,621       89,353             1,310,000       850,000          

Debt Service 652,107          653,688          654,905          650,474          

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 2,378,246$     743,041$        1,964,905$    1,500,474$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Capital Improvement Fund accounts for resources used to construct and maintain 
infrastructure city-wide in accordance with a 5-Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP), or to 
cover debt service obligations for capital infrastructure projects that have been recently 
completed.

Funds come from intergovernmental revenues, proceeds from bond issues, and transfers from 
other funds. The City Council suspended collection of the Transportation Utility Fee with the 
2016 Budget.  In lieu of this, the general property tax mill levy was increased by 7 mills for the 
purpose of supporting the street and road construction efforts of the City.  The additional 
property tax collected is transferred from the General Fund to Capital Improvement fund.

Capital Outlay for 2016 included:
• $350,000 for the City's Street Maintenance Program 
• $134,000 for the design of Foxridge reconstruction from 56th Street to 51st Street

Capital Outlay for 2018 includes: 
• $650,000 has been identified as the City's match for the reconstruction of Foxridge from 56th 

Street to 51st Street 

Debt Service in this fund includes:
• 2007A - Principal & Interest - Relocation of Mission Pet Mart to allow for the Johnson Drive 

improvements
• 2013C - Principal & Interest - Reconstruction of Johnson Drive (street portion) from Lamar

Avenue to Nall Avenue

7/28 38



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

4,790,756$    196,848$        $         36,846  $       418,402  $       335,876 

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenue 893,044$       1,640,049$     $                  -  $       650,000  $                  - 

Bond Proceeds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Mission Pet Mart Loan 64,360$         64,360$          $         64,360  $         64,360  $         60,000 
Sale of Fixed Assets -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 
West Gateway Plan Review Fees 12,673           6,757                           1,840                      -                      - 
Interest 231                42                                  120                 500                      - 

Miscellaneous Revenue 41,599           -                                 11,513 -                     -                     

Total for Miscellaneous and Other  $       118,863  $         71,158  $         77,833  $         64,860  $         60,000 

Transfers From Other Funds
General Fund -$                   -$                    $       790,654  $       890,000  $       900,000 
Storm Water Fund -                     324,038                   256,110           277,519           275,220 

Street Sales Tax Fund -                     183,000                              -                      -                      - 

Total for Transfers from Other Funds  $                  -  $       507,038  $    1,046,764  $    1,167,519  $    1,175,220 

TOTAL REVENUES  $    1,011,907  $    2,218,245  $    1,124,597  $    1,882,379  $    1,235,220 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services 97,816$         1,518$            $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay 4,795,632$    1,724,621$     $         89,353  $    1,310,000  $       850,000 

Debt Service
2007A - Principal & Interest 97,357$         98,435$          $         98,688  $         99,805  $       100,036 
2013C - Principal & Interest (Street -                     553,672                   555,000           555,100           550,438 

Total for Debt Service 588,322$       652,107$       653,688$       654,905$       650,474$       

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $    5,605,815  $    2,378,246  $       743,041  $    1,964,905  $    1,500,474 

196,848$       36,846$         418,402$       335,876$       70,622$         FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Miscellaneous and Other 

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Capital

Capital Improvement Fund 

7/28 39



Fund Group:

Fund:

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       350,000          

Total -$                     -$                     -$                     350,000$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Capital 

Vehicle and Equip. Replac. 

This fund was created to capture funds transfered from the General Fund for the purpose of 
buying vehicles and equipment.  The fund also captures proceeds from the sale of vehicles and 
equipment to be re-used for new vehicle purchases. 

7/28 40



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   250,100$       

REVENUES

General Fund -$                   -$                   -$                   250,000$       100,000$       

Total for Property Taxes  $                  - -$                   -$                   250,000$       100,000$       

Sale of Fixed Assets  $                  - -$                   -$                   -$                   40,000$         

Interest -                     -                     -                     100                200                

Total For Miscellaneous and Other  $                  -  $                  -  $                  -  $              100  $         40,200 

TOTAL REVENUES -$                   -$                   -$                   250,100$       140,200$       

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Commodities -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Reserve -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   350,000$       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   350,000$       

-$                   -$                   -$                   250,100$       40,300$         FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Capital 

Vehicle and Equip. Replac. 

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Transfers from Other Funds 

Miscellaneous and Other 

7/28 41



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Storm Water Utility 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 16,430             31,892             -                       35,000             

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       275,000          

Debt Service 2,371,807       2,335,943       2,306,346       2,309,473       

Transfers/Reserves 324,308          256,110          277,519          275,220          

Total 2,712,545$     2,623,945$     2,583,865$    2,894,693$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Storm Water Utility was established in 2005 to provide an on-going, dedicated revenue 
source for funding storm water improvements throughout the community.  Revenue consists of 
an annual fee collected from each property in the City as an assessment on the property taxes.  
The fee is set as a dollar amount per ERU, or equivalent residential unit, that equals 2,600 sq. ft., 
the amount of impervious surface that an average single-family residential parcel is estimated to 
have.  For 2018, the amount remains at $28 per ERU/per month.  A single-family parcel of 
property will pay a storm water utility fee of $336 per year.  A larger parcel of property will pay 
a higher amount, determined by taking the total impervious surface for the parcel and dividing 
by the 2,600 sq. ft. to determine the appropriate ERU multiplier.

Revenue is also derived from the Rock Creek Drainage Districts #1 and #2, which funds are 
transferred to the Storm Water Utility .

Funds have been used to pay debt service on the following general obligation bonds:
• 2010A - Refunding of 2008 temporary notes
• 2010B - Restructuring of 2005A and portion of 2009A G.O. Bonds
• 2013C - Storm water portion of the Johnson Drive Improvements
• 2014A - Refunding of a portion of 2009A G.O. Bonds
• 2014B - Refunding of a portion of 2009A G.O. Bonds
• KDHE  - A Kansas Department of Health and Environment loan 

7/28 42



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

191,051$       24,077$          $         37,027  $       295,916  $       330,251 

REVENUES

Property Taxes 

Property Tax -$                   5$                   $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Delinquent Property Tax 199                70                                       -                      -                      - 

Motor Vehicle Tax -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total Property Taxes 199$              75$                -$                   -$                   -$                   

Storm Water Utility Fees 2,042,899$    2,042,515$     $    2,497,945  $    2,500,000  $    2,500,000 

Storm Water Utility Fees Delinquent 16,320           40,698                       34,531             30,000             35,000 

Total Fees  $    2,059,219  $    2,083,213  $    2,532,476  $    2,530,000  $    2,535,000 

Special Assessments  $                  -  $                  -  $       299,798  $                  -  $                  - 

Intergovernmental -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

 $  14,248,111  $                  -  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Miscellaneous and Other 

Interest 118$              136$               $              561  $              200  $                  - 

Miscellaneous -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total Miscellaneous and Other  $              118  $              136  $              561  $              200  $                  - 

Transfers From Other Funds

General Fund -$                   560,000$        $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Improvement Fund 80,000           -                                          -                      -                      - 

Rock Creek Drainage #1 Fund 2,550             3,800                                  -               3,000               3,000 

Rock Creek Drainage #2 Fund 77,000           78,000                       50,000             85,000             85,000 

Total Transfer From Other Funds  $       159,550  $       641,800  $         50,000  $         88,000  $         88,000 

TOTAL REVENUES 16,467,197$  2,725,224$    2,882,835$    2,618,200$    2,623,000$    

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Fees

Bond Proceeds

Special Revenue 

Storm Water  Utility 

7/28 43



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services

Full-Time Salaries 40,805$         -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Health/Welfare Benefits 77                  -                                          -                      -                      - 

Social Security 1,401             -                                          -                      -                      - 

KPERS 1,718             -                                          -                      -                      - 

Employment Security 45                  -                                          -                      -                      - 

City Pension -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total for Personnel 44,046$         -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services

Professional Services 5,680$           465$               $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Engineering/Architecture Services -                     6,562                         11,119                      -             10,000 

Inspections -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Storm Drain Repairs 3,221             9,403                         20,774                      -             25,000 

Other Contractual Services -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Refund Rebate Utility Fee -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total for Contractual Services 8,901$           16,430$         31,892$         -$                   35,000$         

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay 60$                -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $       275,000 

Debt Service

2010A Refunding - Prin & Int 369,113$       367,913$        $       366,613  $       367,813  $       368,738 

2010B Refunding - Interest 279,131         279,131         279,131         279,131         279,132         

2013C - Prin & Int (Storm Water Portion) -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

2014A Refunding - Prin & Int -                     343,027         324,838         321,838         1,389,838      

2014B Refunding - Prin & Int -                     1,375,176      1,358,800      1,331,000      265,200         

KDHE Loan -                     6,561             6,562             6,565             6,565             

Total For Debt Service 16,581,163$  2,371,807$     $    2,335,943  $    2,306,346  $    2,309,473 

Transfers To Other Funds 

Capital Improvement Fund -$                   324,038$        $       256,110  $       277,519  $       275,220 

Total for Transfers to Other Funds -$                   324,038$       256,110$       277,519$       275,220$       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $  16,634,170  $    2,712,275  $    2,623,945  $    2,583,865  $    2,894,693 

24,077$         37,027$         295,916$       330,251$       58,558$         

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Storm Water Utility 

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

7/28 44



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Transportation Utility 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay 11,507             -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service 885,226          -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 896,733$        -$                     -$                     -$                     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The City established the Transportation Utility in 2011 to provide an on-going, dedicated 
revenue source for funding needed street and road improvements throughout the community.  
Revenue consists of an annual fee collected from each property in the City as an assessment on 
the property taxes.  The fee is set as a amount per vehicle trip generated based on the land use 
of the property as determined by the Institute of Transportation Engineers' Trip Generation 
Manual.  The residential per trip rate is 2.076 cents and the commercial per trip rate is 1.490 
cents. A single-family parcel of property would pay a transportation utility fee of $72 per year.  
Other properties would pay a fee based on the land use and the number of vehicles trips.

In 2013, the City was challenged on the legality of the transportation utility fee.  The City 
received a favorable ruling in the district court, but this decision was overturned by the appeals 
court in July of 2015.   The City decided to pursue an appeal to the Kansas Supreme Court, and 
in May 2017, the Supreme Court affirmed the ruling of the appeallate court, declaring the TUF 
invalid.  In the meantime, however, the City decided to not collect the transportation utility fee 
for the 2016 and 2017 budget year.

The City has not levied the TUF since 2016. In lieu of the transportation utility fee, the City 
raised the mill levy by 7 mills in 2016 to provide a funding source for needed street and road 
improvements.  Thus, the Transportation Fund currently has no revenue source and no 
expenditures. 

7/28 45



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1,078,816$    58,385$          $         14,176  $         14,176  $         14,176 

REVENUES

Fees

Transportation Utility Fee 762,388$       767,727$        $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Transportation Utility Fee Delinquent 4,484             4,285                                  -                      -                      - 

Total for Fees  $       766,872  $       772,012  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Intergovernmental Revenue 705,261         -                                          -                      -                      - 

Miscellaneous and Other 

Reimbursed Expenses -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Interest 80                  62                                       -                      -                      - 

Miscellaneous Revenue -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total for Miscellaneous and Other  $               80  $               62  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Transfers From Other Funds

Street Sales Tax -$                   80,000$          $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Total for Transfers  $                  -  $         80,000  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

TOTAL REVENUES 1,472,212$    852,074$       -$                   -$                   -$                   

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay 116,949$       11,057$          $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Debt Service

2011A - Principal and Interest 2,375,694$    885,226$       -$                   -$                   -$                   

Total for Debt Service 2,375,694$    885,226$       -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $    2,492,643  $       896,283  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

58,385$         14,176$         14,176$         14,176$         14,176$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Transportation Utility Fund 

7/28 46



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Street Sales Tax 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        140,000          150,000          200,000          

Debt Service 473,845          470,870          472,045          472,316          

Transfers/Reserves 263,000          -                        50,000            -                        

Total 736,845$        610,870$        672,045$        672,316$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Upon voter approval, the City of Mission began collecting a 1/4 of 1% special sales tax for 
streets - more commonly known as the Street Sales tax - in April of 2012.  The tax has a 10-year 
sunset. 

Revenue from the street sales tax is pledged to retire the Series 2012-A General Obligation 
Bonds issued for the Martway/Johnson Drive rehabilitation projects.  Any remaining revenue is 
available to support other street and road improvements.

Debt Service:
• 2012A - Principal & Interest - Martway/Johnson Drive Improvements 

7/28 47



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

429,905$       517,464$        $       318,999  $       282,500  $       160,505 

REVENUES

Sales Tax - 1/4 Cent for Streets 558,473$       554,876$        $       574,296  $       550,000  $       575,000 

Miscellaneous and Other 

Interest 31$                57$                 $               75  $               50  $              100 

Total Miscellaneous and Other  $               31  $               57  $               75  $               50  $              100 

TOTAL REVENUES 558,504$       554,933$       574,371$       550,050$       575,100$       

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay -$                   16,553$          $       140,000  $       150,000  $       200,000 

Debt Service

2012A - Principal & Interest 470,945$       473,845$        $       470,870  $       472,045  $       472,316 

Total for Debt Service 470,945$       473,845$       470,870$       472,045$       472,316$       

Reserves -$                   -$                   -$                   50,000$         -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds 

Capital Improvement Fund -$                   183,000$        $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Transportation Utility Fund -                     80,000                                -                      -                      - 

Total for Other Funds -$                   263,000$       -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 470,945$       753,398$       610,870$       672,045$       672,316$       

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 517,464$       318,999$       282,500$       160,505$       63,289$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Street Sales Tax

7/28 48



Fund Group: Special Revenue

Fund: Parks Sales Tax 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay 210,546          404,344          300,000          400,000          

Debt Service 529,586          526,450          529,000          531,100          

Transfers/Reserves 25,000             -                        220,000          330,000          

Total 765,132$        930,794$        1,049,000$    1,261,100$     

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Upon voter approval the City of Mission began collecting a 3/8 of 1% Special Sales Tax for Parks 
and Recreation - more commonly known as the Parks Sales Tax - in April of 2013.  The sales tax 
has a sunset of 10 years.

A portion of the sales tax is pledged to retire the Series 2013-B General Obligation Bonds 
that were issued for renovations and improvements to the City's outdoor aquatic facility.

Another portion is used to funded various capital improvements at the City's community center, 
which has primarily been building renovation and equipment maintenance. 

The balance has been earmarked to establish a reserve for other parks and recreation activities 
including repair and maintenance of building components at the City's community center, 
purchase of a second water slide at the aquatic facility, and implementation of 
recommendations from the recently completed parks master plan. 

7/28 49



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

3,524,039$    671,668$        $       738,850  $       676,571  $       478,071 

REVENUES

Sales Tax - 3/8th Cent for Parks 837,709$       832,314$        $       861,445  $       850,000  $       875,000 

Bond Proceeds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Miscellaneous and Other 

Miscellaneous -$                   -$                    $           6,766  $                  -  $                  - 

Interest -                     -                                     305                 500                      - 

Total for Miscellaneous and Other  $                  -  $                  -  $           7,071  $              500  $                  - 

TOTAL REVENUES 837,709$       832,314$       868,516$       850,500$       875,000$       

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay 3,059,977$    210,546$        $       404,344  $       300,000  $       400,000 

Debt Service

2013B - Principal & Interest 530,103$       529,586$        $       526,450  $       529,000  $       531,100 

Total For Debt Service 530,103$       529,586$       526,450$       529,000$       531,100$       

Reserves 

Park Improv. from Master Plan -$                   -$                   -$                   100,000$       150,000$       

Facility Reserve Community Cent. -                     -                     -                     100,000         150,000         

Facility Reserve Aquatic Facility -                     -                     -                     20,000           30,000           

Total for Reserve Accounts -$                   -$                   -$                   220,000$       330,000$       

Transfers To Other Funds 

General Fund 100,000$       25,000$          $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Total for Transfers to Other Funds 100,000$       25,000$         -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $    3,690,080  $       765,132  $       930,794  $    1,049,000  $    1,261,100 

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 671,668$       738,850$       676,571$       478,071$       91,971$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Parks Sales Tax

7/28 50



Fund Group: Special Revenue

Fund: Special Highway

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       20,000             

Capital Outlay 300,811          199,062          275,000          200,000          

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 300,811$        199,062$        275,000$        220,000$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Kansas state statutes (K.S.A. 79-3425c) provide for certain highway aid payments to be 
distributed directly to cities on a per capita basis from the state treasurer.  Payments are made 
quarterly from the state’s Special City and County Highway (SCCH) fund, which receives 
approximately 35% of the state's motor fuel tax collections.  Cities must credit their payments to 
a separate fund for construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, and maintenance of streets 
and highways.

The City utilizes these funds for general street repair including bridges, streetlights, curbs and 
drainage and the annual chip seal and overlay programs.  In the past, these funds have been 
leveraged with funds from the County Assisted Road System (CARS) program, state and federal 
grants, and transfers from other funds to pay for major road projects.    

7/28 51



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

62,658$         63,176$          $         12,390  $         65,307  $         37,107 

REVENUES

Intergovernmental - Kansas Gas Tax 245,697$       249,775$        $       251,967  $       246,600  $       250,000 

Miscellaneous and Other 

Interest -$                   76$                 $               12  $              200  $              100 

Miscellaneous -                     174                                     -                      -                      - 

-$                   250$              12$                200$              100$              

TOTAL REVENUES 245,697$       250,025$       251,980$       246,800$       250,100$       

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services

Full-Time Salaries 10,000$         -$                    $                  - -$                   -$                   

Health/Welfare Benefits -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Social Security -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

KPERS -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Employment Security -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

City Pension -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total for Personnel Services 10,000$         -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  - -$                   -$                   

Commodities

Asphalt Patch -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   20,000$         

Total for Commodities -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   20,000$         

Capital Outlay 235,179$       300,811$        $       199,062 275,000$       200,000$       

Debt Service -$                   -$                    $                  - -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                    $                  - -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $       245,179  $       300,811  $       199,062  $       275,000  $       220,000 

63,176$         12,390$         65,307$         37,107$         67,207$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Special Highway 

7/28 52



Fund Group: Special Revenue Fund 

Fund: Special Alcohol 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services 15,000$          15,000$          15,000$          15,000$          

Contractual Services 36,331             30,000             45,000            45,000             

Commodities -                        -                        -                       1,000               

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 51,331$          45,000$          60,000$          61,000$          

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

By statute, the State of Kansas imposes a 10 percent Liquor Drink Tax (aka Alcohol Tax) on the 
sale of any drink containing alcoholic liquor sold by clubs, caterers, or drinking 
establishments. Revenue derived from this tax is allocated 30 percent to the State and 70 
percent to the city or county where the tax is collected.  The statute further stipulates that for 
cities of Mission’s size, the portion allocated to the local jurisdiction be proportioned in thirds, 
with one third to the General Fund, one third to a Special Parks and Recreation Fund, and one 
third to a Special Alcohol Tax Fund. 

The Special Alcohol Tax Fund is to support programs “whose principal purpose is alcoholism and 
drug abuse prevention or treatment of persons who are alcoholics or drug abusers, or are in 
danger of becoming alcoholics or drug abusers.” (KSA 79-41a04).

Of the 2018 funds proportioned to this fund, $15,000 will support the Mission Police
Department's DARE activities, $14,000 will support the City's participation in the Johnson 
County mental health co-responder program, and $30,000 will be provided to agencies 
designated by the Drug & Alcoholism Council to support the provision of KSA 79-41a04.

The Drug and Alcoholism Council (DAC), a program supported by the United Community 
Services of Johnson County, offers grants each year to various organizations within the county 
that provide alcohol and drug abuse prevention and treatment programs. The grants are 
structured in such a manner that the awarded organizations have access to funds from multiple 
participating jurisdictions. The governing body of each jurisdiction has the ultimate authority 
and responsibility to determine which organizations receive funds. 

7/28 53



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

15,778$         21,626$          $         27,423  $         46,200  $         45,200 

REVENUES

Intergovernmental - Alcohol Tax 45,517$         57,128$          $         61,815  $         59,000  $         65,000 

TOTAL REVENUES 45,517$         57,128$          $         61,815 59,000$         65,000$         

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services

Full-Time Salaries 10,000$         15,000$          $         15,000  $         15,000  $         15,000 

Health/Welfare Benefits -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Social Security -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

KPERS -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Employment Security -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

City Pension -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total for Personnel Services 10,000$         15,000$         15,000$         15,000$         15,000$         

Contractual Services

Drug and Alcoholism Council 29,669$         36,331$          $         28,038  $         30,000  $         30,000 

Mental Health Responder -                     -                                          -             15,000             15,000 

Total Contactual Services 29,669$         36,331$         28,038$         45,000$         45,000$         

Commodities

DARE Supplies -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $           1,000 

Total Supplies -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   1,000$           

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Debt Service -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 39,669$         51,331$         43,038$         60,000$         61,000$         

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 21,626$         27,423$         46,200$         45,200$         49,200$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Special Alcohol

7/28 54



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Special Parks and Recreation 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay 323,329          -                        -                       15,000             

Debt Service -                        55,200             55,200            48,000             

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 323,329$        55,200$          55,200$          63,000$          

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

By statute, the State of Kansas imposes a 10 percent Liquor Drink Tax (aka Alcohol Tax) on the 
sale of any drink containing alcoholic liquor sold by clubs, caterers, or drinking 
establishments. Revenue derived from this tax is allocated 30 percent to the State and 70 
percent to the city or county where the tax is collected.  The statute further stipulates that for 
cities of Mission’s size, the portion allocated to the local jurisdiction be proportioned in thirds, 
with one third to the General Fund, one third to a Special Parks and Recreation Fund, and one 
third to a Special Alcohol Tax Fund. 

The funds proportioned to the City’s Special Parks and Recreation Fund to support general 
programming and parks construction and maintenance.  Budgeted expenditures include $48,000 
for an annual lease on fitness equipment for the community center, $10,000 for a sound system 
for the Community Center's south meeting rooms, and $5,000 for a small Kaivac cleaning 
machine. 

7/28 55



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

166,621$       118,334$        $         24,065  $         29,756  $         33,886 

REVENUES

Intergovernmental - Alcohol Tax 45,517$         57,129$          $         60,484  $         59,180  $         65,000 

Bond/Lease Proceeds -$                   168,128$        $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Miscellaneous -$                   3,651$           385$              -$                   -$                   

Interest -                     152                                  22                 150                 200 

Total Miscellaneous and Other  $                  -  $           3,804  $              407  $              150  $              200 

TOTAL REVENUES  $         45,517  $       229,060  $         60,891  $         59,330  $         65,200 

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay 93,804$         323,329$        $                  -  $                  -  $         15,000 

Debt Service/Lease Payments -$                   -$                    $         55,200  $         55,200  $         48,000 

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $         93,804  $       323,329  $         55,200  $         55,200  $         63,000 

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 118,334$       24,065$         29,756$         33,886$         36,086$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Miscellaneous and Other 

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Special Parks and Recreation

7/28 56



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Solid Waste Utility 

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 566,441          566,273          570,000          588,100          

Commodities -                        1,000               500                  500                  

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 566,441$        567,273$        570,500$        588,600$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The City established the Solid Waste Utility in 2008 as a mechanism for more efficient and cost 
effective collection of residential solid waste, and to promote the recycling of solid waste.   
Through the Solid Waste Utility, the City contracts with one hauler to provide solid waste 
collection for all single-family residential properties in the city.  The City collects a fee for this 
service as a special assessment on the property tax.

The City currently has a contract with Waste Management (formerly Deffenbaugh Industries), 
which will expire in 2019.  Solid waste collection (trash, recycling, and yard waste) is once a 
week, and the service includes a bulky item pick-up the first week of every month.  The annual 
Solid Waste Utility Fee is $163 per single-family residential parcel. 

The City supplements the fee paid by single family property owners with a transfer from the 
General Fund to the Solid Waste Utility Fund.

7/28 57



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

(46,224)$        (45,011)$         $       (41,721)  $       (30,883)  $       (29,333)

REVENUES

Fees

Solid Waste Utility Fee 482,233$       481,367$       490,878$       483,000$       504,000$       

Trash Bag Sales 1,964             1,685             1,918             2,000             2,000             

Yard Waste Stickers 505                1,366             288                1,000             1,000             

Commercial Recycling -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Recycling Rebate -                     314                -                     1,000             1,000             

484,701$       484,731$       493,084$       487,000$       508,000$       

Interest -$                   -$                   27$                50$                100$              

Total for Miscellaneous and Other -$                   -$                   27$                50$                100$              

Transfers from Other Funds

General Fund 85,000$         85,000$         85,000$         85,000$         110,000$       

Total for Miscellaneous and Other 85,000$         85,000$         85,000$         85,000$         110,000$       

TOTAL REVENUES 569,701$       569,731$       578,111$       572,050$       618,100$       

EXPENDITURES

Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services

Solid Waste Contract 562,187$       562,219$       563,419$       565,000$       583,100$       

Utility Rebate Refund 4,302             4,222             2,854             5,000             5,000             

Total for Contractual Services 566,489$       566,441$       566,273$       570,000$       588,100$       

Commodities 2,000$           -$                   1,000$           500$              500$              

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Debt Service -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 568,489$       566,441$       567,273$       570,500$       588,600$       

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31 (45,011)$        (41,721)$        (30,883)$        (29,333)$        167$              

Special Revenue 

Solid Waste Utility 

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Miscellaneous and Other 

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

7/28 58



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Mission Conv. And Visitor's Bur.

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 45,663             53,080             103,500          60,000             

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 45,663$          53,080$          103,500$        60,000$          

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Charter Ordinance No. 17 was approved in March of 2006 establishing a Transient Guest Tax of 
6%, a Convention and Tourism Fund, and a Convention Commission.  This was subsequently 
revised by Charter Ordinance No. 18, which raised the Transient Guest Tax to 9%, and Charter 
Ordinance No. 24 which reconstituted the Convention Commission to the Mission Convention 
and Visitors Bureau (MCVB).

The Transient Guest Tax, along with sponsorships, special event revenue, and donations is used 
for the promotion of the City of Mission and attracting tourism through festivals, special events, 
and the monthly Mission magazine. A portion of the magazine expenses are covered by the 
General Fund (Newsletter 01-09-214-07) in the legislative budget.

In 2017, the MCVB Committee was disbanded, but the fund remains to account for receipt and 
expenditure of the Transient Guest Tax.

7/28 59



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

53,447$         54,960$          $         61,493  $         76,346  $         17,416 

REVENUES
Transient Guest Tax Receipts 23,893$         36,786$          $         43,835  $         35,000  $         40,000 

Miscellaneous and Other 
Event Sponsorship/Revenue 45,899$         6,842$            $         21,555  $           1,500  $                  - 

Holiday Adoption Revenue 7,280             8,477                           2,525               8,000             10,000 

Interest -                     61                                       -                   70                 100 

Miscellaneous Revenue -                     -                                       17                      -                      - 

Total for Miscellaneous and Other  $         53,179  $         15,381  $         24,097               9,570             10,100 

TOTAL REVENUES  $         77,072  $         52,166  $         67,932  $         44,570  $         50,100 

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services
MCVB General Expenses 1,149$           3,031$           2,264$           -$                   -$                   
Mission Family Festival 4,957             1,181             -                     -                     -                     
Barbeque Contest 23,378           335                17,433           -                     -                     
Holiday Lights Event 11,620           9,992             3,641             5,500             -                     
Mission Merchants 3,442             1,605             1,403             -                     -                     
MCVB Magazine 22,033           21,838           22,255           50,000           50,000           
Holiday Adoptions 5,933             7,651             6,083             8,000             10,000           
Pole Sign Incentive Program -                     -                     -                     15,000           -                     
Business Support Programs -                     -                     -                     25,000           -                     

Total for Contractual Services 75,559$         45,633$         53,080$         103,500$       60,000$         

Commodities -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Debt Service -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 75,559$         45,633$         53,080$         103,500$       60,000$         

54,960$         61,493$         76,346$         17,416$         7,516$           

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Mission Convention & Visitor's 

7/28 60



Fund Group: Special Revenue

Fund: Mission Crossing TIF/CID

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services 254,975          233,433          344,000          370,000          

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total 254,975$        233,433$        344,000$        370,000$        

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

Mission Crossing is the redevelopment of a 6.2 acre site on the City’s western boundary that had 
been the former headquarters and manufacturing plant for Herff Jones, Inc. since 1954.  The 
project entailed the demolition of the existing building and construction of three stand-alone 
buildings totaling approximately 20,000 square feet of commercial space, and a 100 unit 
residential facility designed for independent, senior-living.

The mixed use development complies with the redevelopment goals of the City’s West Gateway 
district.  It includes streetscape improvements along the project perimeters, a new public park 
located at the southwest corner of Martway and Broadmoor, a public trail along Metcalf Avenue 
and two transit shelters to access the enhanced bus services along the Johnson Drive/Martway 
corridors.  

The Mission Crossing Tax Increment Financing (TIF) district and Community Improvement 
District (CID) were both established in 2010 for the purpose of redirecting revenue (property 
and sales tax) generated from the project to reimburse the developer for certain development 
costs.  The TIF [K.S.A 12-1770 et seq] is structured to reimburse the developer on a “pay-as-you-
go” basis with reimbursement coming from the property tax on the assessed valuation above 
(property tax increment) the assessed valuation at the time the agreement was adopted (base 
valuation), and the City’s 1% general sales tax generated from all retail sales that occur within 
the defined project area.  The CID [K.S.A 12-6a26 et seq] is structured to reimburse the 
developer on a “pay-as-you-go” basis with reimbursement coming from an additional 1% sales 
tax collected on retail sales generated within the district.  

This project is anticipated to generate approximately $3,948,000 in TIF revenue over the 20 year 
life of the TIF plan, and approximately $1,188,000 in CID revenue over the 22 year life of the 
CID.  

7/28 61



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-$                   -$                   26,587$         26,587$         31,321$         

REVENUES
Property Taxes -TIF -$                   143,172$       103,355$       174,378$       177,000$       

Sales Tax - TIF -$                   55,163$         68,292$         85,000$         91,000$         

Sales Tax - CID -$                   83,228$         66,520$         85,000$         91,000$         

TOTAL REVENUES -$                   281,563$       238,167$       344,378$       359,000$       

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services

TIF Property Tax Reimbursement -$                   143,172$       103,355$       174,000$       180,000$       

TIF Sales Tax Reimbursement -                     50,370           65,952           85,000           95,000           

CID Sales Tax Reimbursement -                     61,433           64,127           85,000           95,000           

Total for Contractual Services -$                   254,975$       233,433$       344,000$       370,000$       

Commodities -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Debt Service -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES -$                   254,975$       233,433$       344,000$       370,000$       

-$                   26,587$         31,321$         26,965$         20,321$         

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Mission Crossing TIF/CID

7/28 62



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Cornerstone Commons CID

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        63,722             65,000            67,500             

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves -                        -                        -                       -                        

Total -$                     63,722$          65,000$          67,500$          

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The Cornerstone Commons project is the redevelopment of a 2.98 acre tract at the southwest 
corner of Johnson Drive and Barkley Street. Prior to redevelopment, the site was an automobile 
dealership that had closed. 

The project is a mixed-use development that conforms to the design principles of the West 
Gateway district and Form Based Code by having multi-level structures situated up to the 
sidewalk, on-street parking, and pedestrian oriented elements such as benches, lighting, and 
landscaping.

The development includes a 15,000 square foot Natural Grocers store, a 4,000 square foot 
building for casual dining/retail, and a third 12,000 square foot building for casual dining/retail 
and office.

The CID [K.S.A 12-6a26 et seq] is structured to reimburse the project developer on a “Pay-As-
You-Go” basis with reimbursement coming from an additional 1% sales tax collected on retail 
sales generated within the district.  

The total estimated value for all of these improvements is $1,721,788, of which the 
redevelopment agreement stipulates that no more than $1,500,000 will be reimbursed to the 
developer through the CID sales tax. 

7/28 63



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-$                   -$                   6,566$           9,495$           9,495$           

REVENUES
Sales Tax - CID -$                   6,566$           66,701$         65,000$         67,000$         

TOTAL REVENUES -$                   6,566$           66,701$         65,000$         67,000$         

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services
CID Sales Tax Reimbursement -$                   -$                   63,772$         62,500$         65,000$         
Administrative Fee -                     -                     -                     2,500             2,500             

Total for Contractual Services -$                   -$                   63,772$         65,000           67,500           

Commodities -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Debt Service -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURES  $                  - -$                   63,772$         65,000$         67,500$         

-$                   6,566$           9,495$           9,495$           8,995$           

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Cornerstone Commons CID

7/28 64



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Rock Creek Drainage Dist. #1

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves 3,800               -                        3,000               3,000               

Total 3,800$             -$                     3,000$            3,000$             

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The City established the Rock Creek Drainage District No. 1 pursuant to K.S.A. 13-10,128 through 
13-10,133 in July of 2006 (Ordinance 1206).  Drainage District No. 1 is comprised of the original 
Mission Mall site bounded by Shawnee Mission Parkway, Roeland Drive, and Johnson Drive. 

A special mill levy is assessed on all properties within the district for the construction, 
maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains contained within the 
storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the storm 
drainage flowing into and/or out of the storm drainage district.  Property tax revenue may also 
be used for debt service associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement 
of same storm sewers and drains.  Funds from the Rock Creek Drainage District #1 are 
transferred to the City's Storm Water Utility Fund to assist with debt service.

At present the site is vacant, but is anticipated to be developed in the near future into a 556,000 
square feet residential/retail/commercial mixed-use project to be known as the "Mission 
Gateway."

7/28 65



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2,506$           2,515$            $           1,423  $           3,672  $           3,487 

REVENUES
Property Taxes 

Real Estate Tax 2,559$           2,708$            $           2,249  $           2,800  $           3,000 

Real Estate Tax Delinquent -                     -                                          -                      -                      - 

Total for Property Taxes  $           2,559  $           2,708  $           2,249  $           2,800  $           3,000 

Miscellaneous and Other 
Interest -$                   -$                    $                  -  $               15  $                  - 

Total for Miscellaneous and Other  $                  -  $                  -  $                  -  $               15  $                  - 

TOTAL REVENUES 2,559$           2,708$           2,249$           2,815$           3,000$           

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Contractual Services -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Commodities -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                    $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Debt Service  $                  -  $                  -  $                  -  $                  -  $                  - 

Transfers To Other Funds 
Storm Water Utility Fund 2,550$           3,800$            $                  -  $           3,000  $           3,000 

Total for Transfers To Other Funds 2,550$           3,800$           -$                   3,000$           3,000$           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,550$           3,800$           -$                   3,000$           3,000$           

2,515$           1,423$           3,672$           3,487$           3,487$           

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Rock Creek Drainage Dist. #1

7/28 66



Fund Group: Special Revenue 

Fund: Rock Creek Drainage Dist. #2

Fund Description 

Actual Actual Budget Proposed

2015 2016 2017 2018

Department Budget Summary 

Personnel Services -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Contractual Services -                        -                        -                       -                        

Commodities -                        -                        -                       -                        

Capital Outlay -                        23,670             -                       -                        

Debt Service -                        -                        -                       -                        

Transfers/Reserves 78,000             50,000             85,000            85,000             

Total 78,000$          73,670$          85,000$          85,000$          

Authorized Positions 

Full-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Part-Time 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Seasonal 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

City of Mission 2018 Budget Worksheet 

The City established the Rock Creek Drainage District No. 2 pursuant to K.S.A. 13-10,128 through 
13-10,133 in August of 2007 (Ordinance 1241).  Drainage District #2 comprises those properties 
along Rock Creek and within the flood plain of Rock Creek.   The district is bounded, 
approximately, by Roeland Drive on the east, Johnson Drive on the north Martway on the south 
to a point just east of Lamar.  

A special mill levy is assessed on all properties within the district for the construction, 
maintenance, repair or replacement of storm sewers and storm drains contained within the 
storm drainage district or within the watershed in the City that contributed to the storm 
drainage flowing into and/or out of the storm drainage district.  Property tax revenue may also 
be used for debt service associated with the construction, maintenance, repair or replacement 
of same storm sewers and drains.  Funds from the Rock Creek Drainage District #2 are 
transferred to the City's Storm Water Utility Fund to assist with debt service.

Both Rock Creek Drainage Districts No. 1 and No. 2 make up the same boundary as the Rock 
Creek Tax Increment Finance District which was established in 2007 for the purpose of 
encouraging redevelopment in the flood plain.  Most all of the properties in the district are 
already developed, and redevelopment to-date in the district has been modest.   

7/28 67



Fund Group:

Fund:

Actual Actual Actual Budget Proposed
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

4,415$           3,758$           3,409$           10,814$         5,819$           

REVENUES

Real Estate Taxes 76,341$         77,636$         81,037$         80,000$         85,000$         

Real Estate Taxes Delinquent -                     16                  -                     -                     -                     

Total for Property Taxes  $         76,341 77,651$         81,037$         80,000$         85,000$         

Interest 2$                  1$                  37$                5$                  100$              

Total For Miscellaneous and Other  $                 2 1$                  37$                5$                  100$              

TOTAL REVENUES 76,343$         77,652$         81,074$         80,005$         85,100$         

EXPENDITURES
Personnel Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Contractual Services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Commodities -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Capital Outlay -$                   -$                   23,670$         -$                   -$                   

Debt Service -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Transfers To Other Funds 

Storm Water Utility Fund 77,000$         78,000$         50,000$         85,000$         85,000$         

Total for Transfers To Other Funds  $         77,000 78,000$         50,000$         85,000$         85,000$         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 77,000$         78,000$         73,670$         85,000$         85,000$         

3,758$           3,409$           10,814$         5,819$           5,919$           FUND BALANCE DECEMBER 31

FUND BALANCE JANUARY 1

Property Taxes

Miscellaneous and Other 

City of Mission 2018  Budget Worksheet 

Special Revenue 

Rock Creek Drainage Dist. #2

7/28 68



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6e. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   27,   2017 

Administration  From: Brian   Scott  
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    An   Ordinance   Amending   Chapter   635,   Rental   Dwellings,   of   the   Code   of   Mission. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:       Adopt   the   proposed   Ordinance   Amending   Chapter   635,   Rental 
Dwellings,   of   the   Code   of   Mission. 
 
DETAILS:       K.S.A   12-16,138   provides   that: 
  

No   city   or   county   shall   adopt,   enforce   or   maintain   a   residential   property   licensing 
ordinance   or   resolution   which   includes   a   requirement   for   periodic   interior   inspections   of 
privately   owned   residential   property   for   city   or   county   code   violations   unless   the   lawful 
occupant   has   consented   to   such   interior   inspections. 

  
This   statutes   became   effective   July   1,   2016.  
 
The   City’s   staff   has   reviewed   the   City’s   current   rental   license   code,   Chapter   635   -   Rental 
Dwellings   -   for   changes   that   would   ensure   conformance   with   the   new   legislation.      This   is 
primarily   reflected   in   Section   635.090   -   Periodic   Inspection   of   Apartment   Buildings   -   which   now 
provides   that   the   City   shall   obtain   the   signed   consent   of   the   lawful   occupant   of   a   rental   dwelling 
unit   prior   to   performing   an   inspection,   and   that   the   occupant   shall   have   the   right   to   refuse   such 
inspection   pursuant   to   the   new   state   statute.  
 
In   conducting   this   review,   staff   has   also   taken   the   opportunity   to   make   a   number   of   proposed 
changes   throughout   the   code   that   would   provide   better   terms   and   add   clarification   to   various 
provisions. 
 
Discussion   has   ensued   about   applying   the   interior   inspection   provisions   of   the   code   to 
single-family   rental   dwelling   units.      A   meeting   was   held   recently   with   owners   of   such   units   to 
gain   their   input,   and   a   follow-up   meeting   will   be   held   in   the   near   future   for   further   discussion.  
 
In   the   meantime,   staff   recommends   proceeding   with   the   proposed   changes   (applicable   only   to 
multi-family   rental   dwelling   units)   so   as   to   ensure   that   the   City’s   current   rental   license   program   is 
compliant   with   the   state   statute.  
 
The   proposed   changes,   as   presented,   DO   NOT   provide   for   inspections   of   single-family   rental 
dwelling   units.   
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       The   City’s   rental   dwelling   license   code   provides   for   the 
health,   safety,   and   welfare   of   those   that   occupy   rental   properties   in   the   City   of   Mission,   and 
helps   to   ensure   safe   and   stable   neighborhoods   for   residents   of   all   ages.  

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance: N/A   K.S.A   12-16,   138   /   Chapter   635   of   Code   of   Mission  

Line   Item   Code/Description: N/A 

Available   Budget: N/A 

 



CITY OF MISSION  

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 635 THE CODE OF THE CITY OF MISSION, 
KANSAS TO REFLECT CHANGES THAT BRING THE ORDINANCE INTO COMPLIANCE 
WITH K.S.A 12-16,138. 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 635 – Rental Dwellings – of the code of Mission was adopted December 

13, 2006 for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety and general welfare of 
the residents of Mission in rental dwellings; and 

 
WHEREAS, K.S.A 12-16,138, which prohibits the periodic inspection of residential property 

without the prior consent of the occupant, became law effective July 1, 2016; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City has review Chapter 635 and developed amendments to bring the code 

into compliance with K.S.A 12-16,138, as well as to provide clarification to terms 
provisions of the code.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Body of the City of Mission, Kansas:  

 

SECTION I:  Chapter 635 of the code of the City of Mission is amended as follows: 

 
Section 635.020 Applicability.  
The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to all dwellings and dwelling units offered for 
rent or occupancy, including single-family dwellings, multi-family dwellings and 
dwelling units in owner-occupied dwellings. The provisions of this Chapter shall not 
apply to dwellings and dwelling units occupied by the owner, and/or the owner’s 
immediate family (whether that relationship is by blood, marriage, or adoption).  
Furthermore, the provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to hotels and motels licensed 
by the State of Kansas, convents, monasteries, parish houses or rectories, mosques, 
temples, synagogues, hospitals, nursing homes, jails and residential dwelling units owned 
and operated by any housing authority of the City. 

Section 635.030 License Requirement.  
No person shall allow to be occupied or rent to another for occupancy any dwelling or 
dwelling unit unless the owner has first obtained a license under the terms of this 
Chapter. This applies to people who allow to be occupied or rent to another for 
occupancy at the time this Chapter is implemented. Failure to obtain a required license 
shall be unlawful. Each day that a person fails to have a license as required by this 
Section shall constitute a separate offense. Upon conviction, a person may be fined up to 
five hundred dollars ($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. 

Section 635.040 Definitions.  
As used in this Chapter, the following terms shall have these prescribed meanings: 

APARTMENT BUILDING  
A building or structure containing more than six (6) rental dwelling units. 

DWELLING  
A building or structure, or portion of a building or structure, designed for or used for 
human habitation. 



DWELLING UNIT  
Any room or group of rooms located within a dwelling and forming a single 
habitable unit with cooking, living, sanitary and/or sleeping facilities. 

IMEDIATE FAMLIY  
One’s spouse, child or adopted child, father, mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparents, or grandparent-in-law, 
grandchild, or any natural or adopted child or grandchild of one’s spouse. 

 
LAWFUL OCCUPANT 

The occupant(s) of a dwelling or dwelling unit; or the owner of such that is 
unoccupied. 

MANAGER  
Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others, does any of the following: 
shows rental dwelling units to prospective tenants; enters lease agreements on the 
owner's behalf; receives rent from tenants; and / or otherwise supervises the 
maintenance or management of the premises. 

OCCUPANT  
Any person(s) living, sleeping, cooking, eating or actually having possession or 
control of a dwelling or dwelling unit. 

OCCUPANCY 
The act of living, sleeping, cooking, eating or actually having possession or control 
of a dwelling or dwelling unit. 

 
OWNER  

Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others: 

1. Has legal title to any building with or without accompanying actual possession 
thereof; or  

2. Has charge, care or control of any building or structure or part thereof as agent 
or personal representative of the person having legal title to the building or 
structure or part thereof; or  

3. Has possession or right to possession under a contract for deed.  

PERSON  
Any individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, cooperative or 
governmental agency. 

PREMISES  
The building(s) in which the rental dwelling unit(s) is located and all land 
appurtenant to such building(s) on a single parcel. 

REGISTERED AGENT  
The person designated by the owner to be the agent required by Section 635.060(1) 
of this Code. 



RENT 
To provide or to offer for possession or occupancy a dwelling or dwelling unit to a 
tenant for consideration, pursuant to a written, oral, or implied agreement. 

 
RENTAL DWELLING  

A dwelling or dwelling unit(s) designed for or used for human habitation and offered 
to a non-owner or third-party for rent and/or occupancy. 
 

RENTAL DWELLING LICENSE  
A license issued by the City permitting a dwelling or dwelling unit to be rented 
and/or occupied by persons other than the owner and the owner’s immediate family 
(as related by blood, marriage, or adoption) subject to the terms of this Chapter. 

 
SUBSTANDARD 

As defined in Section 635.110. 
 
TENANT 

Any person who occupies a dwelling or dwelling unit, other than the owner, the 
owner’s immediate family (as related by blood, marriage, or adoption), or any 
person residing with the owner. 

 
Section 635.050 What The License Covers.  

A. One (1) rental dwelling license shall be issued for each premises with one or more 
rental dwelling units and shall be deemed to cover all such dwelling units under 
common ownership on the premises.  

B. The City shall have authority to exercise its licensing powers under this Chapter 
including the power to issue, renew, deny, revoke and suspend a rental dwelling 
license with respect to an entire premises or only a specific dwelling unit(s) found to 
be in violation of this Code.  

Section 635.060 Application For Rental Dwelling License.  

A. The owner of each rental dwelling shall make written application to the City for a 
rental dwelling license to carry on the business of renting residential dwellings. In 
addition, the owner of such rental dwelling(s) constructed or converted to rental 
usage shall make written application to the City for a rental dwelling license as 
herein provided prior to initial occupancy. Such application, including application 
for a provisional license, shall be made on a form furnished by the City for such 
purpose and shall set forth the following information: 

1. Owner's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If the owner is a 
partnership, the name of the partnership and the name, residence address, telephone 
number and date of birth of the managing partner. If the owner is a corporation, the 
name and address of the corporation and the name, residence address, telephone 
number and date of birth of the chief operating officer. A post office box is not 
acceptable as a mailing address for any such person.  

2. In cases where the owner of a rental dwelling resides outside of Johnson County, the 
owner shall designate a Registered Agent who shall reside within the limits of 
Johnson County. That registered agent's name, address and telephone number must 
be included on the application. A post office box is not acceptable as a mailing 



address for a Registered Agent. The registered agent shall be jointly and severally 
responsible with the owner for: 

a. The upkeep and maintenance of the premises;  

b. Compliance with this Chapter and all other Codes regulating the premises; and  

c. Acceptance, service or process of all notices under this Chapter.  

3. Manager's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If some natural 
person other than the owner, r or Registered Agent is actively involved in and 
responsible for the maintenance and management of the premises, that person's 
name, address, telephone number and date of birth must be given in the application.  
A post office box is not acceptable as a mailing for any person.  

4. Address identifying location of the rental dwelling.  

5. Number and type of rental dwelling units in any building(s)  

6. Year of construction of the building(s). 

 No application shall be considered without payment of the fee prescribed by Section 635.220. 

Section 635.070 Expiration — Renewal.  
All rental dwelling licenses issued under this Chapter shall be renewed by January first 
(1st) of each year and shall be subject to renewal year to year as described in this 
Chapter. All licensees shall apply for renewal on a form provided by the City. The 
renewal application may be abbreviated as deemed sufficient by the City. No renewal 
shall be granted without payment of the required annual license fee. 

Section 635.080 Licensing Standards.  

A. The following standards and conditions shall be met in order to hold a rental 
dwelling license under this Chapter: 

1. The licensee or applicant shall have paid the required license fee;  

2. The licensee or applicant shall have paid any and all required inspection and re-
inspection fees;  

3. If the licensee is a business entity required to register with the Secretary of State, 
then such entity shall be and remain in good standing with the Kansas Secretary of 
State. 

4. The rental dwelling units shall not exceed the maximum number of dwelling units 
permitted by the zoning;  

5. No rental dwelling or unit shall be over occupied or illegally occupied in violation of 
Title IV or Title V of this Code; 6. The rental dwelling shall not be under a 
condemnation as hazardous or unfit for human habitation under this Code or a State 
Statute;  

6. The rental dwelling shall not be maintained in a substandard condition, as defined in 



Section 635.110.  The owner shall not suffer or allow weeds, vegetation, junk, debris 
or rubbish to accumulate repeatedly on the exterior of the premises so as to create a 
nuisance condition; and  

7. Rental dwellings shall remain in compliance with any and all other applicable City 
Codes/Buildings Codes.  

 
Section 635.090 Periodic Inspections of Apartment Buildings.   

The City shall be empowered to periodically inspect the interior and exterior of apartment 
buildings within the City to ensure compliance with this Chapter and other applicable 
Chapters, as set forth in Section 635.010. The City shall endeavor to inspect at least five 
percent (5%) of units in each apartment building annually, provided that a minimum of 
one (1) unit shall be inspected annually in each apartment building. The selection of 
individual units to be inspected shall be by the City pursuant to its policies.  

The City shall provide reasonable prior notice and obtain the signed consent of the lawful 
occupant prior to performing a periodic interior inspection. The lawful occupant of a 
rental unit shall have the right to refuse entry for a periodic interior inspection pursuant to 
K.S.A.  12-16,138. If entry is refused, the City may request to enter and inspect a 
substitute unit within the same building or property. The City shall not seek an 
administrative search warrant or exercise other lawful means to enter a property solely 
for refusing a periodic interior inspection, but may otherwise seek entry for cause as set 
forth in Section 635.130.  

Section 635.100 Minimum Inspection Standards.  
A. The minimum standard to be used for inspections shall be compliance with the 

International Property Maintenance Code, International Building Code, 
International Existing Building Code, International Residential Code, 
International Fire Code, International Fuel Gas Code, International Mechanical 
Code, International Plumbing Code, International Energy Conservation Code, and 
the National Electrical Code as adopted in Chapter 500 of this Code.  

Section 635.110 Substandard Dwellings and Dwelling Units.  
The City shall determine if a rental dwelling structure or any rental dwelling unit therein 
shall be considered substandard. In doing so, the City shall utilize the definitions, criteria 
and standards for building safety and maintenance adopted in the Municipal Code of the 
City of Mission or incorporated therein by reference. Pursuant to the foregoing, the City 
shall establish a written guideline upon which the determination will be based. A copy of 
said guideline shall be available for review and inspection in the City Clerk's office.  

Upon a determination that a dwelling or dwelling unit is substandard, the City shall give 
notice of the substandard conditions found and the corrective actions to be taken, and will 
specify the period of time the owner or registered agent has to perform those actions 
before further action is taken. Owners who fail to correct substandard conditions within 
the allotted time may be subject to denial, non-renewal, or revocation of their license to 
rent the substandard dwelling or dwelling unit pursuant to Section 635.140.  

Section 635.120 Hazardous or Unfit Dwellings.  
When a rental dwelling or dwelling unit is determined to be unfit or hazardous pursuant 
to this Code or applicable Kansas Statutes, the rental dwelling license shall be revoked on 
the effective date of said determination. The dwelling shall be eligible to hold a rental 



dwelling license only after inspection and approval pursuant to the conditions established 
by the City. 

Section 635.130 Inspections for Cause; Right of Entry.  

The City’s representative responsible for the administration and enforcement of this 
Chapter may enter a building or premises at all reasonable times to conduct exterior and 
interior inspections of any rental dwelling: 

A.  Having received three (3) or more notices of violation of the International 
Property Maintenance Code during the annual rental licensing period;  

B.  When the lawful occupant of the dwelling requests an inspection; 

C.  When a dwelling unit within the same building or property has been determined 
to be substandard pursuant to Section 635.110; or 

D.  Where probable cause exists to believe that an unsafe, dangerous, or hazardous 
condition exists in such building or premises. 

The City shall provide reasonable prior notice of entry to the lawful occupant and the 
owner, manager, or registered agent of the property. The City shall attempt to obtain 
entry from the lawful occupant and a consent form signed by the lawful occupant. If entry 
is refused, the City shall have the authority to seek entry pursuant to an administrative 
search warrant or other lawful means. 

Section 635.140 Denial — Non-Renewal — Revocation — Suspension of License.  

A. Failure to comply with the licensing standards as set forth in Section 635.080 shall 
be unlawful. If the City determines that any rental dwelling or rental dwelling unit 
fails to comply with the licensing standards, the City shall give notice of the 
violation. The notice shall provide: 

1. That the City has determined that the building fails to comply with the licensing 
standards for the rental dwelling as set forth in Section 635.080 and the particulars 
thereof;  

2. The specific reasons why the building fails to meet licensing standards, including 
copies of applicable inspection reports;  

3. That the City will deny, refuse to renew, revoke or suspend the license or 
provisional license unless the owner appeals the determination within fifteen (15) 
days after receipt of the notice in the manner provided in Section 635.170;  

4. That after any denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension, the rental dwelling or 
the affected rental dwelling units therein must be vacated and shall not be 
reoccupied until a license is issued after approval by the City; and  

5. A description of how an appeal may be filed under Section 635.170.  

B. The City shall cause a notice to tenants to be prominently posted on the building. 
The notice shall indicate that the rental dwelling license for the building has been 
denied, revoked or suspended, whichever is applicable; that the action will become 
final on a specific date unless the building owner appeals and requests a hearing; 



that tenants may be required to vacate the building when the action becomes final.  

C. The owner and/or owner's agent may be charged in Municipal Court for failure to 
comply with the licensing standards. If the Municipal Court determines that the 
violations of the licensing standards do in fact exist, then the owner and/or owner's 
agent may be fined in accordance with Section 100.100 of the City’s Municipal 
Code. Each day that the violation exists shall constitute a separate offense. Any such 
conviction in Municipal Court shall result in immediate revocation of the rental 
dwelling license owner and owner's agent.  

D. If the tenant fails to vacate the residence for which the license has been revoked, the 
tenant may be charged in Municipal Court for unlawful possession of a rental 
dwelling. Upon conviction, the tenant may be fined five hundred dollars ($500.00) 
or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. Each such day that the tenant remains 
unlawfully in possession of the rental dwelling shall constitute a separate offense.  

Section 635.150 Notices.  

Whenever a notice is required to be sent to or served upon the licensee of a rental 
dwelling under this Chapter, notice shall be deemed sufficient if sent by first class mail to 
the owner or owner's registered agent at the address specified in the last license 
application filed. Notice may also be sent to the   manager of the premises. If the 
dwelling unit is not licensed pursuant to this Chapter, notice is deemed sufficient if sent 
by first class mail to the person listed for the purposes of paying taxes on the property. 
Notices so mailed are sufficient whether actually received or returned.   

Section 635.160 Duties of Licensee.  

A. Every holder of a rental dwelling license shall: 

1. Receive a rental dwelling license certificate which shall contain the name and 
address of the owner of the rental property. Said certificate shall be maintained 
by the licensee on the premises, if possible, or at the licensee’s principal place 
of business or with the registered agent, and shall be made available, upon 
request, to any tenant of a dwelling unit or to any official of the City. 

3. Notify the City in writing of any changes of information contained in the last 
license application filed within thirty (30) days of such change.  

4. Maintain a current register of all tenants and other persons with a lawful right 
of occupancy to a dwelling unit within the building. The register shall be kept 
current at all times. The licensee shall designate the person who has possession 
of the register. The register shall be available for inspection by the City at all 
times.  

B. The owner of any dwelling that is required to be licensed by this Chapter shall, prior 
to the time of transfer of title of the dwelling, notify the new owner in writing of all 
unabated orders and violations issued by the City pertaining to such dwelling, as 
well as the requirement of law that the dwelling, upon transfer to a new owner, must 
be licensed with the City. A copy of the notification shall be mailed to the City 
within five (5) days of furnishing the notification to the buyer. If a corporation owns 
the dwelling, an officer of the corporation shall carry out the notification required by 
this Section. Time of transfer is the time upon the execution of any document 
providing for the conveyance of a dwelling required to be licensed.  



Section 635.170 Appeals Procedure.  

A. Any person wishing to appeal the determination, denial, non-renewal, revocation or 
suspension of a license or provisional license shall file a written notice of appeal 
with the City within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the notice of denial, non-
renewal, revocation or suspension. The notice of appeal shall contain a statement of 
the grounds for the appeal and shall be accompanied by a fee of one hundred dollars 
($100.00).  

B. The appeal will be heard by a board comprised of one (1) City employee designated 
by the City Administrator, , one (1)  owner or manager of a licensed rental property 
not party to an appeal, two (2) residents of the City of Mission, one (1) member of 
the Mission Planning Commission and two (2) Code Officials from two (2) cities in 
Johnson County, Kansas. The board shall establish meetings on an as-needed basis. 

C. The hearing will be held no later than forty-five (45) days after the receipt of the 
written notice of appeal.  

D. At the hearing, the board shall hear all relevant evidence and argument. The board 
may admit and give effect to evidence that possesses value commonly accepted by 
reasonably prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs.  

E. The board shall render its decision in writing within fifteen (15) days after the close 
of the hearing. The decision shall determine whether the building or the dwelling 
units therein, meets the licensing standards of this Chapter and shall specify the 
factual basis for the determination.  

F. The board may affirm, modify or reverse the action appealed.   

G.  Notice of the final decision of the board shall be served upon the license holder or 
applicant.  

H. A notice of the final decision shall be mailed to each occupant and prominently 
posted on the building. The notice shall indicate the date upon which tenants must 
vacate the building, if applicable, and shall clearly indicate which dwelling units are 
affected.  

Section 635.180 Vacation of Affected Dwelling Units.  
When an application for a rental dwelling license has been denied or a rental dwelling 
license or provisional license has been revoked, suspended or not renewed, the City shall 
order the dwelling or the affected dwelling units therein vacated, giving tenants a 
reasonable time to arrange new housing and to move their possessions. 

Section 635.190 Operation of Rental Dwelling Without License A Misdemeanor.  
A person who allows to be occupied or rents to another any rental dwelling unit without a 
license as required in Section 635.030 of this Code is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable 
as provided in Section 100.100 of the Municipal Code of Mission. 

Section 635.200 License Non-Transferable.  

A. A license issued hereunder is non-transferable. A new license application shall be 
required for each change of ownership of a rental dwelling.  

 
B. A new owner shall submit an application for a rental dwelling license in accordance 



with this Chapter (including rental license fee) no more than 30 days from the date 
of taking title to the property, provided a rental license is still required for the 
property. 

Section 635.210 Remedies in This Chapter Are Not Exclusive.  
The remedies provided in this Chapter are not exclusive. They are in addition to and do 
not supersede or pre-empt other remedies such as condemnation, written violation orders 
and warnings and criminal charges for violation of substantive provisions of any City or 
State Code relating to housing maintenance, fire safety, building codes, zoning, health 
and the like. Further, the remedies in this Chapter do not supersede or affect the legal 
rights and remedies of tenants provided under State law or this Code. 

Section 635.220 License and Inspection Fees — Same To Act As Lien On Real Property.  

A. Annual license fees shall be assessed according to the following schedule: 

1. Single-family/duplex property: $62.00.  

2. Tri-plex property: $30.00 per unit.  

3. Apartments and all other multi-family: $10.00 per unit.  

B. The initial periodic inspections described in Section 635.100 shall be at no cost to 
the owner. The City shall be empowered to recover part or all of its actual cost to 
perform all other inspections, including a reasonable administrative fee, from the 
rental property’s owner. Inspections that the owner may be held financially liable for 
include, but are not limited to, inspections for cause pursuant to Section 635.130 and 
repeat inspections of property previously found substandard, unsafe, or dangerous. 
The administrative fee shall be in the amount set by Section 103.110 for the 
administrative costs of nuisance abatement. All license, inspection, abatement or 
other fees that remain unpaid thirty (30) days after the City has demanded the same 
shall act as a lien on the subject real property and be entered on the County tax roll 
when consistent with, and in a manner allowed by, the laws of the State of Kansas. 

 

SECTION II:   All prior provisions of Chapter 635 are hereby repealed and replaced by the 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION III:  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its publication 

as provided by law. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL this 16th day of August 2017. 
 

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR this 16th day of August 2017. 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 

 
 

 Steve Schowengerdt, Mayor 
 



ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Martha M. Sumrall, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
PAYNE & JONES, CHTD. 

 
 
 
______________________________ 
David K. Martin, City Attorney 

11000 King, Suite 200 

P. O. Box 25625 

Overland Park, KS 66225-5625 

Tel: (913) 469-4100 

Fax: (913) 469-8182 

 



 

The following Code does not display images or complicated formatting. Codes should be viewed online. 

This tool is only meant for editing.  

Chapter 635  
Rental Dwellings  

Editor's Note — Ord. no. 1225 §2, adopted December 13, 2006, superseded ch. 635 and enacted new 
provisions set out herein. Former ch. 635 derived from ord. no. 953 §1, 10-22-97; CC 2000 §§4-1801 — 
4-1818; ord. no. 987 §4(4-1806), 1-12-00. 

Section 635.010 Statement of Purpose.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The purpose of this Chapter is to protect the public health, safety and general welfare of the residents 
of Mission in rental dwellings. The object of this Chapter is to: 

1. Protect the character and stability of residential areas;  

2. Correct and prevent housing conditions that adversely affect the safety, health and welfare of 
residents of rental properties;  

3. To enforce minimum standards for heating, sanitary equipment, light and ventilation necessary for 
health and safety;  

4. To preserve the value of land and buildings throughout the City;  

5. To prevent the overcrowding of dwellings by enforcing minimum standards per occupant for each 
dwelling unit;  

6. To enforce minimum standards for the maintenance of existing residential buildings and thus to 
prevent slums and blight;  

7. To protect the public from increased criminal activity that tends to occur in residential areas that are 
unstable due to dwellings that are blighted or substandard; and  

8. To provide a mechanism for enforcement and the administration of the City Code and ordinances to 
insure that the above purposes are accomplished.  

 

It is not the intention of the Council to intrude upon contractual relationships between tenant and 
landlords. The Council does not intend to intervene as an advocate of either party, nor to act as an 
arbiter, nor to hear complaints by landlord or tenant that do not clearly relate to the provisions of 
this Chapter. 

Section 635.020 Applicability.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to all rental dwellings and dwelling units offered for rent or 
occupancy, including rented single-family dwellings, multi-family dwellings and rented dwelling units in 
owner-occupied dwellings. The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to dwellings and dwelling units 
occupied by the owner, and/or the owner’s parents, wife or husband, children, brothers, or sisters 
immediate family (whether that relationship is by blood, marriage, or adoption).  Furthermore, Tthe 



provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to hotels and motels licensed by the State of Kansas, convents, 
monasteries, parish houses or rectories, mosques, temples, synagogues, hospitals, nursing homes, jails 
and residential dwelling units owned and operated by any housing authority of the City. 

Section 635.030 License Requirement.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

No person shall allow to be occupied or rent to another for occupancy any dwelling or dwelling unit 
unless the owner has first obtained a license under the terms of this Chapter. This applies to people who 
allow to be occupied or rent to another for occupancy at the time this Chapter is implemented. Failure to 
obtain a required license shall be unlawful. Each day that a person fails to have a license as required by 
this Section shall constitute a separate offense. Upon conviction, a person may be fined up to five hundred 
dollars ($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. 

Section 635.040 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

As used in this Chapter, the following terms shall have these prescribed meanings: 

APARTMENT BUILDING  
A building or structure containing more than six (6) rental dwelling units. 

DEPARTMENT  
The Neighborhood Services Department. 

DIRECTOR  
The Neighborhood Services Coordinator. 

DWELLING  
A building or structure, or portion of a building or structure, designed for or used for human 
habitation. 

DWELLING UNIT OR UNIT  
Any room or group of rooms located within a dwelling and forming a single habitable unit with 
cooking, living, sanitary and/or sleeping facilities. 

INSPECTOR  
The City-appointed official known as the Housing Inspector or other designated person. 

IMEDIATE FAMLIY  
One’s spouse, child or adopted child, father, mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-
law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparents, or grandparent-in-law, grandchild, or any 
natural or adopted child or grandchild of one’s spouse. 

 
LAWFUL OCCUPANT 

The occupant(s) of a dwelling or dwelling unit; or the owner of such that is unoccupied. 

MANAGER  
Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others, does any of the following: shows rental 
dwelling units to prospective tenants; and/or enters lease agreements on the owner's behalf and/or ; 
receives rent from tenants; and / or otherwises supervises the maintenance or management of the 
premises. 



NEW CONSTRUCTED DWELLINGS  
A dwelling constructed after 1994. This measurement may be determined from the date of the 
certificate of occupancy issued by Codes Administration upon completion of construction. 

OCCUPANT  
Any person(s) living, sleeping, cooking, or eating or actually having possession or control of a 
dwelling or dwelling unit or a rooming unit. 

 
OCCUPANCY 

The act of living, sleeping, cooking, eating or actually having possession or control of a dwelling or 
dwelling unit. 

 

OWNER  
Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others: 

1. Has legal title to any building with or without accompanying actual possession thereof; or  

2. Has charge, care or control of any building or structure or part thereof as agent or personal 
representative of the person having legal title to the building or structure or part thereof; or  

3. Has possession or right to possession under a contract for deed.  

PERSON  
Any individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, cooperative or governmental agency. 

PREMISES  
The building(s) in which the rental dwelling unit(s) is located and all land appurtenant to such 
building(s) on a single parcel. 

PUBLIC OFFICER  
The Housing Inspector. 

REGISTERED AGENT  
The person designated by the owner to be the agent required by Section 635.060(1) of this Code. 

RENT 
To provide or to offer for possession or occupancy a dwelling or dwelling unit to a tenant for 
consideration, pursuant to a written, oral, or implied agreement. 

 
RENTAL DWELLING  

A dwelling or dwelling unit(s) designed for or used for human habitation and offered to a non-
owner or third-party for rent and/or occupancy. 
 

RENTAL DWELLING LICENSE  
A license issued by the City permitting a dwelling or dwelling unit to be rented and/or 
occupied by persons other than the owner and the owner’s immediate family (as related by 
blood, marriage, or adoption) subject to the terms of this Chapter. 

 

ROOMING HOUSE  



Any building or portion thereof containing not more than three (3) sleeping rooms that are used by 
not more than three (3) occupants where rent is paid in money, goods, labor or otherwise. 

ROOMING UNIT  
Any room or group of rooms forming a single habitable unit used or intended to be used for living and 

sleeping, but not for cooking purposes. 

SUBSTANDARD 
As set forth defined in Section 635.1120. 

TENANT 
Any person who occupies a dwelling or dwelling unit, other than the owner, the owner’s 
immediate family (as related by blood, marriage, or adoption), or any person residing with the 
owner. 

UNIT  
Any dwelling unit or rooming unit. 

Section 635.050 What The License Covers.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. One (1) rental dwelling license shall be issued for each building  premises with one or more rental 
dwelling units and shall be deemed to cover all such dwelling units under common ownership on the 
premises.  

B. The City shall have authority to exercise its licensing powers under this Chapter including the power 
to issue, renew, deny, revoke and suspend a rental dwelling license with respect to an entire building  
premises or only a specific dwelling unit(s) found to be in violation of this Code.  

Section 635.060 Application For Rental Dwelling License.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The owner of each rental dwelling shall make written application to the City for a rental dwelling 
license to carry on the business of renting residential dwellings. In addition, the owner of such rental 
dwelling(s) constructed or converted to rental usage shall make written application to the City for a 
rental dwelling license as herein provided prior to initial occupancy. Such application, including 
application for a provisional license, shall be made on a form furnished by the Neighborhood 
Services Department City for such purpose and shall set forth the following information: 

1. Owner's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If the owner is a partnership, the name 
of the partnership and the name, residence address, telephone number and date of birth of the 
managing partner. If the owner is a corporation, the name and address of the corporation and the 
name, residence address, telephone number and date of birth of the chief operating officer. A post 
office box is not acceptable as a mailing address for any such person.  

2. In cases where the owner of a rental dwelling resides outside of Johnson County, the owner shall 
designate a resident Registered aAgent who shall reside within the limits of Johnson County. That 
registered agent's name, address and telephone number must be included on the application. A post 
office box is not acceptable as a mailing address for a Registered Agent.  The registered agent shall 
be jointly and severally responsible with the owner for: 

a. The upkeep and maintenance of the premises;  

b. Compliance with this Chapter and all other Codes regulating the premises; and  

c. Acceptance, service or process of all notices under this Chapter.  



2. Manager's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If some natural person other than the 
owner, manager or Registered aAgent is actively involved in and responsible for the maintenance 
and management of the premises, that person's name, address, telephone number and date of birth 
must be given in the application.  A post office box is not acceptable as a mailing for any person.  

3. Agent's name, address and telephone number.  

4. Address identifying location of the rental dwelling.  

5. Number and type of rental dwelling units in any building(s) (dwelling units, rooming units or shared 
bath units).  

6. Year of construction of the building(s). 

 No application shall be considered without payment of the fee prescribed by Section 635.230220. 

Section 635.070 Expiration — Renewal.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

All rental dwelling licenses issued under this Chapter shall be renewed by January first (1st) of each year 
and shall be subject to renewal year to year as described in this Chapter. All licensees shall apply for 
renewal on a form provided by the Neighborhood Services DepartmentCity. The renewal application may 
be abbreviated as deemed sufficient by the Neighborhood Services CoordinatorCity. No renewal shall be 
granted without payment of the required annual license fee. 

Section 635.080 Licensing Standards.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The following standards and conditions shall be met in order to hold a rental dwelling license under 
this Chapter: 

1. The licensee or applicant shall have paid the required license fee;  

2. The licensee ofr applicant shall have paid any and all required inspection and re-inspection fees;  

3. If the licensee is a business entity required to register with the Secretary of State, then such entity 
shall be and remain in good standing with the Kansas Secretary of State. 

4. The rental dwelling units shall not exceed the maximum number of dwelling units permitted by the 
zoning;  

45. No rental dwelling or unit shall be over occupied or illegally occupied in violation of Title IV or 
Title V of this Code;  

56. The rental dwelling shall not be under a condemnation as hazardous or unfit for human habitation 
under this Code or a State Statute;  

6. The rental dwelling shall not have been used or converted to rooming units in violation of the Zoning 
Code;  The rental dwelling shall not be maintained in a substandard condition, as set forth defined in 
Section 635.120; 

7. The owner shall not suffer or allow weeds, vegetation, junk, debris or rubbish to accumulate 
repeatedly on the exterior of the premises so as to create a nuisance condition; and  

8. Rental dwellings shall remain in compliance with any and all other applicable City Codes/Buildings 
Codes.  



Section 635.090 Identifying Guidelines.Periodic Inspections of Apartment Buildings   
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The Inspectors of the City shall be empowered to periodically inspect the interior and exterior of 
apartment buildings within the City to ensure compliance with this Chapter and other applicable Chapters, 
as set forth in Section 635.010. The City shall endeavor to inspect at least five percent (5%) of units in 
each apartment building annually, provided that a minimum of one (1) unit shall be inspected annually in 
each apartment building. The selection of individual units to be inspected shall be by the City pursuant to 
its policies.  

The InspectorCity shall provide reasonable prior notice and obtain the signed consent of the lawful 
occupant prior to performing a periodic interior inspection. The lawful occupant of a rental unit shall have 
the right to refuse entry for a periodic interior inspection pursuant to K.S.A. Supp. 12-16,138 et seq. If 
entry is refused, the CityInspector may request to enter and inspect a substitute unit within the same 
building or property. The CityInspector shall not seek an administrative search warrant or exercise other 
lawful means to enter a property solely for refusing a periodic interior inspection, but may otherwise seek 
to do  entry for cause as set forth in Section 635.130.  

The Cityinspector shall provide reasonable prior notice prior to performing a periodic exterior inspection. 
If entry is refused to perform the inspection, the CityInspector shall have the authority to seek entry 
pursuant to an administrative search warrant or other lawful means. 

 A. The Neighborhood Services Department shall adopt a policy for inspecting all rental dwellings 
which are required to be licensed under this Chapter. The policy shall contain objectives for the 
systematic inspection of all rental dwellings and priorities for the use of scarce inspection resources. The 
guidelines shall be based upon the following factors in addition to any other factors deemed by the 
Neighborhood Services Coordinator to promote an efficient inspections program: 

1. Property identified by the inspections department as having an excessive number of housing code 
violations or a history of non-compliance or slow compliance with code enforcement standards;  

2. Rental dwellings for which no license or provisional license has been applied;  

3. Rental dwellings with an excessive number of Police calls for drug offenses, crimes of force, 
violence or disorderly conduct;  

4. Rental dwellings with delinquent property taxes;  

5. Geographic distribution and concentration of rental dwellings; and  

6. Sale of the equitable interest in a rental dwelling property.  

 

The Housing Inspector or his/her designated agent may conduct interior inspections of any rental 
dwelling that has received three (3) or more exterior maintenance code violation notices during the 
annual rental licensing period. Exterior maintenance violations will be defined as violations of the 
City's adopted International Property Maintenance Code. In the event that the rental dwelling to be 
inspected is occupied, the Neighborhood Services Department shall obtain the occupant's written 
consent prior to the Inspector's entry into or upon such dwelling; provided, however, that nothing 
herein contained shall be construed to prohibit an inspection of any dwelling by the Housing 
Inspector or his/her designated agent when any such inspection is requested by the tenant or 
occupant of the dwelling or unit. 

 
 
Section 635.100  Minimum Inspection Standards.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  



A. The minimum standard to be used for inspections shall be compliance with the International 
Property Maintenance Code, International Building Code, International Existing Building Code, 
International Residential Code, International Fire Code, International Fuel Gas Code, International 
Mechanical Code, International Plumbing Code, International Energy Conservation Code, and the 
National Electrical Code as adopted in Chapter 500 of this Code.  

A.  

A. The minimum standard to be used for inspections, pursuant to Section 635.090, for compliance with 
the International Property Maintenance Code, International Building Code, International Residential 
Code, International Fire Code, International Plumbing Code, International Electrical Code shall 
include the inspection of the building exterior, the common areas and the basement. If there are five 
(5) or more individual dwelling units in the building, the City shall endeavor to inspect at least five 
percent (5%) of such units annually, provided that a minimum of one (1) unit shall be inspected 
annually. The specific individual dwelling units to be chosen for inspections shall be vacant made-
ready units, provided that a minimum of five percent (5%) of total units are inspected on an annual 
basis.  

B. If any unit in the rental dwelling building is determined to be "substandard" as defined in this 
Chapter, the Housing Inspector or his/her designee may inspect additional or all of the units in the 
building.  

Section 635.110 Substandard Dwellings and Dwelling Units.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The Housing CityInspector shall determine if a rental dwelling structure or any rental dwelling unit 
therein shall be considered substandard. In doing so, the Housing CityInspector shall utilize the 
definitions, criteria and standards for building safety and maintenance adopted in the Municipal Code of 
the City of Mission or incorporated therein by reference. Pursuant to the foregoing, the Neighborhood 
Services CoordinatorCity shall establish a written guideline upon which the determination will be based. 
A copy of said guideline shall be available for review and inspection in the City Clerk's office and the 
office of the Neighborhood Services Department..  

Upon a determination that a dwelling or dwelling unit is substandard, the CityInspector shall give notice 
of the substandard conditions found and the corrective actions to be taken, and will specify the period of 
time the owner or registered agent has to perform those actions before further action is taken. Owners or 
registered agents who fail to correct substandard conditions within the allotted time may be subject to 
denial, non-renewal, or revocation of their license to rent the substandard dwelling or dwelling unit 
pursuant to Section 635.140.  

Section 635.120 Hazardous or Unfit Dwellings.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

When a rental dwelling or dwelling unit is determined to be unfit or hazardous pursuant to this Code or 
applicable Kansas Statutes, the rental dwelling license shall be canceled revoked on the effective date of 
said determination. The dwelling shall be eligible to hold a rental dwelling license only after inspection 
and approval pursuant to the conditions established by the Housing CityInspector. 

Section 635.130 Right of Entry — Unlawful Interference — Penalty.Inspections for Cause; Right of 
Entry.  

[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The City’s representative responsible for the administration and enforcement of this Chapter Inspectors 
may enter a building or premises at all reasonable times to conduct exterior and interior inspections of any 
rental dwelling: 



A.  Having received three (3) or more notices of violation of the International Property 
Maintenance Code during the annual rental licensing period;  

B.  When the lawful occupant of the dwelling requests an inspection; 

C.  When a dwelling unit within the same building or property has been determined to be 
substandard pursuant to Section 635.110; or 

D.  Where probable cause exists to believe that an unsafe, dangerous, or hazardous condition exists 
in such building or premises. 

The CityInspector shall provide reasonable prior notice of entry to the lawful occupant and the owner, 
manager, or registered agent of the property. The InspectorCity shall attempt to obtain entry from the 
lawful occupant and a consent form signed by the lawful occupant. If entry is refused, the Inspector 
Ciytty shall have the authority to seek entry pursuant to an administrative search warrant or other lawful 
means. 

A. Absent exigent or emergency circumstances, whenever necessary to make an inspection to enforce 
any of the provisions of this Chapter or whenever the Neighborhood Services Coordinator or his/her 
designated official has reasonable cause to believe that there exists in any dwelling unit or upon any 
premises any condition or Code violation that makes such building or premises unsafe, dangerous or 
hazardous, the Housing Inspector or his/her designated official may enter such building or premises 
at all reasonable times to inspect the same or to perform any duty imposed by this Chapter, provided 
that if such building or premises be occupied, he/she shall first present proper credentials, a signed 
entry consent form and request entry, giving reasonable prior notice of entry to the tenant or other 
occupant; and if such building or premises be unoccupied, he/she shall first provide notice and 
request entry with notice pursuant to Section 635.150. If such entry is refused, the Housing Inspector 
and/or designated official shall have recourse to every remedy provided by law to secure entry.  

B. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with a public officer or agent of the City in 
performing his/her duties pursuant to this Section. Any person who interferes with an officer or 
agent of the City pursuant to this Chapter shall be punished by a fine of up to five hundred dollars 
($500.00) or by jail term not to exceed five (5) days or both.  

Section 635.140 Denial — Non-Renewal — Revocation — Suspension of License.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Failure to comply with the licensing standards as set forth in Section 635.080 shall be unlawful. If 
the Housing City Inspector under the direction of the Neighborhood Services Department determines 
that any rental dwelling or rental dwelling unit fails to comply with the licensing standards, the 
Neighborhood Services Department City shall mail give notice the owner or owner's agent a notice 
of the violation. The notice shall provide: 

1. That the Housing InspectorCity has determined that the building fails to comply with the licensing 
standards for the rental dwelling as set forth in Section 635.080 and the particulars thereof;  

2. The specific reasons why the building fails to meet licensing standards, including copies of 
applicable inspection reports;  

3. That the Neighborhood Services CoordinatorCity  will deny, refuse to renew, revoke or suspend the 
license or provisional license unless the owner appeals the determination within fifteen (15) days 
after receipt of the notice in the manner provided in Section 635.170;  

4. That after any denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension, the rental dwelling or the affected 
rental dwelling units therein must be vacated and shall not be reoccupied until a license is issued 
after approval by the Neighborhood Services DepartmentCity; and  



5. A description of how an appeal may be filed under Section 635.170.  

B. The Housing InspectorCity shall cause a notice to tenants to be prominently posted on the building. 
The notice shall indicate that the rental dwelling license for the building has been denied, revoked or 
suspended, whichever is applicable; that the action will become final on a specific date unless the 
building owner appeals and requests a hearing; that tenants may be required to vacate the building 
when the action becomes final.  

C. The owner and/or owner's agent may be charged in Municipal Court for failure to comply with the 
licensing standards. If the Municipal Court determines that the violations of the licensing standards 
do in fact exist, then the owner and/or owner's agent may be fined up to five hundred dollars 
($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both in accordance with Section 100.100 of the 
City’s Municipal Code. Each day that the violation exists shall constitute a separate offense. Any 
such conviction in Municipal Court shall result in immediate revocation of the rental dwelling 
license owner and owner's agent.  

D. If the tenant fails to vacate the residence for which the license has been revoked, the tenant may be 
charged in Municipal Court for unlawful possession of a rental dwelling. Upon conviction, the tenant 
may be fined five hundred dollars ($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. Each 
such day that the tenant remains unlawfully in possession of the rental dwelling shall constitute a 
separate offense.  

Section 635.150  Notices.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Whenever a notice is required to be sent to or served upon the licensee of a rental dwelling under 
this Chapter, notice shall be deemed sufficient if sent by first class mail to the owner or owner's 
designated registered agent at the address specified in the last license application filed. Notice may also 
be sent to the person identified as responsible for the maintenance and management of the premises 
identified managers of the premises. If the dwelling unit is not licensed pursuant to this Chapter, notice is 
deemed sufficient if sent by first class mail to the person listed for the purposes of paying taxes on the 
property. Notices so mailed are sufficient whether actually received or returned.  

B. On or about March first (1st) of each year, the City will mail or deliver to tenants of licensed 
residential rental property information on the City's minimum life, health and safety standards and contact 
information for the Neighborhood Services Coordinator.  

C. At the time of the issuance of a license pursuant to Section 635.030, the City will provide to the 
applicant information on the minimum code requirements for exterior and interior maintenance of 
rental dwellings.  

Section 635.160 Duties of Licensee.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Every holder of a rental dwelling license shall: 

1. Receive a rental dwelling license certificate which shall contain the name and address of the 
owner of the rental property.  Said certificate shall be maintained by the licensee on the 
premises, if possible, or at the licensee’s principal place of business or with the registered agent, 
and shall be made available, upon request, to any tenant of a dwelling unit or to any official of 
the City. 

2. Permit the Housing Inspector or an authorized representative to enter the premises for the 
purpose of conducting inspections to verify compliance with this Chapter. The licensee or an 
authorized representative shall be present during the inspection. Such inspections shall be made 
in accordance with the enforcement provisions of this Code.  



3. Promptly nNotify the Neighborhood Services Department City in writing of any changes of 
information contained in the last license application filed within thirty (30) days of such change.  

4. Maintain a current register of all tenants and other persons with a lawful right of occupancy to a 
dwelling unit within the building. The register shall be kept current at all times. The licensee 
shall designate the person who has possession of the register. The register shall be available for 
inspection by the Neighborhood Services Department City at all times.  

B. The owner of any dwelling that is required to be licensed by this Chapter shall, prior to the time of 
sale  transfer of title of the dwelling, notify the buyer  new owner in writing of all unabated orders 
and violations issued by the City pertaining to such dwelling, as well as the requirement of law that 
the dwelling, upon acquisition by  transfer to a new owner, must be licensed with the City. A copy of 
the notification shall be mailed to the Neighborhood Services CoordinatorCity within five (5) days 
of furnishing the notification to the buyer. If the dwelling is owned by a corporationa corporation 
owns the dwelling, an officer of the corporation shall carry out the notification required by this 
Section. Time of sale  transfer is the time when a written purchase agreement is executed by the 
buyer or, in the absence of a purchase agreement, upon the execution of any document providing for 
the conveyance of a dwelling required to be licensed.  

 

Section 635.170 Appeals Procedure.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Any person wishing to appeal the determination, denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension of a 
license or provisional license shall file a written notice of appeal with the Neighborhood Services 
CityDepartment  within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the notice of denial, non-renewal, 
revocation or suspension. The notice of appeal shall contain a statement of the grounds for the appeal 
and shall be accompanied by a fee of one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

B. The appeal will be heard by a board comprised of one (1) City employee designated by the City 
Administrator, the Community Development Director, one (1) licensed landlord owner or manager 
of a licensed rental property not party to an appeal, two (2) residents of the City of Mission, one (1) 
member of the Mission Planning Commission and two (2) Code Officials from two (2) cities in 
Johnson County, Kansas. The board shall establish meetings on an as-needed basis. 

C. The hearing will be held no later than forty-five (45) days after the receipt of the written notice of 
appeal.  

CD. At the hearing, the board shall hear all relevant evidence and argument. The board may admit and 
give effect to evidence whichevidence that possesses value commonly accepted by reasonably 
prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs.  

DE. The board shall render its decision in writing within fifteen (15) days after the close of the hearing. 
The decision shall determine whether the building or the dwelling units therein, meets the licensing 
standards of Section 635.080 and Section 635.100 of this Codethis Chapter and shall specify the 
factual basis for the determination.  

EF. The board may affirm, modify or reverse the action appealed. by representatives of the 
Neighborhood Services Department.  

FG. The final decision of the board shall be mailed to the license holder or applicant Notice of the final 
decision of the board shall be served upon the license holder or applicant.  

GH. A notice to tenants of the final decision shall be mailed to each occupant and prominently posted on 
the building. The notice shall indicate the date upon which tenants must vacate the building, if 



applicable, and shall clearly indicate which dwelling units are affected.  

Section 635.180 Vacation of Affected Dwelling Units.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

When an application for a rental dwelling license has been denied or a rental dwelling license or 
provisional license has been revoked, suspended or not renewed, the Neighborhood Services 
CoordinatorCity shall order the dwelling or the affected dwelling units therein vacated, giving tenants a 
reasonable time to arrange new housing and to move their possessions. 

Section 635.190 Operation of Rental Dwelling Without License A Misdemeanor.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A person who allows to be occupied or rents to another any rental dwelling unit without a license as 
required in Section 635.030 of this Code is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable as provided in Section 
100.100 of the Municipal Code of Mission. 

Section 635.200 License Non-Transferable.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. A license issued hereunder is non-transferable. A new license application shall be required for each 
change of ownership of a rental dwelling.  

 
B. A new owner shall submit an application for a rental dwelling license in accordance with this 

Chapter (including rental license fee) no more than 30 days from the date of taking title to the 
property, provided a rental license is still required for the property. 

 

Section 635.210 Remedies in This Chapter Are Not Exclusive.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The remedies provided in this Chapter are not exclusive. They are in addition to and do not supersede or 
pre-empt other remedies such as condemnation, written violation orders and warnings and criminal 
charges for violation of substantive provisions of any City or State Code relating to housing maintenance, 
fire safety, building codes, zoning, health and the like. Further, the remedies in this Chapter do not 
supersede or affect the legal rights and remedies of tenants provided under State law or this Code. 

Section 635.220 Report.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A Landlord Reference Report shall be compiled by searching rental unit license records and maintained 
by the City. This report lists the total number of units licensed by the landlord and the number that have 
outstanding allegations of code violations. 

Section 635.230 220 License and Inspection Fees — Same To Act As Lien On Real Property.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Annual license fees shall be assessed according to the following schedule: 

1. Single-family/duplex property: $62.00.  

2. Tri-plex property: $30.00 per unit.  

3. Apartments and all other multi-family: $10.00 per unit.  

B. The initial annual periodic inspections described in Section 635.100 shall be at no cost to the owner. 



Any reinspections of units found substandard by the inspections described in Section 635.100 shall 
be paid by the owner of the inspected property.  

The City shall be empowered to recover part or all of itsThe City's actual cost to perform all other 
inspections, including a reasonable administrative fee, of inspectionsfrom the rental property’s 
owner. Inspections that the owner may be held financially liable for include, but are not limited to, 
inspections for cause pursuant to Section 635.130 and repeat inspections of property previously 
found substandard, unsafe, or dangerous of residences or dwellings requested by tenants or based 
upon observation of the exterior thereof as described in Section 635.090 shall be paid by the owner 
of the inspected property. The administrative fee shall be in the amount set by Section 103.110 for 
the administrative costs of nuisance abatement. All license, inspection, abatement or other fees that 
remain unpaid thirty (30) days after the City has demanded the same shall act as a lien on the 
subject real property and be entered on the County tax roll when consistent with, and in a manner 
allowed by, the laws of the State of Kansas. 



The following Code does not display images or complicated formatting. Codes should be viewed online. 

This tool is only meant for editing.  

Chapter 635  
Rental Dwellings  

Editor's Note — Ord. no. 1225 §2, adopted December 13, 2006, superseded ch. 635 and enacted new 
provisions set out herein. Former ch. 635 derived from ord. no. 953 §1, 10-22-97; CC 2000 §§4-1801 — 
4-1818; ord. no. 987 §4(4-1806), 1-12-00. 

Section 635.010 Statement of Purpose.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The purpose of this Chapter is to protect the public health, safety and general welfare of the residents 
of Mission in rental dwellings. The object of this Chapter is to: 

1. Protect the character and stability of residential areas;  

2. Correct and prevent housing conditions that adversely affect the safety, health and welfare of 
residents of rental properties;  

3. To enforce minimum standards for heating, sanitary equipment, light and ventilation necessary for 
health and safety;  

4. To preserve the value of land and buildings throughout the City;  

5. To prevent the overcrowding of dwellings by enforcing minimum standards per occupant for each 
dwelling unit;  

6. To enforce minimum standards for the maintenance of existing residential buildings and thus to 
prevent slums and blight;  

7. To protect the public from increased criminal activity that tends to occur in residential areas that are 
unstable due to dwellings that are blighted or substandard; and  

8. To provide a mechanism for enforcement and the administration of the City Code and ordinances to 
insure that the above purposes are accomplished.  

 

It is not the intention of the Council to intrude upon contractual relationships between tenant and 
landlords. The Council does not intend to intervene as an advocate of either party, nor to act as an 
arbiter, nor to hear complaints by landlord or tenant that do not clearly relate to the provisions of 
this Chapter. 

Section 635.020 Applicability.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to all dwellings and dwelling units offered for rent or 
occupancy, including single-family dwellings, multi-family dwellings and dwelling units in owner-
occupied dwellings. The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to dwellings and dwelling units 
occupied by the owner, and/or the owner’s immediate family (whether that relationship is by blood, 
marriage, or adoption).  Furthermore, the provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to hotels and motels 
licensed by the State of Kansas, convents, monasteries, parish houses or rectories, mosques, temples, 
synagogues, hospitals, nursing homes, jails and residential dwelling units owned and operated by any 



housing authority of the City. 

Section 635.030 License Requirement.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

No person shall allow to be occupied or rent to another for occupancy any dwelling or dwelling unit 
unless the owner has first obtained a license under the terms of this Chapter. This applies to people who 
allow to be occupied or rent to another for occupancy at the time this Chapter is implemented. Failure to 
obtain a required license shall be unlawful. Each day that a person fails to have a license as required by 
this Section shall constitute a separate offense. Upon conviction, a person may be fined up to five hundred 
dollars ($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. 

Section 635.040 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

As used in this Chapter, the following terms shall have these prescribed meanings: 

APARTMENT BUILDING  
A building or structure containing more than six (6) rental dwelling units. 

DWELLING  
A building or structure, or portion of a building or structure, designed for or used for human 
habitation. 

DWELLING UNIT  
Any room or group of rooms located within a dwelling and forming a single habitable unit with 
cooking, living, sanitary and/or sleeping facilities. 

IMEDIATE FAMLIY  
One’s spouse, child or adopted child, father, mother, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, 
brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparents, or grandparent-in-law, grandchild, or any natural or 
adopted child or grandchild of one’s spouse. 

 
LAWFUL OCCUPANT 

The occupant(s) of a dwelling or dwelling unit; or the owner of such that is unoccupied. 

MANAGER  
Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others, does any of the following: shows rental 
dwelling units to prospective tenants; enters lease agreements on the owner's behalf; receives rent 
from tenants; and / or otherwise supervises the maintenance or management of the premises. 

OCCUPANT  
Any person(s) living, sleeping, cooking, eating or actually having possession or control of a dwelling 
or dwelling unit. 

OCCUPANCY 
The act of living, sleeping, cooking, eating or actually having possession or control of a dwelling or 
dwelling unit. 

OWNER  
Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others: 

1. Has legal title to any building with or without accompanying actual possession thereof; or  



2. Has charge, care or control of any building or structure or part thereof as agent or personal 
representative of the person having legal title to the building or structure or part thereof; or  

3. Has possession or right to possession under a contract for deed.  

PERSON  
Any individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, cooperative or governmental agency. 

PREMISES  
The building(s) in which the rental dwelling unit(s) is located and all land appurtenant to such 
building(s) on a single parcel. 

REGISTERED AGENT  
The person designated by the owner to be the agent required by Section 635.060(1) of this Code. 

RENT 
To provide or to offer for possession or occupancy a dwelling or dwelling unit to a tenant for 
consideration, pursuant to a written, oral, or implied agreement. 

 
RENTAL DWELLING  

A dwelling or dwelling unit(s) designed for or used for human habitation and offered to a non-owner 
or third-party for rent and/or occupancy. 
 

RENTAL DWELLING LICENSE  
A license issued by the City permitting a dwelling or dwelling unit to be rented and/or occupied by 
persons other than the owner and the owner’s immediate family (as related by blood, marriage, or 
adoption) subject to the terms of this Chapter. 

 

SUBSTANDARD 
As defined in Section 635.110. 

TENANT 
Any person who occupies a dwelling or dwelling unit, other than the owner, the owner’s immediate 
family (as related by blood, marriage, or adoption), or any person residing with the owner. 

 
Section 635.050 What The License Covers.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. One (1) rental dwelling license shall be issued for each premises with one or more rental dwelling 
units and shall be deemed to cover all such dwelling units under common ownership on the 
premises.  

B. The City shall have authority to exercise its licensing powers under this Chapter including the power 
to issue, renew, deny, revoke and suspend a rental dwelling license with respect to an entire premises 
or only a specific dwelling unit(s) found to be in violation of this Code.  

Section 635.060 Application For Rental Dwelling License.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The owner of each rental dwelling shall make written application to the City for a rental dwelling 
license to carry on the business of renting residential dwellings. In addition, the owner of such rental 
dwelling(s) constructed or converted to rental usage shall make written application to the City for a 
rental dwelling license as herein provided prior to initial occupancy. Such application, including 



application for a provisional license, shall be made on a form furnished by the City for such purpose 
and shall set forth the following information: 

1. Owner's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If the owner is a partnership, the name 
of the partnership and the name, residence address, telephone number and date of birth of the 
managing partner. If the owner is a corporation, the name and address of the corporation and the 
name, residence address, telephone number and date of birth of the chief operating officer. A post 
office box is not acceptable as a mailing address for any such person.  

2. In cases where the owner of a rental dwelling resides outside of Johnson County, the owner shall 
designate a Registered Agent who shall reside within the limits of Johnson County. That registered 
agent's name, address and telephone number must be included on the application. A post office box 
is not acceptable as a mailing address for a Registered Agent. The registered agent shall be jointly 
and severally responsible with the owner for: 

a. The upkeep and maintenance of the premises;  

b. Compliance with this Chapter and all other Codes regulating the premises; and  

c. Acceptance, service or process of all notices under this Chapter.  

3. Manager's name, address, telephone number and date of birth. If some natural person other than the 
owner, r or Registered Agent is actively involved in and responsible for the maintenance and 
management of the premises, that person's name, address, telephone number and date of birth must 
be given in the application.  A post office box is not acceptable as a mailing for any person.  

4. Address identifying location of the rental dwelling.  

5. Number and type of rental dwelling units in any building(s)  

6. Year of construction of the building(s). 

 No application shall be considered without payment of the fee prescribed by Section 635.220. 

Section 635.070 Expiration — Renewal.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

All rental dwelling licenses issued under this Chapter shall be renewed by January first (1st) of each year 
and shall be subject to renewal year to year as described in this Chapter. All licensees shall apply for 
renewal on a form provided by the City. The renewal application may be abbreviated as deemed sufficient 
by the City. No renewal shall be granted without payment of the required annual license fee. 

Section 635.080 Licensing Standards.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The following standards and conditions shall be met in order to hold a rental dwelling license under 
this Chapter: 

1. The licensee or applicant shall have paid the required license fee;  

2. The licensee or applicant shall have paid any and all required inspection and re-inspection fees;  

3. If the licensee is a business entity required to register with the Secretary of State, then such entity 
shall be and remain in good standing with the Kansas Secretary of State. 

4. The rental dwelling units shall not exceed the maximum number of dwelling units permitted by the 



zoning;  

5. No rental dwelling or unit shall be over occupied or illegally occupied in violation of Title IV or 
Title V of this Code; 6. The rental dwelling shall not be under a condemnation as hazardous or unfit 
for human habitation under this Code or a State Statute;  

6. The rental dwelling shall not be maintained in a substandard condition, as defined in Section 
635.110.  The owner shall not suffer or allow weeds, vegetation, junk, debris or rubbish to 
accumulate repeatedly on the exterior of the premises so as to create a nuisance condition; and  

7. Rental dwellings shall remain in compliance with any and all other applicable City Codes/Buildings 
Codes.  

 
Section 635.090 Periodic Inspections of Apartment Buildings   
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The City shall be empowered to periodically inspect the interior and exterior of apartment buildings 
within the City to ensure compliance with this Chapter and other applicable Chapters, as set forth in 
Section 635.010. The City shall endeavor to inspect at least five percent (5%) of units in each apartment 
building annually, provided that a minimum of one (1) unit shall be inspected annually in each apartment 
building. The selection of individual units to be inspected shall be by the City pursuant to its policies.  

The City shall provide reasonable prior notice and obtain the signed consent of the lawful occupant prior 
to performing a periodic interior inspection. The lawful occupant of a rental unit shall have the right to 
refuse entry for a periodic interior inspection pursuant to K.S.A.  12-16,138. If entry is refused, the City 
may request to enter and inspect a substitute unit within the same building or property. The City shall not 
seek an administrative search warrant or exercise other lawful means to enter a property solely for 
refusing a periodic interior inspection, but may otherwise seek entry for cause as set forth in Section 
635.130.  

Section 635.100 Minimum Inspection Standards.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. The minimum standard to be used for inspections shall be compliance with the International 
Property Maintenance Code, International Building Code, International Existing Building Code, 
International Residential Code, International Fire Code, International Fuel Gas Code, International 
Mechanical Code, International Plumbing Code, International Energy Conservation Code, and the 
National Electrical Code as adopted in Chapter 500 of this Code.  

Section 635.110 Substandard Dwellings and Dwelling Units.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The City shall determine if a rental dwelling structure or any rental dwelling unit therein shall be 
considered substandard. In doing so, the City shall utilize the definitions, criteria and standards for 
building safety and maintenance adopted in the Municipal Code of the City of Mission or incorporated 
therein by reference. Pursuant to the foregoing, the City shall establish a written guideline upon which the 
determination will be based. A copy of said guideline shall be available for review and inspection in the 
City Clerk's office.  

Upon a determination that a dwelling or dwelling unit is substandard, the City shall give notice of the 
substandard conditions found and the corrective actions to be taken, and will specify the period of time 
the owner or registered agent has to perform those actions before further action is taken. Owners who fail 
to correct substandard conditions within the allotted time may be subject to denial, non-renewal, or 
revocation of their license to rent the substandard dwelling or dwelling unit pursuant to Section 635.140.  



Section 635.120 Hazardous or Unfit Dwellings.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

When a rental dwelling or dwelling unit is determined to be unfit or hazardous pursuant to this Code or 
applicable Kansas Statutes, the rental dwelling license shall be revoked on the effective date of said 
determination. The dwelling shall be eligible to hold a rental dwelling license only after inspection and 
approval pursuant to the conditions established by the City. 

Section 635.130 Inspections for Cause; Right of Entry.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The City’s representative responsible for the administration and enforcement of this Chapter may enter a 
building or premises at all reasonable times to conduct exterior and interior inspections of any rental 
dwelling: 

A.  Having received three (3) or more notices of violation of the International Property 
Maintenance Code during the annual rental licensing period;  

B.  When the lawful occupant of the dwelling requests an inspection; 

C.  When a dwelling unit within the same building or property has been determined to be 
substandard pursuant to Section 635.110; or 

D.  Where probable cause exists to believe that an unsafe, dangerous, or hazardous condition exists 
in such building or premises. 

The City shall provide reasonable prior notice of entry to the lawful occupant and the owner, manager, or 
registered agent of the property. The City shall attempt to obtain entry from the lawful occupant and a 
consent form signed by the lawful occupant. If entry is refused, the City shall have the authority to seek 
entry pursuant to an administrative search warrant or other lawful means. 

Section 635.140 Denial — Non-Renewal — Revocation — Suspension of License.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Failure to comply with the licensing standards as set forth in Section 635.080 shall be unlawful. If 
the City determines that any rental dwelling or rental dwelling unit fails to comply with the licensing 
standards, the City shall give notice of the violation. The notice shall provide: 

1. That the City has determined that the building fails to comply with the licensing standards for the 
rental dwelling as set forth in Section 635.080 and the particulars thereof;  

2. The specific reasons why the building fails to meet licensing standards, including copies of 
applicable inspection reports;  

3. That the City will deny, refuse to renew, revoke or suspend the license or provisional license unless 
the owner appeals the determination within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the notice in the manner 
provided in Section 635.170;  

4. That after any denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension, the rental dwelling or the affected 
rental dwelling units therein must be vacated and shall not be reoccupied until a license is issued 
after approval by the City; and  

5. A description of how an appeal may be filed under Section 635.170.  

B. The City shall cause a notice to tenants to be prominently posted on the building. The notice shall 
indicate that the rental dwelling license for the building has been denied, revoked or suspended, 



whichever is applicable; that the action will become final on a specific date unless the building 
owner appeals and requests a hearing; that tenants may be required to vacate the building when the 
action becomes final.  

C. The owner and/or owner's agent may be charged in Municipal Court for failure to comply with the 
licensing standards. If the Municipal Court determines that the violations of the licensing standards 
do in fact exist, then the owner and/or owner's agent may be fined in accordance with Section 
100.100 of the City’s Municipal Code. Each day that the violation exists shall constitute a separate 
offense. Any such conviction in Municipal Court shall result in immediate revocation of the rental 
dwelling license owner and owner's agent.  

D. If the tenant fails to vacate the residence for which the license has been revoked, the tenant may be 
charged in Municipal Court for unlawful possession of a rental dwelling. Upon conviction, the tenant 
may be fined five hundred dollars ($500.00) or sentenced up to five (5) days in jail or both. Each 
such day that the tenant remains unlawfully in possession of the rental dwelling shall constitute a 
separate offense.  

Section 635.150 Notices.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

Whenever a notice is required to be sent to or served upon the licensee of a rental dwelling under this 
Chapter, notice shall be deemed sufficient if sent by first class mail to the owner or owner's registered 
agent at the address specified in the last license application filed. Notice may also be sent to the   manager 
of the premises. If the dwelling unit is not licensed pursuant to this Chapter, notice is deemed sufficient if 
sent by first class mail to the person listed for the purposes of paying taxes on the property. Notices so 
mailed are sufficient whether actually received or returned.   

Section 635.160 Duties of Licensee.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Every holder of a rental dwelling license shall: 

1. Receive a rental dwelling license certificate which shall contain the name and address of the 
owner of the rental property. Said certificate shall be maintained by the licensee on the 
premises, if possible, or at the licensee’s principal place of business or with the registered agent, 
and shall be made available, upon request, to any tenant of a dwelling unit or to any official of 
the City. 

3. Notify the City in writing of any changes of information contained in the last license application 
filed within thirty (30) days of such change.  

4. Maintain a current register of all tenants and other persons with a lawful right of occupancy to a 
dwelling unit within the building. The register shall be kept current at all times. The licensee 
shall designate the person who has possession of the register. The register shall be available for 
inspection by the City at all times.  

B. The owner of any dwelling that is required to be licensed by this Chapter shall, prior to the time of 
transfer of title of the dwelling, notify the new owner in writing of all unabated orders and violations 
issued by the City pertaining to such dwelling, as well as the requirement of law that the dwelling, 
upon transfer to a new owner, must be licensed with the City. A copy of the notification shall be 
mailed to the City within five (5) days of furnishing the notification to the buyer. If a corporation 
owns the dwelling, an officer of the corporation shall carry out the notification required by this 
Section. Time of transfer is the time upon the execution of any document providing for the 
conveyance of a dwelling required to be licensed.  



Section 635.170 Appeals Procedure.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Any person wishing to appeal the determination, denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension of a 
license or provisional license shall file a written notice of appeal with the City within fifteen (15) 
days after receipt of the notice of denial, non-renewal, revocation or suspension. The notice of 
appeal shall contain a statement of the grounds for the appeal and shall be accompanied by a fee of 
one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

B. The appeal will be heard by a board comprised of one (1) City employee designated by the City 
Administrator, , one (1)  owner or manager of a licensed rental property not party to an appeal, two 
(2) residents of the City of Mission, one (1) member of the Mission Planning Commission and two 
(2) Code Officials from two (2) cities in Johnson County, Kansas. The board shall establish meetings 
on an as-needed basis. 

C. The hearing will be held no later than forty-five (45) days after the receipt of the written notice of 
appeal.  

D. At the hearing, the board shall hear all relevant evidence and argument. The board may admit and 
give effect to evidence that possesses value commonly accepted by reasonably prudent persons in 
the conduct of their affairs.  

E. The board shall render its decision in writing within fifteen (15) days after the close of the hearing. 
The decision shall determine whether the building or the dwelling units therein, meets the licensing 
standards of this Chapter and shall specify the factual basis for the determination.  

F. The board may affirm, modify or reverse the action appealed.   

G.  Notice of the final decision of the board shall be served upon the license holder or applicant.  

H. A notice of the final decision shall be mailed to each occupant and prominently posted on the 
building. The notice shall indicate the date upon which tenants must vacate the building, if 
applicable, and shall clearly indicate which dwelling units are affected.  

Section 635.180 Vacation of Affected Dwelling Units.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

When an application for a rental dwelling license has been denied or a rental dwelling license or 
provisional license has been revoked, suspended or not renewed, the City shall order the dwelling or the 
affected dwelling units therein vacated, giving tenants a reasonable time to arrange new housing and to 
move their possessions. 

Section 635.190 Operation of Rental Dwelling Without License A Misdemeanor.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A person who allows to be occupied or rents to another any rental dwelling unit without a license as 
required in Section 635.030 of this Code is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable as provided in Section 
100.100 of the Municipal Code of Mission. 

Section 635.200 License Non-Transferable.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. A license issued hereunder is non-transferable. A new license application shall be required for each 
change of ownership of a rental dwelling.  

 
B. A new owner shall submit an application for a rental dwelling license in accordance with this 



Chapter (including rental license fee) no more than 30 days from the date of taking title to the 
property, provided a rental license is still required for the property. 

 

Section 635.210 Remedies in This Chapter Are Not Exclusive.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

The remedies provided in this Chapter are not exclusive. They are in addition to and do not supersede or 
pre-empt other remedies such as condemnation, written violation orders and warnings and criminal 
charges for violation of substantive provisions of any City or State Code relating to housing maintenance, 
fire safety, building codes, zoning, health and the like. Further, the remedies in this Chapter do not 
supersede or affect the legal rights and remedies of tenants provided under State law or this Code. 

Section 635.220 License and Inspection Fees — Same To Act As Lien On Real Property.  
[Ord. No. 1225 §2, 12-13-2006; Ord. No. 1253 §2, 12-19-2007]  

A. Annual license fees shall be assessed according to the following schedule: 

1. Single-family/duplex property: $62.00.  

2. Tri-plex property: $30.00 per unit.  

3. Apartments and all other multi-family: $10.00 per unit.  

B. The initial periodic inspections described in Section 635.100 shall be at no cost to the 
owner. The City shall be empowered to recover part or all of its actual cost to perform all other 
inspections, including a reasonable administrative fee, from the rental property’s owner. Inspections 
that the owner may be held financially liable for include, but are not limited to, inspections for cause 
pursuant to Section 635.130 and repeat inspections of property previously found substandard, 
unsafe, or dangerous. The administrative fee shall be in the amount set by Section 103.110 for the 
administrative costs of nuisance abatement. All license, inspection, abatement or other fees that 
remain unpaid thirty (30) days after the City has demanded the same shall act as a lien on the 
subject real property and be entered on the County tax roll when consistent with, and in a manner 
allowed by, the laws of the State of Kansas. 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6f. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   24,   2017 

PUBLIC   WORKS From: John   Belger 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Sylvester   Powell,   Jr.   Community   Center   (SPJCC)   Parking   Lot   Maintenance 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Approve   the   contract   with   O’Donnell-Way   Construction   for   the 
Community   Center   Parking   Lot   Maintenance   project   in   an   amount   not   to   exceed 
$174,752.85. 
 
DETAILS:    Funds   were   budgeted   in   the   2017   Capital   Improvement   Program   (CIP)   to 
replace   deteriorated   pavement,   maintain   the   newer   pavement,   and   improve   the   ADA 
accessibility   in   the   parking   lots   surrounding   the   Community   Center.   Earlier   this   year,     the 
Council   authorized   Olsson   Associates   to   prepare   contract   documents   and   provide 
construction   inspection   services   for   the   project.   After   working   through   the   design 
process,   staff   believed   the   budgeted   figure   was   low,   but   proceeded   to   bid   the   project   to 
determine   our   options. 
 
The   project   was   advertised   and   bids   were   opened   on   June   29th,   2017.   There   were 
three   (3)   bidders,   with   O’Donnell   Way   Construction   being   the   lowest   and   most 
responsive. 
 

Bidder Total   Bid 
O'Donnell   Way   (adjusted) $174,752.85 
Little   Joe's   Asphalt $220,396.14 
McAnany $229,183.40 

 
Despite   the   fact   the   project   significantly   exceeds   the   original   budget   ($100,000),   staff   is 
recommending   to   proceed   with   the   project.   Funds   are   available   in   the   Parks   & 
Recreation   Sales   Tax   Fund   to   cover   the   costs.   The   project   could   be   phased   over 
multiple   years,   but   will   only   continue   to   defer   the   required   maintenance,   and   could 
potentially   end   up   costing   more   in   the   future.  
 
Staff   worked   with   O’Donnell   Way   to   develop   some   alternatives   to   the   cape   seal 
treatment   originally   proposed   which   resulted   in   savings   of   approximately   $4,267.84.   The 
plans   and   contract   documents   are   included   in   the   packet.  
 
    CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:    The   Community   Center   is   utilized   by   persons   of 
all   ages   and   abilities.   This   project   will   bring   the   parking   areas   into   compliance   with 
Americans   with   Disabilities   Act   (ADA)   Standards   and   repair   pavement   that   is   disrepair. 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description: Parks   and   Recreation   Sales   Tax   Fund            45-90-805-09 

Available   Budget: $174,752.85 

 















Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Cost Total
1 Force Account LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00
2 Unclassified ExcavationCY 799 $46.38 $37,057.62
3 Compaction of EarthworkCY 34 $80.00 $2,720.00
4 2" Milling SY 1333 $5.12 $6,824.96
5 Cape Seal SY 2156 $5.64 $12,159.84
6 2" Asphalt SurfaceTON 150 $66.73 $10,009.50
7 6" Asphalt Base TON 924 $54.15 $50,034.60
8 Stamped Concrete PavementSY 84 $90.00 $7,560.00
9 Concrete EntranceSY 42 $81.00 $3,402.00

10 Aggregate Base TON 696 $17.87 $12,437.52
11 Curb & Gutter LF 431 $25.00 $10,775.00
12 Sidewalk Ramp SF 75 $7.00 $525.00
13 Sidewalk Ramp w/ Warning SurfaceSF 27 $7.00 $189.00
14 Warning Surface SF 24 $50.00 $1,200.00
15 4" Thermo LF 2893 $0.75 $2,169.75
16 30" Thermo LF 117 $28.00 $3,276.00
17 Handicap MarkingEACH 16 $230.00 $3,680.00
18 Wheel Stops EACH 12 $100.00 $1,200.00
19 R&R Sign EACH 7 $100.00 $700.00
20 R&R Electrical EACH 1 $500.00 $500.00
21 ADA Sign EACH 4 $100.00 $400.00
22 Staking LS 1 $800.00 $800.00
23 Traffic Control LS 1 $400.00 $400.00
24 Sod SY 15 $26.66 $399.90
25 Topsoil CY 3 $200.00 $600.00

$179,020.69
($ 287.60)         









B
E

V
E

R
LY

 A
V

E
N

U
E

MARTWAY STREET

SYLVESTER POWELL COMMUNITY CENTER

2

G
E

N
E

R
A

L 
LA

Y
O

U
T,

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L 

S
E

C
TI

O
N

 A
N

D
 S

U
R

V
E

Y
 C

O
N

TR
O

L

TYPICAL SECTION

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
T_LAY_171_43299

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017

TYPICAL SECTION



RECAPITULATION OF QUANTITIES

ITEM  NO. ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY

1 Force Account (Set) Lump Sum 1
2 Unclassified Excavation * Cu. Yd. 799
3 Compaction of Earthwork (All types) Cu. Yd. 34
4 2" Milling Sq. Yd. 1333
5 Cape Seal Sq. Yd. 2156
6 2" Asphaltic Concrete (Intermediate Course)(North Parking lot) Ton 150
7 6" Asphaltic Concrete (Intermediate Course)(South Parking lot) Ton 924
8 Concrete Pavement (4")(Stamped Color) Sq. Yd. 84
9 Concrete Entrance Pavement (8") Sq. Yd. 42

10 Aggregate for Base (AB-3 ) Ton 696
11 Curb & Gutter (Type B) Lin. Ft. 431
12 Sidewalk Ramp (6") Sq. Ft. 75
13 Sidewalk Ramp With Detectable Warning Surface Sq. Ft. 27
14 Detectable Warning Surface Sq. Ft. 24
15 4" White Thermoplastic Lin. Ft. 2893
16 30" White Pre-Formed Thermoplastic Lin. Ft. 117
17 White ADA Handicap Marking Pre-Formed Thermoplastic Each 16
18 Wheel Stop Each 12
19 Remove and Reset Sign Each 7
20 Remove & Reset Electrical Box Each 1
21 ADA Accessible Parking Sign Each 4
22 Contractor Construction Staking Lump Sum 1
23 Traffic Control Lump Sum 1
24 Sod (Fescue) Sq. Yd. 15
25 Topsoil Cu. Yd. 3

* Existing pavement thickness assumed to be 6 inches

3

G
E

N
E

R
A

L 
N

O
TE

S
 A

N
D

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F 
Q

U
A

N
TI

TI
E

S

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
T_GEN_171_43299

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017

WHEEL STOP DETAIL
ELEVATION A-A

NOTE:



B
E

V
E

R
LY

 A
V

E
N

U
E

4

D
E

M
O

LI
TI

O
N

 &
 R

E
M

O
V

A
LS

LEGEND

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
T_DEM_171_43299

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017



B
E

V
E

R
LY

 A
V

E
N

U
E

5

P
LA

N
 S

H
E

E
T

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
T_PP1_171_43299

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017

LEGEND



6

IS
LA

N
D

 D
E

TA
IL

 - 
S

O
U

TH
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 L

O
T

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
T_MED_171_43299

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017

LEGEND



RELATED ORDINANCES: 

REVISIONS:

7DATE: SHEET: 

STANDARD DETAILS
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Year 2016 Edition

CONCRETE CURB WITH ASPHALT PAVEMENT
(COLLECTOR AND RESIDENTIAL STREETS)

http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings


R

P

RP

R

R

P

R

R

P

RP

SHEET: 8

SIDEWALK & SIDEWALK RAMP DETAILS

REVISIONS:

RELATED ORDINANCES: 

DATE: 01/20/04

STANDARD DETAILS
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Year 2016 Edition

http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings


RR
PP

R
P

R

P

COMMERCIAL ENTRANCE DETAIL
DATE:

RELATED ORDINANCES: 

REVISIONS:

9SHEET: 

STANDARD DETAILS
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Year 2016 Edition

http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings
http://www.opkansas.org/Doing-Business/Standard-and-Construction-Detailed-Drawings


TR
A

FF
IC

 C
O

N
TR

O
L 

D
E

TA
IL

S

20

SHEET

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

B
Y

w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 9
13

.3
81

.1
17

0
FA

X
  9

13
.3

81
.1

17
4

73
01

 W
es

t 1
33

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
O

ve
rla

nd
 P

ar
k,

 K
S

 6
62

13
-4

75
0

R

AKU
RBC
PBM
JAF

014-3299
F_TC-DETAILS

of

S
Y

LV
E

S
TE

R
 P

O
W

E
LL

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 C
E

N
TE

R

M
IS

S
IO

N
, K

A
N

S
A

S
20

17

10

N
O

T 
FO

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

6/6/2017

10



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6g. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   26,   2017 

Parks   &   Recreation From: Christy   Humerickhouse 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 

 
RE:    Dog   Park   Task   Force   Recommendation 
 
RECOMMENDATION:       Approve   the   Resolution   outlining   the   recommendations   of   the   Dog   Park 
Task   Force   and   the   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission. 
 
DETAILS:       A   Mission   Dog   Park   Task   Force   was   established   in   February   of   this   year   by   Mayor 
Schowengerdt   to   research,   evaluate,   and   make   a   recommendation   to   the   Parks,   Recreation   and 
Tree   Commission   regarding   the   feasibility   of   creating   an   off-leash   dog   park   in   Mission.   The   Task 
Force   was   comprised   of   City   Council   members,   Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   (PRT)   Commission 
members,   residents.   Members   included: 
 

Anne   O’Leary   (co-chair) Kristin   Inman   (co-chair) 
Erin   Beaslin Nick   Schlossmacher 
Nancy   Coates Sollie   Flora 

 
Staff   supporting   the   work   of   the   Task   Force   included:   Dan   Madden,   Christy   Humerickhouse, 
John   Belger,   and   Brent   Morton. 
 
The   Task   Force   was   asked   to   develop   a   Dog   Park   recommendation   in   the   context   of   the   Parks 
and   Recreation   Master   Plan   projects   and   priorities.   The   Task   Force   met   six   times   between 
February   and   June,   and   the   meetings   included   a   tour   of   six   existing   metro   area   dog   parks   and 
presentations   by   two   other   cities   currently   operating   dog   parks. 
 
The   Task   Force   forwarded   the   following   recommendation   to   the   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree 
Commission: 
 
“The   City   should   create   a   “Friends   of   the   Mission   Dog   Park”   support   group   to: 
 

1. Explore   private   funding   and   sponsorships   for   the   creation   of   a   dog   park, 
2. Identify   and   analyze   unused   open   space   for   conversion   to   or   creation   of   a   dog   park, 

including   land   acquisition   and   partnerships, 
3. Based   on   the   land   identified,   recommend   use   restriction   or   limitations, 
4. Develop   preliminary   construction   cost   estimates   for   the   dog   park, 
5. Develop   on-going   operations   and   maintenance   costs   (including   staff), 
6. Consider   and   recommend   other   dog   amenities   the   City   could   offer   the   residents.” 

 
 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6g. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   26,   2017 

Parks   &   Recreation From: Christy   Humerickhouse 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 

 
The   recommendation   was   initially   presented   at   the   June   meeting   of   the   PRT   Commission. 
Members   took   a   month   to   evaluate   and   consider   the   recommendation,   soliciting   input   from 
Mission   residents   to   gather   a   broader   sense   of   the   community   support   for   a   dog   park. 
 
At   the   July   PRT   Commission   meeting,   there   was   consensus   among   the   members   a   dog   park 
would   be   a   nice   addition   to   Mission’s   park   system,   but   that   current   dedicated   park   monies 
should   be   spent   to   improve   or   maintain   the   existing   parks.   As   such,   the   PRT   amended   the 
recommendation   of   the   Dog   Park   Task   Force   to   include   a   provision   outlining   that   current 
dedicated   park   funding   not   be   committed   to   the   creation   of   a   dog   park. 
 
The   work   of   the   Dog   Park   Task   Force   and   the   resulting   recommendation   has   been   captured   in   a 
Resolution   for   Council   consideration. 
 
UPDATE:       At   the   August   9th   Community   Development   Committee   meeting,   Section   1   of   the 
Resolution   was   amended   to   remove   the   restriction   that   land   being   considered   and   evaluated   as 
potential   sites   for   a   dog   park   did   not   have   to   be   “unused.”   In   addition,   Section   3   was   added   to 
require   the   “Friends   of   the   Dog   Park”   support   group   to   report   back   to   the   Community 
Development   Committee   in   March   2018.  
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:    NA 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



July   21,   2017 
 
 
 
Mission   City   Council   Members, 
 
The   Mission   Dog   Park   Task   Force   was   established   in   February   of   this   year   by   Mayor 
Schowengerdt   to   research,   evaluate,   and   make   a   recommendation   to   the   Parks,   Recreation   and 
Tree   Commission   regarding   the   feasibility   of   creating   an   off-leash   dog   park   in   Mission   for   our 
consideration.   The   Task   Force   was   comprised   of   City   Council   members,   Parks,   Recreation   and 
Tree   Commission   members,   residents,   and   others   who   have   ongoing   interaction   and   contact 
with   dog   owners   in   our   community. 
 
The   Task   Force   was   asked   to   develop   a   recommendation   in   the   context   of   the   Parks   and 
Recreation   Master   Plan   projects   and   priorities.   The   Task   Force   met   six   times   between   February 
and   June,   and   the   meetings   included   a   tour   of   six   existing   metro   area   dog   parks   and 
presentations   by   two   other   cities   currently   operating   dog   parks.   Based   on   the   information 
collected   through   the   process,   the   Task   Force   presented   the   following   findings: 
 

● Whereas,   study   and   analysis   of   a   dog   park   was   a   Priority   I   recommendation   included   in 
the   Parks   and   Recreation   Master   Plan;   and 

● Whereas,   Parks   and   Recreation   leaders   from   communities   with   dog   parks   indicate   they 
have   had   overwhelmingly   positive   feedback   from   residents   and   visitors;   and 

● Whereas,   research   indicates   that   a   dog   park   be   a   minimum   of   one   (1)   acre;   and 
● Whereas,   best   practices   recommend   a   dog   park   have   adequate   space   to   “rest”   overused 

areas   on   a   regular   basis;   and 
● Whereas,   all   dog   parks   visited   by   the   Task   Force   were   built   on   donated   land   or   on   land 

that   was   not   being   used   for   any   other   recreational   function   or   activity;   and 
● Whereas,   the   Task   Force   members   believe   there   are   opportunities   for   private   funding 

and/or   sponsorship   for   construction   and   maintenance   of   an   off-leash   dog   park; 
 
As   such,   the   Task   Force   recommended   to   the   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission   to 
approve   and   forward   to   City   Council   that   staff   should   move   forward   with   the   following: 
 

1. Create   a   “Friends   of   the   Mission   Dog   Park”   support   group   to   explore   private   funding   and 
sponsorships. 

2. Identify   and   analyze   unused   open   space   for   conversion   or   creation   of   a   dog   park, 
including   land   acquisition   and   partnerships. 

3. Based   on   the   land   identified,   recommend   use   restrictions   or   limitations. 
4. Develop   preliminary   construction   cost   estimates. 
5. Develop   on-going   operations   and   maintenance   costs   (including   staff). 
6. Consider   and   recommend   other   dog   amenities   the   City   could   offer. 

 



Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission   members   evaluated   and   considered   the 
recommendation   between   their   June   and   July   meetings.   During   this   time   commission   members 
visited   with   Mission   friends   and   neighbors   to   gather   a   wider   sense   of   community   support   for   a 
Dog   Park.   Consensus   from   the   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission   members   is   that   we 
and   a   majority   of   individuals   we   talked   with   understand   that   a   dog   park   would   be   a   nice   added 
feature   to   our   current   park   system,   but   that   current   dedicated   park   monies   should   be   spent   to 
improve   our   existing   parks   and   their   amenities. 
 
Therefore,   the   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission   recommends: 
 

1. The   City/staff   create   a   “Friends   of   the   Mission   Dog   Park”   support   group   to   explore   and 
secure   private   funding   and   sponsorships   for   the   development   of   a   dog   park, 

a. The   “Friends”   group   should   include   members   from   the   city's   parks   and   recreation 
department,   public   works   department,   and   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree 
Commission. 

2. The   City   maintain   that   current   dedicated   funding   for   parks   and   recreation   not   be   used   in 
the   creation/establishment   of   a   dog   park,   but   to   improve   existing   facilities, 

3. The   “Friends”   group   identify   and   analyze   unused   open   space   for   conversion   or   creation 
of   a   dog   park, 

4. Based   on   any   land   that   may   be   identified,   the   “Friends”   group   recommend   use 
restrictions   or   limitations, 

5. The   “Friends”   group   develop   preliminary   construction   cost   estimate   based   on   the   land 
identified, 

6. The   “Friends”   group   develop   on-going   operations   and   maintenance   costs   (including 
staffing), 

7. Consider   and   recommend   other   dog   friendly   amenities   the   City   could   provide   for/offer 
our   residents. 

 
 
Respectfully   submitted   for   your   consideration   by   the   Mission   Parks,   Recreation,   and   Tree 
Commission, 
 
 
 
Mark   Raduziner,   Chairperson 



Dog Park Task Force - Planning Session 
February 17, 2017 

 
 
Mission/Objective: Explore the feasibility of constructing an off-leash dog park in Mission. 
 
Task Force Members:  (see roster)  Depending on who shows at the first meeting, we may 
need to do additional recruiting to keep a balanced perspective.  Have been contacted by two 
residents interested in serving. 
 
Meetings:  First meeting 2/23.  Recommended dates and potential agendas are included 
below.  These can be modified or adjusted as the process unfolds. 
 

Meeting 1 (February 23rd):  Introductions/why agreed to serve on Task Force, review  
mission and objectives, establish committee ground rules, 
start thinking about how we will define success, favorite 
dog parks in metro, review meeting calendar and 
objectives. 
 

Meeting 2 (March 11th): Tour of local dog parks (see attached)  
 

Meeting 3 (March 21st): Tour debrief, brainstorm likes/dislikes, what would  
minimum standards be in Mission, siting options - pros and 
cons, does it have to be within Mission City limits or on 
public property? 
 

Meeting 4 (April 18th): Review and develop options/potential recommendations,  
including costs (construction, operating/maintenance). 
Invite guest speaker from city with dog park to review 
lessons learned.  

 
Meeting 5 (May 18th): Evaluate recommendation in the context of the Parks and  

Recreation Master Plan projects and priorities.  Provide 
staff direction to develop a recommendation. 

 
Meeting 6 (June 6th): Finalize recommendation to be forwarded to Parks and  

Recreation Commission (6/19 meeting) and then City 
Council (7/5 meeting). 

 
Meeting Preparation and Support:  Staff will work to develop meeting agendas and all 
supporting documents.  Can have preparation meetings with co-chairs in advance of each 
meeting.  Meetings will not be lead by staff. 
 



Task Force Tour Sites 
 
Happy Tails Park 
1251 SE Ranson Rd 
Lee's Summit, MO  64063 
 
Dogwood Park 
51 NW Victoria Dr 
Lee's Summit, MO  64066 
 
Tails & Trails Dog Park 
7601 E 139 Street 
Grandview, MO 
 
Leawoof Dog Park 
East of City Park 
106th & Lee Boulevard 
Leawood, KS 
 
Thomas S. Stoll Dog Park 
12500 W 119th St 
Overland Park, KS  

https://www.bringfido.com/attraction/map/3630/
https://www.bringfido.com/attraction/map/3630/


CITY   OF   MISSION 
RESOLUTION   NO.   ____ 

 

A   RESOLUTION   SUPPORTING   THE   RECOMMENDATIONS   OF   THE   DOG   PARK   TASK 
FORCE 

WHEREAS,    the   City   of   Mission   affirms   in   its   Comprehensive   Plan   that   Parks   and 
Recreation   activities   are   “essential   services   for   the   community”   and   that   “wholesome   play   and 
leisure   experiences   enhance   quality   of   life   for   residents   of   all   ages   and   abilities,”   and; 

WHEREAS,    the   City   of   Mission   completed   a   Parks   and   Recreation   Master   Plan   in   2016, 
that   outlined   a   series   of   recommendations   and   projects   for   future   consideration,   and; 

WHEREAS,    the   second   item   within   the   Master   Plan’s   goal   of   expanding   and   improving 
facilities   is   to   “further   study   and   analyze   the   development   and   maintenance   of   a   dog   park”,   and; 

WHEREAS,    an   off-leash   dog   area   provides   a   park   space   that   can   be   utilized   by   people 
of   all   ages   and   can   be   a   great   opportunity   for   people   in   the   community   to   interact,   and; 

WHEREAS,    the   Mayor   convened   a   Dog   Park   Task   Force   in   February   of   2017   to 
research,   evaluate,   and   make   a   recommendation   regarding   the   creation   of   an   off-leash   dog   park 
or   other   dog   amenities   in   Mission,   and; 

WHEREAS,    the   Dog   Park   Task   Force   has   completed   its   work   and   has   established   a   set 
of   recommendations    to   be   ad opted   as   the   policy   of   the   City   of   Mission   and   pursued   by   the   City 
Council. 

NOW,   THEREFORE,   BE   IT   RESOLVED   BY   THE   GOVERNING   BODY   OF   THE   CITY   OF 
MISSION,   KANSAS: 

Section   1.    The   Mission   City   Council   directs   staff   to   create   a   “Friends   of   the   Mission   Dog 
Park”   support   group   to   : 

a.   Explore   private   funding   and   sponsorships   for   the   creation   of   a   dog   park. 

b.      Identify   and   analyze   open   space   for   conversion   to   or   creation   of   a   dog  
               park,   including   land   acquisition   and   partnerships. 
 
c.   Based   on   the   land   identified,   recommend   use   restrictions   or   limitations. 

d.   Develop   preliminary   construction   cost   estimates   for   the   dog   park. 

e.   Develop   on-going   operations   and   maintenance   costs   (including   staff). 

f.   Consider   and   recommend   other   dog   amenities   the   City   could   offer   residents. 



Section   2.    Current   dedicated   park   funding   shall   not   be   committed   to   the   creation   of   a 
dog   park. 

Section   3.      The   “Friends   of   the   Dog   Park”   support   group   will   report   progress   and   findings 
to   the   Community   Development   Committee   in   March   2018. 

THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   PASSED   AND   APPROVED   BY   THE   CITY   COUNCIL   OF   THE   CITY   OF 
MIS SION,    this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 

THIS   RESOLUTION   IS   APPROVED   BY   THE   MAYOR     this   16th   day   of   August   2017. 

 

 

__________________________________ 
Steve   Schowengerdt,   Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 
Martha   Sumrall,   City   Clerk 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6h. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   26,   2017 

Parks   &   Recreation From: Christy   Humerickhouse 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 

 
RE:    Adopt-A-Park   Program 
 
RECOMMENDATION:       Approve   the   Adopt-A-Park   Program   designed   by   the   Mission   Parks, 
Recreation,   and   Tree   Commission. 
 
DETAILS:    Following   the   completion   of   the   Parks   and   Recreation   Master   Plan,   and   after   being 
approached   by   several   different   community   businesses/organizations,   the   Parks,   Recreation, 
and   Tree   (PRT)   Commission   members   began   discussing   the   creation   of   an   Adopt-A-Park 
Program.   A   sub-committee   of   the   PRT   Commission   was   identified   to   review   other   established 
programs   and   put   together   a   program   for   Mission.   The   full   PRT   Commission 
evaluated/discussed   the   framework   and   has   recommended   a   program   for   Council 
implementation   (program   details   attached). 
 
The   Adopt-A-Park   Program   is   a   city-wide   community   service   program   that   recruits   and   trains 
residents   and   local   business   members   to   assist   in   the   general   care   and   maintenance   of 
neighborhood   parks.   It   also   helps   to   educate   the   public   about   creating   and   preserving   clean   and 
safe   parks   for   everyone   to   enjoy.   Tasks   may   include   trash   pickup,   graffiti   reporting   and   removal, 
weeding   /   raking   playground   areas,   sweeping   /   painting   shelters,   cleaning   picnic   tables, 
mulching   trees   /   shrubs,   maintaining   bio-swales,   and   reporting   vandalism. 
 
There   are   a   variety   of   opportunities   available   in   Mission’s   eight   parks   that   can   be   designed   to   fit 
the   needs   of   volunteers   of   all   ages   and   abilities. 
 

● Anderson   Park   -   6000   West   61st   Street,   2   acres 
● Broadmoor   Park   -   5701   Broadmoor,   5   acres 
● Beverly   Park   -   5935   Beverly,   .5   acres 
● Legacy   Park   -   6000   Broadmoor   St.,   1   acre 
● Mohawk   Park   -   67th   St   &   Lamar,   8   acres 
● Pearl   Harbor   Park   -   5925   Maple   St.,   .25   acre 
● Streamway   Park   -   5150   Foxridge   Dr.,   5   acres 
● Waterworks   Park   -   5814   W   53rd   St.,   3   acres 

 
Civic   groups   and   businesses   seeking   to   Adopt-A-Park   will   be   required   to   make   a   one-year 
commitment.   The   adopting   organization   may   elect   to   clean   the   designated   park   on   a   quarterly, 
bimonthly,   or   monthly   basis.   The   City   will   provide   approved   consumable   materials,   equipment, 
and   supplies   to   be   used   in   the   clean   up   efforts,   and   all   volunteers   will   be   required   to   sign   a 
participation   waiver. 
 
 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6h. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   26,   2017 

Parks   &   Recreation From: Christy   Humerickhouse 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 

 
The   Adopt-A-Park   program   will   be   promoted   through   the   Parks   and   Recreation   Department’s 
seasonal   activity   guide,   the   City’s   website   and   Facebook   pages,   the   Mission   Magazine,   and 
promotional   flyers.   Those   organizations   adopting   parks   will   be   recognized   with   signage   in   the 
park. 
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:    The   Adopt-A-Park   program   encourages   civic 
participation   by   maintaining   and   promoting   a   list   of   volunteer   opportunities   within   the   City,   and 
offering   an   easy   means   to   apply.   The   program   provides   flexible   options   for   volunteers   of   all   ages 
and   abilities,   including   recognition   and   guidance. 
 
 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget:  

 



 
 

Mission   Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   Commission 
Adopt   -   A   -   Park   Program 

 
Litter,   Leaves,   &   Love   -   Keep   Mission   Parks   Clean! 

 
What   is   Adopt   -   A   -   Park 
This   is   a   city-wide   community   service   program   that   recruits   and   trains   residents   and   local 
business   members   to   assist   in   the   general   care   and   maintenance   of   neighborhood   parks   while 
helping   to   educate   the   public   about   creating   and   preserving   clean   and   safe   parks   for   everyone 
to   enjoy. 
 
Tasks   may   include   trash   pickup,   graffiti   reporting,   weeding/raking   playground   areas,   sweeping   / 
painting   shelters,   cleaning   picnic   tables,   mulching   trees   /   shrubs,   maintaining   bio-swales,   and 
reporting   vandalism.   While   we   encourage   the   participation   of   all   our   residents,   this   is   intended   to 
be   an   adult   lead   activity. 
 
Who   can   adopt   a   park 

● Businesses 
● Individuals 
● Senior   Groups 
● Neighborhood   Associations 
● Youth   groups   -   individuals   ages   10   and   older 
● Schools   groups   -   ages   10   and   older 
● Church   groups 
● Non-profit   organizations 
● Community   groups 

 
Parks   and   spaces   available   for   adoption 
There   are   a   variety   of   Mission   parks   available   for   adoption   that   can   suit   the   needs   of   volunteers 
of   all   sizes   and   ages. 
 

● Anderson   Park   -   6000   West   61st   Street,   2   acres 
● Broadmoor   Park   -   5701   Broadmoor,   5   acres 
● Beverly   Park   -   5935   Beverly,   .5   acres 
● Legacy   Park   -   6000   Broadmoor   St.,   1   acre 
● Mohawk   Park   -   67th   St   &   Lamar,   8   acres 
● Pearl   Harbor   Park   -   5925   Maple   St.,   .25   acre 
● Streamway   Park   -   5150   Foxridge   Dr.,   5   acres 
● Waterworks   Park   -   5814   W   53rd   St.,   3   acres 

 



What   are   the   Adopt   -   A   -   Park   policies 
1. Civic   groups   and   businesses   may   apply   to   adopt   a   park   in   the   City   of   Mission.   A 

Minimum   one-year   commitment   is   required,   except   in   the   first   year   of   participation   when 
all   new   contracts   will   be   written   through   December   31st   of   that   year.   When   a   contract 
expires,   if   acceptable   to   both   parties,   the   adopting   organization   may   renew   the 
commitment   for   an   additional   year.   Requests   to   adopt   specific   parks   are   processed   on   a 
first-come,   first-served   basis. 

 
2. The   adopting   organization   may   elect   to   clean   the   designated   park   on   a   quarterly, 

bimonthly,   or   monthly   basis.   Certain   parks   may   require   a   monthly   or   bi-monthly 
commitment.   Some   sites   may   require   additional   time   commitments   depending   on   the 
time   of   year. 

 
3. The   City   of   Mission   will   provide   approved   consumable   materials,   equipment,   and 

supplies   to   be   used   in   the   parks. 
 

4. The   City   of   Mission   will   place   a   sign   in   the   adopted   park,   crediting   the   organization   for 
their   assistance. 

 
5. When   children   participate,   the   adopter   will   have   emergency   contact   information 

accessible   at   the   site.   There   must   also   be   one   adult   supervisor   for   every   five   children. 
 

6. All   participants   are   required   to   read   the   safety   information   and   conduct   themselves   in   a 
safe   manner   while   participating   in   the   program.   In   addition,   each   participant   is   required 
to   wear   gloves   while   cleaning   the   park. 

 
7. The   adopting   organization   will   notify   the   City   contact   person   at   least   24   hours   prior   to   the 

cleanup   so   that   arrangements   can   be   made   to   pick   up   debris. 
 

8. The   adopting   organization   agrees   that   it   will   be   responsible   for   any   of   its   volunteers   or 
members   performing   the   work   and   will   defend,   indemnify,   and   hold   the   City   of   Mission 
harmless   from   and   against   any   and   all   liability,   claims,   and   demands   on   account   of   any 
injury   or   loss   that   a   volunteer   might   incur   when   engaged   in   the   work   or   in   any   other   way 
related   to   the   work   performed   under   the   Adopt-A-Park   program. 

 
9. The   Adopting   organization   will   obtain   the   signature   of   each   volunteer   on   the   Volunteer 

Agreement   form   prior   to   the   individual’s   participation   in   the   program.   A   parent   or 
Guardian’s   signature   is   required   for   children   under   the   age   of   eighteen. 

 
 
Adopt-A-Park   volunteers   will   need   to   supply   (as   applicable) 
Gloves 
Rakes  
Brooms 
Weeding   tools 
 
 
 



Safety   DO’s 
● Do   lift   all   objects   with   your   legs,   not   with   your   back. 
● Do   wear   light   or   bright   colored   clothing,   hard-soled   shoes,   and   sturdy   work   gloves.   Wear 

protective   gear:   safety   glasses/goggles,   safety   vests,   long   pants   and   long   sleeves. 
● Do   use   sunblock   and   wear   a   hat. 
● Do   contact   the   parks   and   recreation   department   at   913-722-8210   immediately   if   you 

notice   a   safety   hazard,   such   as   a   broken   swing   or   other   piece   of   play   equipment. 
● Do   tie   bags   tightly   and   place   next   to   trash   receptacles. 
● Do   work   only   during   park/daylight   hours. 
● Do   work   with   a   partner   whenever   possible. 
● Do   make   sure   that   all   participants   in   your   organization   are   familiar   with   the   safety 

precautions. 
● Do   be   cautious   around   thorny   or   poisonous   bushes. 

 
Safety   DON’Ts 

● Don’t   overexert   yourself.   Be   sure   to   take   frequent   breaks,   drink   liquids,   and   dress 
appropriately   for   the   weather. 

● Don’t   work   under   potentially   dangerous   weather   conditions. 
● Don’t   pick   up   materials   that   you   suspect   might   be   hazardous,   such   as   needles,   bloody 

objects   or   drug   paraphernalia.   Instead,   call   the   Police   Department   immediately. 
● Don’t   bring   small   children   or   pets   along   on   the   project. 
● Don’t   ever   leave   children   or   pets   locked   in   the   car   at   work   locations. 
● Don’t   pick   up   litter   close   to   the   edge   of   curbs   unless   oncoming   traffic   is   clearly   visible. 

 
  



 
 

Mission   Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   Commission 
Adopt   -   A   -   Park   Program 

APPLICATION 
 

 
Name   of   Organization   (as   it   is   to   appear   on   sign):   ___________________________________ 
 

________________________________________ 
 
Organization   Contact   Person:   ___________________________________________________ 
 
Telephone   Number:   ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Email   Address:   _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Estimated   Number   of   Participants:   ________________________________________________ 
 
Preferred   Park   for   Adoption:   _____________________________________________________ 
 
Tentative   Starting   Date:   _________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

Statement   of   Agreement 
 

As representative of this organization, I have read and agree to abide by the policies,               
regulations and safety recommendations as put forth by the City of Mission in regard to the                
Adopt-A-Park program. I understand that this is an application for the Adopt-A-Park program             
and that a Parks and Recreation representative will contact me to finalize an agreement. In               
addition, I understand that the Parks and Recreation Director will make the final determination              
as   to   whether   a   group   can   participate   and   the   final   park   assignment. 
 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 
Signature Date 
 



 
 

Mission   Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   Commission 
Adopt   -   A   -   Park   Program 

VOLUNTEER   AGREEMENT 
 
 

I,   __________________________________________,   for   and   in   consideration   of   the   City   of 
Mission’s   permission   to   participate   in   the   Adopt-A-Park   program,   whereby   volunteers   from   the 
community   may   be   involved   in   physical   activity,   working   with   other   volunteers   and   using   yard 
and   outdoor   maintenance   hand   tools   and   equipment   to   clean   up   parks   throughout   the   City   of 
Mission,   and   inherently   involves   risks   that   may   result   in   bodily   injury   or   damage   to   property,   do 
hereby   agree   to   release,   indemnify   and   hold   harmless   the   City   of   Mission,   its   agents,   officers 
and   employees   and   volunteers   from   any   and   all   claims,   liabilities,   demands,   damages,   actions 
or   causes   of   action   of   any   kind   or   character   (including,   without   limitation,   attorney’s   fees,   costs 
and   expenses)   that   may   arise   in   any   manner   by   reason   of   death,   injury,   damage   to   my   person   or 
property   or   both   as   a   result   of   my   participation   in   the   Adopt-A-Park   Program. 
 
I   understand   and   agree   that   this   Waiver   of   Liability   is   binding   upon   my   executors,   administrators, 
personal   representative,   collector's,   heirs,   successors   and   assigns.   This   ___________   day   of 
________________________,   20_________. 
 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 

Signature   of   Participant Print   Full   Name 
 
 
______________________________ ______________________________ 

Signature   of   Witness Printed   Full   Name 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Mission   Parks,   Recreation   and   Tree   Commission 
Adopt   -   A   -   Park   Program 

VOLUNTEER   AGREEMENT 
Minor   Participants 

 
I,   the   undersigned,   hereby   represent   that   my   child(ren)   has/have   volunteered   to   participate   in 
the   Adopt-A-Park   Program   during   the   year   __________.   I   have   read   the   safety   recommendation 
associated   with   the   program   and   have   discussed   them   with   my   child(ren). 
 
I   acknowledge   and   am   aware   that   participation   in   this   program   has   inherent   risks   and   hazards.   I 
understand   that   it   is   my   child(ren)’s   responsibility   to   be   aware   of   his   or   her   physical   condition 
and   refrain   from   doing   any   physical   activities   beyond   his   or   her   capabilities. 
 
For   my   child(ren)   to   participate   in   the   Adopt-A-Park   program,   whereby   volunteers   from   the 
community   may   be   involved   in   physical   activity,   working   with   other   volunteers   and   using   yard 
and   outdoor   maintenance   hand   tools   and   equipment   to   clean   up   parks   throughout   the   City   of 
Mission,   and   inherently   involves   risks   that   may   result   in   bodily   injury   or   damage   to   property, 
agree   to   defend,   indemnify   and   hold   harmless   the   City   of   Mission,   and   its   officers   and   its 
employees,   and   hereby   release   the   same,   from   and   against   any   and   all   liability,   claims, 
demands   and   expenses,   including   court   costs   and   reasonable   attorney   fees,   on   account   of   any 
property   damage,   bodily   injury,   sickness,   damage   or   other   loss   of   any   kind   whatsoever,   which 
arise   out   of   or   are   in   any   manner   connected   with   the   work   to   be   performed   under   the 
Adopt-A-Park   Program,   if   such   injury,   loss   or   damage   is   caused   in   whole   or   in   part   by,   or   is 
claimed   to   be   caused   in   whole   or   in   part   by,   the   act,   omission,   or   other   fault   of   my   child(ren). 
 
 
 
Name   of   Child:   _______________________________________________________________ 
 
Address:   ____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact   in   Case   of   Emergency:   __________________________________________________ 
 
Emergency   Contact   Telephone   Number(s):   _________________________________________ 
 
Parent’s   Signature:   ____________________________________Date:____________________ 
 
 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6j. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: July   28,   2017 

ADMINISTRATION From: Laura   Smith 
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Street   Maintenance   Agreement   -   Kennett   Place   Subdivision 
 
RECOMMENDATION:    Authorize   the   Mayor   to   execute   an   approved   “Agreement   and   Release” 
document   regarding   a   contribution   of   $10,000   for   street   maintenance   in   the   Kennett   Place 
Subdivision. 
 
DETAILS:    T he   City   has   been   in   conversation   with   the   Kennett   Place   Homes   Association   (HOA) 
since   2014   regarding   maintenance   of   the   privately   owned   streets   in   the   subdivision.   In   2016,   the 
City   Council   approved   funds   to   complete   a   chip   seal   treatment.   However,   it   was   later 
determined   that   the   contractor’s   equipment   could   not   pass   through   Kennett   Place’s   entrance 
gates,   so   staff   has   been   working   with   the   HOA   to   develop   an   alternative   solution.  
 
An   agreement   and   release   document   has   been   prepared   to   resolve   the   2016   situation.   The 
Agreement   maintains   the   financial   commitment   of   the   City,   and   allows   the   HOA   to   proceed   with 
street   resurfacing. 
 
The   attached   agreement   has   been   reviewed   and   approved   by   both   the   City’s   attorney   and   legal 
counsel   for   the   HOA. 
 
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:    N/A 
 
 

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance:  

Line   Item   Code/Description:  

Available   Budget: $10,000   (2017) 

 



 
KENNETT PLACE STREET MAINTENANCE 

AGREEMENT AND RELEASE 
DRAFT 

 
 
 WHEREAS, in a letter dated March 31, 1994 (Exhibit A),  Mayor Sylvester Powell, Jr. 

acknowledges that THE CITY OF MISSION, KANSAS (herein known as the “City”) was  

responsible for certain  street maintenance activities on the privately owned streets in the Kennett 

Place subdivision,  and; 

 WHEREAS, at the March 23, 1994 City Council meeting (Exhibit B), the City Council 

voted unanimously to take over the maintenance of the privately owned streets in the Kennett 

Place subdivision, not including construction or snow removal, and; 

 WHEREAS, since the fall of 2014, the City has been in conversation with the KENNETT 

PLACE HOMES ASSOCIATION (herein known as the “HOA”) regarding maintenance of the 

streets in the subdivision, and completed core sampling that indicated the streets were not 

suitable for a mill and overlay treatment, but could be chip sealed to prolong their useful life, 

and;  

 WHEREAS, in 2016 the City approved a chip seal contract with Harbour Construction 

that included all streets in the Kennett Place subdivision for a total cost of $10,000, and it was 

later determined that the contractor’s sealing equipment was unable to pass through the 

subdivision’s entrance gate, and; 

 WHEREAS, the City has continued conversations with the HOA regarding alternative 

resurfacing options for the streets in Kennett Place, and the HOA has indicated it  may  pursue 

other  resurfacing options; 



NOW THEREFORE, in exchange for consideration given by the City ($10,000 which is 

discussed below) to the HOA, the undersigned hereby forever and finally releases the City, its 

officers, agents and employees, from any obligation of maintenance arising before the date of 

this Agreement, and any claim, liability or cause of action it may have for damage to persons or 

property arising from or related to any incident involving the sealing or resurfacing of the streets 

in the Kennett Place subdivision and paid for in whole or in part from the City’s contribution 

given under this Agreement:  

 FURTHER, as long as the HOA completes  street resurfacing  or repairs by November 

30, 2018, the City shall reimburse the sum of $10,000 to the HOA upon presentation of a paid 

invoice documenting such resurfacing  and repairs; and, 

 FINALLY, this Release, and the consideration therefore, shall serve as a full and 

complete release of any and all claims the undersigned may have, whether known or unknown, 

against the City arising from any obligation the City may have had with respect to the streets in 

the Kennett Place Subdivision, arising before the date of this Agreement, and shall constitute a 

waiver of any claim of loss or damage against the City, its officers, agents or employees arising 

from any such obligation between 1994 and the date of this Agreement. 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement and Release has been executed this 

____ day of ____________, 20__. 

 

Signed:____________________________  Signed:____________________________ 

Printed Name:_______________________  Printed Name:_______________________ 

For:  City of Mission, Kansas    For: Kennett Place Homes Association  

Date: ______________________________  Date:______________________________ 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6j. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2017  

Administration  From: Brian   Scott  
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

RE:    Plan   Review   and   Inspections   Services   Associated   with   the   Gateway   Development 
Project  
 
RECOMMENDATION:       Authorize   the   Mayor   to   execute   an   agreement   with   FSC,   Inc.   for 
plan   review   and   inspection   services   associated   with   the   Gateway   development   project. 
 
DETAILS:    In   anticipation   of   the   Gateway   development   project   moving   toward 
construction,   staff   has   evaluated   the   resources   necessary   to   see   the   project   through   to 
a   successful   completion.      One   of   the   resources   that   is   required   immediately   is   plan 
review   and   building   inspection   services. 
 
In   previous   iterations   of   the   project,   Johnson   County’s   Department   of   Planning, 
Development   and   Codes   was   going   to   provide   plan   review   and   building   inspection 
services   as   an   addendum   to   our   existing   interlocal   agreement.   Even   though   the   County 
is   no   longer   providing   these   services,   we   did   specifically   approach   them   about   taking 
this   project   on   a   stand-alone   basis.   They   declined   due   to   workload   and   staff   capacity. 
 
Staff   subsequently   developed   a   Request   For   Proposals   (RFP)   which   was   sent   to   32 
firms   (see   attached).   The   list   included   architectural   and   engineering   firms,   construction 
companies,   and   code   consulting   firms.   The   City   received   three   proposals,   and   two   firms 
were   subsequently   interviewed   -   FSC,   Inc.   and   FPC   Consultants.   Staff   is   recommending 
to   proceed   with   FSC,   Inc.   to   provide   plan   review   and   inspection   services   for   the 
Gateway   development   project. 
 
FSC,   Inc.   is   a   local   firm   with   offices   in   Overland   Park.      They   have   been   in   business   for 
over   35   years   providing   fire   protection   engineering;   mechanical,   electrical,   and   plumbing 
engineering;   structural   engineering,   and   general   code   consulting   services.      The   firm   has 
worked   on   a   number   of   projects   throughout   the   Kansas   City   metropolitan   area,   including 
several   apartments,   hotels,   and   office   projects. 
 
The   scope   of   services   related   to   plan   review   will   include: 
 

● Review   of   building   plans   submitted   by   the   developer’s   architects   and/or 
engineers   for   compliance   with   local   and   state   building   codes 

● Meeting   prior   to   submittal   to   review   preliminary   plans,   answer   questions,   and 
address   concerns 

● Preparing   plan   review   with   comments   submitted   to   the   design   professionals 
● Final   plan   review   and   sign   off  

 
 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance: N/A 

Line   Item   Code/Description: N/A 

Available   Budget: N/A 

 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6j. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2017  

Administration  From: Brian   Scott  
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

Inspection   services   will   entail   being   on   site   to   inspect   various   stages   of   construction   as 
they   are   completed   to   ensure   that   work   has   been   done   in   accordance   with   the   plans 
and   applicable   codes.      This   phase   of   the   work   will   also   include   meetings   to   coordinate 
the   inspections   themselves,   answer   questions,   and   address   and   resolve   any   issues. 
 
In   addition,   it   is   anticipated   that   FSC,   Inc.   will   serve   as   the   City’s   “eye’s   and   ear’s”   on   the 
project,   monitoring   construction   progress,   discussing   potential   issues   with   the   general 
contractor,   and   informing   staff   of   any   concerns.  
 
FSC,   Inc.   will   bill   on   an   hourly   basis.   Their   fees   are   outlined   in   the   attached   proposal.   At 
staff’s   request,   FSC,   Inc.   did   provide   an   overall   estimated   cost   for   Phase   I   of   the 
development   project   based   on   a   review   of   the   plans   submitted   by   the   developer.   This 
would   be   $208,070   for   plan   review   and   inspections,   and   $54,000   for   meetings.   These 
fees   will   be   negotiated   as   part   of   the   development   agreement   with   the   developer. 
 
The   estimated   totals   for   FSC,   Inc.   for   the   entire   project   are   $545,075   for   plan   review   and 
inspection   services,   and   $186,800   to   attend   various   meetings   (project   manager’s   role).  
 
In   addition   to   FSC,   Inc.,   the   City   anticipates   using   GBA   to   review   and   inspect   public 
improvements   associated   with   the   project.   Discussions   with   GBA   about   scope   of   work 
and   costs   will   start   in   the   near   future.  
 
 
In   2013,   the   project   anticipated   the   following   in   third   party   review,   inspection   and   project 
management   contracts: 
 

Konrath $         736,903 
GBA $         249.900 
Jo   County $         339,348 

 
Total $1,326,241 

 
Comparatively   the   2017   project   anticipates: 
 

FS&C $      731,875 
GBA $      249,90 0   (2013   cost)  

 
Total $   981,775 

 
 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance: N/A 

Line   Item   Code/Description: N/A 

Available   Budget: N/A 

 



 

City   of   Mission Item   Number: 6j. 

ACTION   ITEM   SUMMARY Date: August   4,   2017  

Administration  From: Brian   Scott  
Action   items   require   a   vote   to   recommend   the   item   to   full   City   Council   for   further   action. 
 

An   agreement   is   currently   being   developed   and   will   be   included   in   the   City   Council 
packet   this   Friday.  
 
CFAA   CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACTS:       N/A  

 

Related   Statute/City   Ordinance: N/A 

Line   Item   Code/Description: N/A 

Available   Budget: N/A 

 



                                              

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

FOR 

PROFESSIONAL BUILING PLAN REVIEW AND INSPECTIONS SERVICES 

FOR THE GATEWAY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

 

ISSUED: JUNE 23, 2017 

 

RESPONSES DUE BY:  4:00 P.M. (CST), FRIDAY JULY 14, 2017  

TO: City Clerk  

City of Mission  

6090 Woodson St. 

Mission, KS 66202    

 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    2 
 

1. INTRODUCTION  

The City of Mission, Kansas is requesting proposals from qualified firms to provide professional 

building plan review and inspection services for the Gateway development project.  The 

primary purpose of these services will be to insure compliance with all City building codes and 

applicable state regulations.  The selected firm will also serve as the City’s representative in 

ensuring that the Gateway development project is built in accordance with approved plans and 

development agreements.   

A full Request for Proposals for Professional Building Plan Review and Inspections Services for 

the Gateway Development Project can be obtained from the City’s website – www.mission.org 

To be considered, four (4) copies of a response to this request must be received by the City 

Clerk at Mission City Hall, 6090 Woodson St., Mission, KS 66202 no later than 4:00 p.m. CST on 

Friday, July 14, 2017.   

 

2. BACKGROUND 

 

2.1. The City of Mission  

 

The city of Mission is a suburban community within the Kansas City metropolitan area.  More 

specifically, it is located in Northeast Johnson County, Kansas, approximately two miles west of 

the Missouri/Kansas state line and the city of Kansas City, Missouri.   

 

Incorporated in 1951, Mission experienced much of its development and growth in the years 

immediately following the Second World War.  Considered today to be a first-tier suburb of 

Kansas City, the city of Mission is completely land-locked by neighboring communities and 

nearly fully developed.  The city is 2.87 square miles in size and has a population of 9,323 

residents. 

  

2.2. Gateway Development Project   

 

Sitting at the city’s eastern gateway is an approximately 17 acre parcel of property that is 

currently vacant.  The property, bounded by Roe Boulevard, Johnson Drive, Shawnee Mission 

Parkway, and Roeland Drive was the site of the former Mission Mall, built in the late 1980’s. 

 

The mall was purchased in 2005 and demolished in 2006 to clear the site and prepare for the 

construction of a new mixed-use development to be known as Gateway.  Initial site work 

included the realignment and enclosure of the Rock Creek channel to remove the site from an 

existing floodplain. 

 

The project has not been constructed due to a number of factors including the economic 

downturn that occurred shortly after the initial site work was completed.   The developer of 

Gateway, has been working with the City for the past few years on a new vision and design for 

http://www.mission.org/


RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    3 
 

the project.  The final development plan for the new Gateway was approved by the City’s 

Planning Commission this past winter.    

 

Please refer to the site plan and drawings included as Exhibit A.  The development plan 

identifies six buildings around the perimeter of the site surrounding a partially free-standing 

three level parking garage.  Building “B” on the southwest corner of the site is a 200 room, 7-

story hotel (140,904 square feet).  To the north, buildings “C”, “D” and “E” along Roeland Drive 

and Johnson Drive will contain 168 apartment units (177,812 square feet) over ground floor 

retail in 4-story buildings.  Building “A” is a single-story building with three retail tenant spaces 

defined (166,991 square feet).  Building “F” is a 3-story office building (58,516 square feet).   

A boardwalk system is proposed to connect a surface parking lot on Roeland Drive to a green 

space adjacent to Buildings “C”, “D” and “E”.  This green space, or “courtyard,” is proposed for 

the benefit of residents and for use by the public.  It includes seating and a small performance 

area.   

 

A modern architectural theme is proposed.  According to the project architect, this style views 

the structures as larger singular elements whose mass is pushed close to the street and 

articulated in facade material, color variation, balcony insets, and interesting window 

placement that responds to the particular use housed in the structure.  The ground floor of the 

buildings fold back at the street level forming a protected pedestrian experience.   

 

The predominant materials on building “A” are painted pre-cast concrete with thin brick and 

thin block at their base.  The north elevation of this building contains 75% glazing at ground 

level in the form of storefront display boxes.  The predominant materials of Buildings “B-F” are 

various metal panels, glass, board formed concrete, stained woods, and stucco.  

 

The development plan provides 1,528 parking spaces for the mix of retail, residential, office 

and hotel uses. This includes angled parking spaces along Johnson Drive adjacent to street-level 

retail in Building “E”, a surface parking lot adjacent to Roeland Drive for Buildings “C” and “D”, 

and a multi-level parking structure located in the center of the development.   

 

The parking structure is L-shaped with two floors of parking above one slightly larger level of 

surface parking.  A single circulator to the upper floors is located on the south end of the 

structure.  The lowest level is at grade and is intended for retail visitors.  The upper levels will 

be for hotel guests and the residential units. The exterior of the garage will be wrapped in an 

articulated perforated aluminum panel system that allows for ventilation of an open air garage 

and screens parked vehicles from view.   

 

The current plan is to construct the project in phases.  Phase I would consist of the apartment 

buildings (Buildings “C”, “D”, and “E”) with the ground floor retail, and appropriate parking.  

Initial site work for Phase I is expected to begin in early fall of 2017.  Phase II would consist of 

the hotel (Building “B”) and the parking structure.  Phase II is expected to be completed by 

spring 2019.  Phase III would consist of the office building and retail components of the project 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    4 
 

(Buildings “A” and “F”).  Phase III is expected to be completed by spring/summer 2020.   The 

timeline for construction will be somewhat dependent on tenant leasing. 

  

Cameron Group is the developer of the proposed development project.  Eldorado is the 

architect of record for the proposed development project.  HarenLaghlin will be the general 

contractor for Phase I.  A general contractor has not been identified for the other phases.  

 

The developer has requested economic development incentives to assist in financing the 

proposed development project. 

  

2.3. City Contact Person 

 

The firm’s principal contact with the City will be Danielle Sitzman, Planner, (913) 676-8363, 

dsitzman@missionks.org, who will coordinate the work of the selected firms.  

 

Questions concerning this RFP can be addressed to Ms. Sitzman. 

 

 

3. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

3.1. General  

 

The general scope of services is two-fold.  First, the selected firm shall provide all plan review 

and building inspections services associated with the Gateway development project, and in 

accordance with the specifications outlined in this RFP and corresponding agreement.  The 

purpose of these services is to insure compliance with all City building codes and applicable 

state regulations.  Secondly, the selected firm shall serve as the City’s representative in 

ensuring that the Gateway development project is built in accordance with approved plans and 

development agreements.  In particular, it is envisioned that in reviewing plans and conducting 

inspections, the selected firm will ensure that materials specified are actually used and that 

construction techniques called for are actually deployed.  

 

In performing these services, it is expected that the selected firm will interface with the 

developer, and developer’s representatives, architect and other design professionals (working 

for either the developer or the City), other agencies, and the City’s Community Development 

staff as necessary in order to fulfill this purpose.    

 

The firm shall provide sufficient, qualified, and experienced personnel to perform the services 

identified in this RFP.  The City may, however, elect to engage multiple firms to perform the 

services identified in this RFP depending on qualifications and availability.    

 

 

  

mailto:dsitzman@missionks.org


RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    5 
 

3.2. Plan Review Services  

 

The firm will review any and all plans submitted in connection with the proposed development 

project for compliance with the provisions of all City building codes and applicable state 

regulations including, but not limited to those for; fire and life-safety, accessibility, structural, 

mechanical, plumbing, and electrical.   

 

In reviewing plans, the firm shall prepare plan review letters with comments that are specific, 

detailed, complete, and reference plan sheet numbers and code sections where applicable.  

The consulting firm shall also make themselves available in person, by phone, or email to 

answer questions of design professionals, contractors, and/or the Community Development 

staff.  Copies of such letters and notes of any conversations shall be provided to the City as well 

as kept on file with the firm in accordance with provision in Section 3.13. 

 

When satisfied that the plans comply with the applicable codes and regulations, the firm shall 

approve and forward the plans to the City for issuance of a building permit.  

 

Plan review turnaround time (from the date of submittal) shall not exceed twenty-one (21) 

regular business days for the first submittal, and ten (10) regular business days for the second 

and subsequent submittals. 

 

3.3. Inspection Services  

 

The firm will provide inspection services during the course of construction to ensure that such 

construction is being performed in compliance with the permit that has been issued as well as 

City building codes and applicable state regulations.  Inspections will include structural, 

building, mechanical, electrical, and plumbing, and fire-life safety.  

 

Inspections and re-inspections will be performed within 24 hours (excluding weekends and 

holidays) from the time an inspection is requested and scheduled by the Community 

Development staff.  All inspection requests and the inspector’s field copy of the file will be 

prepared for the firm daily by the City’s Community Development staff.  

 

Inspections will be scheduled, generally, during normal business hours, 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. 

Monday through Friday, and in accordance with the City’s holiday schedule: closed New Year’s 

Day, Martin Luther King’s Birthday, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Veteran’s Day, 

Thanksgiving Day and the Day after Thanksgiving, and Christmas Eve and Christmas Day. 

 

Circumstances may require that inspection services be scheduled before or after normal 

business hours, or on weekends, or holidays as needed.  Such inspections will be scheduled in 

advance as much as possible.  

 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    6 
 

On occasion, an emergency may occur necessitating the need for inspection services as soon as 

possible.  When the City requests an inspection for an emergency situation, the firm shall 

provide a qualified inspector within two hours of the request.  Furthermore, the firm shall be 

required to provide emergency contact information for such situations, and to keep this 

information up-to-date through the term of the agreement.    

 

The consulting firm will be responsible for taking detailed notes of any inspections; assuring 

that all code discrepancies are appropriately reported, tracked and resolved; issuing pass/fail 

notices; and reporting such to the City upon completion of the inspection.  Notes shall be kept 

on file with the consulting firm in accordance with Section 3.13. 

 

3.4. Specialized Inspections and Testing  

 

Construction of the proposed development project may necessitate specialized plan review, 

inspections, and/or materials testing.  If the firm is unable to perform these services, then it 

should be prepared to make a recommendation for a firm that can, and assist in coordinating 

such services on behalf of the City.  

 

3.5. City’s Representative  

 

It is expected that the firm will serve as the City representative to ensure that the project is 

built in accordance with approved plans and development agreements.  In particular, it is 

envisioned that in reviewing plans and conducting inspections, the firm will ensure that 

materials specified are actually used and that construction techniques called for are actually 

deployed.  This may entail occasional on-site construction observation to the extent necessary 

to ensure the appropriate means and methods of construction are applied and 

plans/specifications are followed. 

 

The firm may be asked to review and evaluate issues arising in the field with design 

professionals and contractors and advise the City of recommended resolutions.  This will 

include, in particular, initial review of change orders as they may relate to approved plans with 

the City and making recommendations for approval or denial of such.  

 

The firm may be asked to review the developer’s request for reimbursements under the 

development agreement to ensure accuracy and compliance with plans and specifications.  Any 

inaccuracies will be brought to the attention of the developer and the City to be rectified.  Once 

approved, the firm will certify the requests for payment by the City or from escrowed funds in 

accordance with the development agreement.  

 

 

 

 

 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    7 
 

3.6. Attendance at Design and Project Meetings 

 

The firm will be expected, when asked, to attend design review meetings with the architect(s) 

of record and/or the engineer(s) of record for the purpose of addressing questions before 

design work begins and/or to engage in finding solutions to pending issues.   

 

Likewise, the firm may be asked to attend project meetings to coordinate plan review and 

inspections services, address questions and concerns, and monitor the general progress of the 

development project. 

 

The firm will be expected to keep and retain notes of these meetings, and to report back to the 

City’s Community Development staff any pertinent outcomes of such meetings.   

 

3.7. Qualifications 

 

3.7.1.    Minimum Consulting Firm Qualification  

 

The firm shall have a minimum of five (5) years in business providing plan review 

services, building inspection services, and/or building construction consulting services 

for other governmental agencies and/or private sector entities.  

Furthermore, the consulting firm shall be able to demonstrate:  

 That it has the experience in providing a similar level of service for similar 

projects to what is being sought in this RFP;  

 That it has the ability to provide the services sought in this RFP, and 

 That it has the personnel capable and qualified to provide the services sought in 

this RFP. 

 

3.7.2.     Minimum Plan Reviewer Qualifications 

 

Personnel of the firm that are conducting plan review services shall have the following 

minimum qualifications: 

 

 ICC Certified Commercial Plans Examiner  

 10 years of design experience       

    

3.7.3.    Minimum Building Inspector Qualifications 

 

Personnel of the firm that are conducting building inspection services shall have the 

following minimum qualifications: 

 

 ICC Certified Combination Commercial Inspector   

 5 years of construction trade experience  



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    8 
 

   

3.7.4.     Licenses 

       

The personnel of the firm shall have all necessary federal, state, and local licenses as 

required by law and shall, upon request furnish satisfactory evidence to the City that 

such licenses are in effect during the entire period of the agreement for each person 

assigned to work under this agreement.  

 

3.8. Work Performance  

 

All services provided are to be performed under the supervision of the City’s Planner and in 

compliance with the City’s policies, codes, and interpretations.  All plan reviews and inspections 

shall be performed in a professional, ethical, and non-adversarial manner.   

 

The consulting firm shall be expected to provide a consistent/stable roster of professionals to 

provide the services requested in this RFP.  

 

Inspectors will be required to carry identification clearly showing they are authorized inspectors 

of the City of Mission.  

 

3.9. Personnel Assignment  

 

The City reserves the right to request that the firm provide alternative personnel when the City 

is dissatisfied, for whatever reason, with the performance of assigned personnel after the 

agreement commences.   

  

3.10. Equipment  

 

The consultant firm shall provide all vehicles, clothing, equipment, cell phones, computers, 

safety equipment and other related materials necessary to perform the services.  The cost to 

provide these materials will be incorporated into the proposal costs of the selected consulting 

firm.    

 

3.11. Term of Services 

 

The services to be performed is for the construction of the Gateway development project only, 

and as such the term for the agreement with the firm will run until the completion of the 

project.  The City may consider engaging the firm for a period of time beyond the completion of 

the project in order to address any ongoing issues.  

 

 

 

 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    9 
 

3.12. Indemnity and Required Insurance 

 

The selected consulting firm shall indemnify and hold harmless the City, its officers and 

employees from any and all liability, loss or damage, including attorney fees and costs of 

defenses, the City may suffer as a result of claims, demands, suits, actions or proceedings of 

any kind or nature, including worker’s compensation claims, in any way resulting from or 

arising out of the operations of the firm under this contract; and, at his own expense, appear, 

defend, and pay all fees of attorneys and all costs and other expenses arising therefrom or 

incurred in any such action, the consultant shall, at his own expense, satisfy and discharge 

same.   

 

Furthermore, the firm shall maintain insurance coverage in the following amounts: 

 

Type of Insurance   Limit/Ea. Occurrence  Limit/Aggregate 

General Liability   

 Bodily Injury   $1,000,000   $2,000,000 

 Property Damage   $1,000,000   $2,000,000 

 Contractual Insurance   $1,000,000   $2,000,000 

Professional Liability    $3,000,000   $3,000,000 

Automobile Liability  

 Bodily Injury   $1,000,000   $1,000,000 

 Property Damage    $1,000,000   $1,000,000 

 

Worker’s Compensation  

 Employee Claims    Statutory for Kansas 

 Employer’s Liability    $1,000,000 per accident  
     $1,000,000 disease – policy limit  

$1,000,000 disease – each employee 

Workers’ Compensation policies should include a “Waiver of Subrogation” in favor of the City of 

Mission. 

  All insurance carriers should carry a minimum rating of A- X (rated by A.M. Best).   

Vehicles, equipment and property used by the firm shall be the property of the firm and 

insured as such.  The City of Mission will not be responsible for any damage that may occur to 

such items.  

 

3.13. Work Paper Retention and Access to Working Papers 

 

All working papers and reports must be retained, at the firm’s expense, for a minimum of five 

(5) years, unless the firm is notified in writing by the City of the need to extend the retention 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    10 
 

period.  The consulting firm will be required to make working papers available, upon request, 

to representatives of the City.  

 

 

4. SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS AND TIMELINE 

 

4.1. Submission of Response 

 

Firms desiring to submit a response to this RFP shall submit four (4) copies of their proposal to 

the City Clerk’s Office by no later than 4:00 p.m.(CST),  Friday, July 14, 2017.  Submission 

should be clearly marked “Gateway Plan Review and Building Inspection Services” and 

addressed to: 

 

City Clerk  

City of Mission  

6090 Woodson St. 

Mission, KS 66202    

 

Submissions received after the date and time stated in this RFP shall not be considered.  Any 

submissions received after the deadline shall be returned unopened providing the entity 

submitting the response is identified on the response envelope.   

 

4.2. Contents of Submittals 

 

To be considered for selection, the proposal shall be (1) clear and concise, (2) responsive to all 

RFP requirements, and (3) presented in the form of a written report with the following 

subheadings clearly marked:  

 

A. Cover Letter 
B. Key/Lead Personnel Qualifications  
C. Project Team Organization  
D. References  
E. Rates  
 

4.2.1. Cover Letter (Limit One (1) Page) 

 

Submit a cover letter signed by an individual authorized to obligate the respondent to 

fulfill the commitments contained in the proposal.  The letter must include the following: 

(1) a contact for all communication pertaining to the proposal (including firm’s name, 

address, name of contact person, contact’s direct phone number, and contact’s email); (2) 

a statement of the respondent’s understanding of the scope of services to be provided and 

overall ability and qualifications to conduct the services and proposed approach and 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    11 
 

schedule for providing services, as it relates to key points of the RFP response; (3) 

acknowledgment by respondent that it meets all requirements for award of Agreement.  

 

4.2.2. Key/Lead Personnel Qualifications (Limit Three (3) Pages Per Person) 

 

i. Provide a narrative briefly describing the role, responsibilities, qualifications, 

certifications, and affiliation with the respondent for each key/lead team member 

proposed by the firm to perform the scope of services outlined in the RFP.  Provide 

sufficient information in the proposal for the selection committee to evaluate the 

ability and experience of each key/lead team members to successfully fulfill their 

roles, and complete the scope of services.  

ii. Describe relevant experiences and qualifications of key individuals that may be 

involved in providing the requested services.  Provide resume for all principals and key 

individuals.  

iii. Describe the ability to perform the Scope of Services in accordance with state and 

local regulations.  

iv. Describe a portfolio of past performance in completing projects of a similar type, 

scope and complexity of providing plan review for governmental jurisdictions.  

 

4.2.3. Project Team Organization (Limit Three (3) Pages)  

 

This section shall describe the respondent’s team organization that it proposes to provide 

to the project.  In particular, describe how the proposed team will be organized to provide 

plan review and building inspection services for the project.  Indicate if this or portions of 

the team have worked together with the past five years, or if any sub-consultants have 

track record of successful projects with the primary proposer.  

 

4.2.4. References  

List the most significant engagements (maximum of 5) performed in the last five years that 

are similar to the engagement described in this RFP. 

Indicate the scope of services, date, and the name and telephone number of the principal 

client contact.  The City reserves the right to contact the clients listed to perform reference 

checks. 

 

4.2.5. Rate and Service Structure  

Indicate the hourly rate structure for services to be provided.  

4.3. Submission Timeline  

The following is a list of key dates for consideration of proposals:  

 Request for Qualifications Issued   June 23, 2017 



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    12 
 

 Due date for submissions (4 p.m.)   July 14, 2017 

 Interviews       July 17, 2017 (week of) 

 Negotiation of Fees     July 24, 2017 (week of) 

 Notice to Proceed      August 18, 2017 
 

4.4. General Requirements With Submission 

The City reserves the right to reject any or all submissions and to waive any minor informality, 

technicality or irregularity in any submission. 

All responses, and related reference information, submitted in response to this RFP will 

become the property of the City and will not be returned.  Each firm submitting a response 

waives any right of confidentiality as to the response documents.  If an entity submitting a 

response considers certain material in the response proprietary information, it shall clearly 

designate those portions of the response it wishes to remain confidential.  As a public entity, 

the City is subject to making records available for public disclosure.  The City will attempt to 

maintain confidentiality of material marked proprietary; however it cannot guarantee that 

information will not be made public. 

The City reserves the right to (1) accept or reject any and all submissions and to waive any 

technicalities or irregularities involving any submission and to cancel the RFP process at any 

time prior to entering into an agreement, (2) not award an agreement for any or all of the 

services that are the subject of this RFP process, (3) negotiate agreement terms acceptable to 

the City with the firm and (4) disregard all nonconforming, non-responsive or conditional 

submissions. 

During the evaluation process, the City reserves the right to request additional information or 

clarifications from those firms submitting responses and to allow corrections of errors and/or 

omissions. 

Submission of a response indicates acceptance by the firm submitting the response of the 

terms, conditions and specifications contained in this RFP to include the contract requirements 

set forth herein. 

The City will not pay for any information herein requested, nor is it liable for any costs incurred 

by those firms submitting responses.  The City reserves the right to select the submission that 

will best meet the needs of the City.  Submissions that do not meet the stated requirements 

will be considered in non-compliance and will be disqualified unless the City waives such non-

compliance. 

No submission may be withdrawn for a period of sixty (60) days from the date set for the 

opening thereof. 

By submission of a response, each firm submitting a response certifies and acknowledges that: 

a. It has not paid nor agreed to pay any person, other than a bona fide employee, a fee or 

brokerage fee resulting from the award of the RFP.  



RFP – Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gate Development Project 
City of Mission – June 2017             Page    13 
 

 

b. The City may, by written notice to the firm submitting the response, reject the RFP or 

cancel any award under this RFP if it is found by the City that gratuities, in the form of 

entertainment, gifts or otherwise were offered or given to any representative of the City 

with a view toward securing an agreement or other favorable treatment with respect to 

this RFP or the entity submitting the response participated on collusion with another 

entity to restrain or eliminate competition. 

 

c. The contents of this RFP and any clarifications distributed or issued by the City shall 

become part of the contractual obligation and incorporated by reference into the 

ensuing contracts as the City deems appropriate. 



FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FEBRUARY 01, 2017

FDP-001
SITE PLAN

56

34

45

35

JOHNSON DRIVE

R
O

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

SHAW
NEE M

IS
SIO

N PARKWAY

R
O

E
L
A

N
D

 D
R

IV
E

44

45

42

24

53

51

9

MARTWAY ST.

COMPACT

COMPACT

COMPACT

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S

T

ROCK CREEK TRAIL

RAMP DOWN

R
O

C
K

 C
R

E
E

K
 T

R
A

IL

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

45

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

T

T

COMPACT

30

21

ACCESS AISLE

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

46

HOTEL RESTAURANT NO. 1

4,800 S.F.
LOBBY / LOUNGE

2,040 S.F.
BAR / LOUNGE

 1,650 S.F.

HOTEL RESTAURANT NO. 2

 7,400 S.F.

O
P

E
N

 T
O

 B
E

L
O

W

OPEN TO

BELOW

OPEN TO

BELOW

FITNESS/

LOUNGE

O
P

E
N

 T
O

 B
E

L
O

W

PROJECT GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE - 587,330  

RETAIL 210,098 GSF
RESIDENTIAL 177,812 GSF 182 APTS
HOTEL 140,904 GSF 200 ROOMS
OFFICE 58,516 GSF

PARKING  - 1534 STALLS

SURFACE 741
STRUCTURED 793

                     

DN
10%

16

9

14

12

OPEN TO BELOWOPEN TO BELOW

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

59 51

5

16V
C

OPEN TO B
ELOW

KEYNOTES

1. MASONRY PAVER PATIO

2. WOOD BOARDWALK

3. WOOD BENCH

4. BOARD-FORMED CONCRETE WALL ELEMENT

5. LIGHT POLE

6. CONCRETE SIDEWALK

7. WHITE, SINGLE-PLY ROOF MEMBRANE

8. PRE-VEGETATED TRAY ROOFING SYSTEM

9. POOL

10. ROOFTOP MECHANICAL SCREENING (SAME  AS BUILDING 

CLADDING)

11. FIBER - CEMENT CLADDING SYSTEM

12. METAL PANEL CLADDING SYSTEM

13. PERFORATED METAL PANEL CLADDING SYSTEM

14. ALUMINUM STOREFRONT / WINDOW SYSTEM

15. MONUMENT SIGN

16. BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNAGE

17. ELEVATED PEDESTRIAN WALKWAY

1

1

9

2

2

3

13

4

4

4

4

4

17

17

17

17

15

15

5

5

5

10 10

10

10

10

7

7

7

7

7

6

6

6

6

13

8

8

8

4

5

5

MISSION GATEWAY

510 aveneida cesar e chavez  kansas city  missouri  64108  p 816 474 3838  f 816 474 0836  www.eldoradoarchitects.com

FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

FEBRUARY 01, 2017 M/E/P:
PKMR ENGINEERS
13300 W. 98TH ST. 
LENEXA, KANSAS 66215
TEL: 913-492-2400
FAX: 913-492-2437

STRUCTURAL:
BOB D. CAMPBELL & CO., INC.
4338 BELLEVIEW AVE.
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64111
TEL: 816-531-4144
FAX: 816-531-8572

CONSULTANTS:

CIVIL / LANDSCAPE:
OLSSON ASSOCIATES
7301 WEST 133RD ST., SUITE 200
OVERLAND PARK, KANSAS 66213
TEL: 913-381-1170
FAX: 913-381-1174

 

01 SITE PLAN 

 

0" 25' 50' 100'

04.29.15

FDP-A050
SITE PLAN

BUILDING C

BUILDING B

BUILDING F

BUILDING A

BUILDING D

BUILDING E

158,294 GSF

535,526



FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FEBRUARY 01, 2017

STACKING DIAGRAMS
FDP-002

STACKING DIAGRAM

STACKING DIAGRAM

RETAIL

RESIDENTIAL

OFFICE

HOTEL



FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FEBRUARY 01, 2017

ARCHITECTURAL VIGNETTES
FDP-004

Northeast Monument Sign

Southwest Monument Sign

56

34

45

35

JOHNSON DRIVE

R
O

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

SHAW
NEE M

IS
SIO

N PARKWAY

R
O

E
L
A

N
D

 D
R

IV
E

44

45

42

24

53

51

9

MARTWAY ST.

COMPACT

COMPACT

COMPACT

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

C
A

R
T

S

T

ROCK CREEK TRAIL

RAMP DOWN

R
O

C
K

 C
R

E
E

K
 T

R
A

IL

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

45

COMPACT

ACCESS AISLE

43

COMPACT

T

T

COMPACT

30

21

ACCESS AISLE

C
A

R
T

S
C

A
R

T
S

46

HOTEL RESTAURANT NO. 1

4,800 S.F.
LOBBY / LOUNGE

2,040 S.F.
BAR / LOUNGE

 1,650 S.F.

HOTEL RESTAURANT NO. 2

 7,400 S.F.

O
P

E
N

 T
O

 B
E

L
O

W

OPEN TO

BELOW

OPEN TO

BELOW

FITNESS/

LOUNGE

O
P

E
N

 T
O

 B
E

L
O

W

PROJECT GROSS SQUARE FOOTAGE - 587,330  

RETAIL 210,098 GSF
RESIDENTIAL 177,812 GSF 182 APTS
HOTEL 140,904 GSF 200 ROOMS
OFFICE 58,516 GSF

PARKING  - 1534 STALLS

SURFACE 741
STRUCTURED 793

                     

DN
10%

16

9

14

12

OPEN TO BELOWOPEN TO BELOW

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

24

59 51

5

16V
C

OPEN TO B
ELOW

KEYNOTES

1. MASONRY PAVER PATIO

2. WOOD BOARDWALK

3. WOOD BENCH

4. BOARD-FORMED CONCRETE WALL ELEMENT

5. LIGHT POLE

6. CONCRETE SIDEWALK

7. WHITE, SINGLE-PLY ROOF MEMBRANE

8. PRE-VEGETATED TRAY ROOFING SYSTEM

9. POOL

10. ROOFTOP MECHANICAL SCREENING (SAME  AS BUILDING 

CLADDING)

11. FIBER - CEMENT CLADDING SYSTEM

12. METAL PANEL CLADDING SYSTEM

13. PERFORATED METAL PANEL CLADDING SYSTEM

14. ALUMINUM STOREFRONT / WINDOW SYSTEM

15. MONUMENT SIGN

16. BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNAGE

17. ELEVATED PEDESTRIAN WALKWAY

MISSION GATEWAY

510 aveneida cesar e chavez  kansas city  missouri  64108  p 816 474 3838  f 816 474 0836  www.eldoradoarchitects.com

FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN

FEBRUARY 01, 2017 M/E/P:
PKMR ENGINEERS
13300 W. 98TH ST. 
LENEXA, KANSAS 66215
TEL: 913-492-2400
FAX: 913-492-2437

STRUCTURAL:
BOB D. CAMPBELL & CO., INC.
4338 BELLEVIEW AVE.
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64111
TEL: 816-531-4144
FAX: 816-531-8572

CONSULTANTS:

CIVIL / LANDSCAPE:
OLSSON ASSOCIATES
7301 WEST 133RD ST., SUITE 200
OVERLAND PARK, KANSAS 66213
TEL: 913-381-1170
FAX: 913-381-1174

 

01 SITE PLAN 

 

0" 25' 50' 100'

04.29.15

FDP-A050
SITE PLAN

BUILDING C

BUILDING B

BUILDING F

BUILDING A

BUILDING D

BUILDING E



FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FEBRUARY 01, 2017

VIEW OF RETAIL / RESIDENTIAL COURTYARD

VIEW OF RETAIL / RESIDENTIAL COURTYARD

ARCHITECTURAL VIGNETTES
FDP-005

VIEW FROM NORTHWEST OF RETAIL / RESIDENTIAL

AERIAL FROM JOHNSON DRIVE ENTRY



FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
FEBRUARY 01, 2017

ARCHITECTURAL VIGNETTES
FDP-006

AERIAL FROM NORTH - JOHNSON DRIVE AND ROELAND DRIVE

AERIAL FROM NORTHEAST - ROE AVE. JOHNSON DRIVEAERIAL FROM SOUTHEAST - SHAWNEE MISSION PARKWAY

AERIAL FROM SOUTHWEST - ROELAND DRIVE AND SHAWNEE MISSION PARKWAY

































Page 1 of 2 
8/2/2017 

August 2, 2017 
 
Brian Scott 
Assistant City Administrator/Finance Director 
City of Mission  
6090 Woodson 
Mission, KS 66202 
 
 
Re: Mission Gateway Development Project 

Fee Proposal for Plan Review and Inspection Services 

 
Dear Mr. Scott: 
 
FSC, Inc. is pleased to submit the following proposal for the new Mission Gateway Development project. 
  
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Based on the RFP and our meeting, we understand the project includes six buildings, a parking garage 
and surface parking.  The project will be constructed in phases as follows: 

- Phase I: Three Apartment buildings each 4 floors with ground floor retail, and appropriate parking. 
- Phase II: Hotel and parking garage. 
- Phase III: Office and Retail buildings.   

 
The primary purpose of the project is to insure compliance with all City building codes and applicable 
state regulations.   
 
SCOPE OF WORK 

FSC’s team includes Code, MEP, Structural and ADA professionals. Our scope of work includes building 
plan review, inspection services, and City’s representative in ensuring the project is built in accordance 
with the approved plans and development agreements. Specifically, the FSC team will provide the 
services described in Section 3 of the RFP. 
 
We briefly reviewed the Phase I plans and are comfortable with the scope of work.  However, Phase II 
and III plans are not available therefore, we have made our best guess on the scope of work for those 
phases based on our experience on similar projects. 
 
Our proposal is based on the following assumptions/clarifications:  

1. The hotel in Phase II is a high-rise. 
2. Other than the apartments and hotel, all other spaces are shell only. 
3. Special inspections are as required by IBC section 1705. Special inspections are required to be 

performed by qualified individuals (hired by the owner) who report to the city. Our team will 
identify which special inspections are required. 

4. Elevator inspections are not included.  

Fire Protection Engineering
Mechanical/Electrical/Plumbing Engineering 
Code/Life Safety Consulting 
Commissioning Services 

9225 Indian Creek Parkway, Suite 300      Overland Park, KS 66210 

Tel: (913) 722‐3473       Fax: (913) 722‐3484        web: www.fsc‐inc.com 



Page 2 of 2 
8/2/2017 

5. Plan review and inspection efforts are for the buildings only and do not include site or public 
works. 

6. Plan review and inspection efforts are for code compliance not best practices or good design. 
7. As the City’s representative, the FSC team will attend, as requested, weekly design review 

meetings, project meetings, and/or construction meetings.  We have assumed attendance at the 
following number of meetings per phase: Phase I – 52 meetings, Phase II – 76 meetings, and 
Phase III – 52 meetings. Attendance at additional meetings may be provided for additional 
services.     

 
 
COMPENSATION 

To perform the above Scope of Services, we have developed the attached fee spreadsheet which 
includes a breakdown of hours per discipline per task.  Below is a summary.    

 Phase I Review & Inspection: $208,070 
 Phase I Meetings: $54,070 
 Phase II Review & Inspection (estimated): $199,040 
 Phase II Meetings: $78,660 
 Phase III Review & Inspection (estimated): $137,965 
 Phase III Meetings: $54,070 

 
Reimbursable expenses, limited to printing of final submission documents and delivery, will be billed at 
cost.  Mileage to/from the site is included in our fee. 
 
We feel confident about our Phase I fee.  For Phase II and III, our fee is an estimate, which represents 
our best educated guess of the hours we believe it will take to complete all the tasks. Therefore, before 
starting our scope on Phase II and III, we request the opportunity to discuss and, if needed, adjust our 
fees. 
 
We will invoice monthly for the percentage of our work completed in that time frame.  Payment of our 
invoice is due 30 days from date of invoice. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be part of this amazing project. Please feel free to call or email me if you 
have any comments/questions. 
 
Sincerely,  

FSC, Inc. 

 
Sonia Garapaty, MS E.E., LEED AP 
CEO 
 



Phase 1 ‐ Residential ‐ 3 buildings each 4 floors
Code MEP Structural ADA

Plan Review Principal Sr. Code Cons. PM Sr. Engineer PM Sr. Engineer Engineer

100% design (drawings & 

specifications) 8 40 4 48 2 30 24

1st Re‐review 4 8 2 24 8 8

1st Review Meeting 4 4 4 4 4 4

2nd Re‐review 2 4 2 18 2 2

General Coordination 24 8

Inspections
Under Slab (3 per building = 9 

total) 12 9 36

Rough‐in walls & above ceiling 

(3 per floor*12 floors=36 total) 56 112 9 84 12

Wood Frame (3 per floor * 12 

floors=36 total) 4 4 144

Shop Drawing Review FP 60

Shop Drawing Review FA 60

Shop Drawing Review 

Structural 16

Submittal Review Firestop 36

50% Complete ADA Inspection 12

Review Revisions to approved 

plans 18 4 24 4 32 20
Re‐review revisions 10 2 12 2 16 10
FA Test Final 4 16
FP Test Final 4 16

Final Inspection 20 40 3 20 12 8

Final Re‐inspection 10 20 3 12 6 4

General Coordination 24 40 4 8 8 16 24

Management of Special 

Inspections 140

Meetings
Weekly Meeting & Report (52) 78 78 78 78 40 54,070.00$  

Total Hours 266 552 162 260 140 70 336 144

Rates 155.00$               120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              105.00$              250.00$             

Total Fee 41,230.00$         66,240.00$         23,490.00$        31,200.00$        20,300.00$        8,400.00$          35,280.00$        36,000.00$        262,140.00$



Phase 2 ‐ Hotel (6 floors) & Parking Structure
Code MEP Structural ADA

Plan Review Principal Sr. Code Cons. PM Sr. Engineer PM Sr. Engineer Engineer

100% design (drawings & 

specifications) 12 40 4 24 6 52 24

1st Re‐review 4 8 2 20 16 8

1st Review Meeting 4 4 4 4 4 4

2nd Re‐review 2 4 2 24 2 2

General Coordination 24 8 4

Inspections
Under Slab (3 total) 12 10 21

Rough‐in walls & above ceiling 

(3 per floor*6 floors=18 total) 56 112 6 66 12

Exterior Hotel Walls ‐ Structural 

(3 per floor*6 floors=18 total) 4 72

Shop Drawing Review FP 60

Shop Drawing Review FA 60

Shop Drawing Review 

Structural 24

Submittal Review Firestop 36

50% Complete ADA Inspection 12

Review Revisions to approved 

plans 20 8 24 2 26 12 20

Re‐review revisions 10 2 12 2 12 4 10

FA Test Final 8 16

FP Test Final 8 16

Final Inspection 20 40 2 10 8 8

Final Re‐inspection 10 20 2 8 4 4

General Coordination 24 40 4 8 12

Mgmt of Special Inspections ‐ Bi‐

Weekly Review of Discrepancy 

List, Site Visits (10) 24 6 12 120

Meetings
Weekly Meeting & Report (76) 114 114 114 114 57 78,660.00$  

Total Hours 340 592 194 189 164 158 192 161

Rates 155.00$               120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              105.00$              250.00$             

Total Fee 52,700.00$         71,040.00$         28,130.00$        22,680.00$        23,780.00$        18,960.00$        20,160.00$        40,250.00$        277,700.00$



Phase 3 ‐ Office (3 floors) & Retail (1 floor)
Code MEP Structural ADA

Plan Review Principal Sr. Code Cons. PM Sr. Engineer PM Sr. Engineer Engineer

100% design (drawings & 

specifications) 12 24 6 24 2 28 20

1st Re‐review 2 4 2 12 12 8

1st Review Meeting 4 4 4 4 4 4

2nd Re‐review 2 4 2 10 2 2

General Coordination 24 8 6

Inspections
Under Slab (6 total) 6 6 24

Exterior Walls ‐ Structural 4 36

Rough‐in walls & above ceiling 

(3 per floor*4 floors=12 total) 15 60 6 40 12

Shop Drawing Review FP 40

Shop Drawing Review FA 40

Shop Drawing Review 

Structural 12

Submittal Review Firestop 12

50% Complete ADA Inspection 10

Review Revisions to approved 

plans 20 4 24 2 32 20

Re‐review revisions 10 2 12 2 16 10

FA Test Final 4 8

FP Test Final 4 8

Final Inspection 8 16 4 16 8

Final Re‐inspection 4 8 2 8 4

General Coordination 20 20 4 4

Mgmt of Special Inspections ‐ Bi‐

Weekly Review of Discrepancy 

List, Site Visits (4) 4 24 100

Meetings
Weekly Meeting & Report (52) 78 78 78 78 40 54,070.00$  

Total Hours 207 338 158 146 132 92 136 138

Rates 155.00$               120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              145.00$              120.00$              105.00$              250.00$             

Total Fee 32,085.00$         40,560.00$         22,910.00$        17,520.00$        19,140.00$        11,040.00$        14,280.00$        34,500.00$        192,035.00$



AN AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF PLAN REVIEW AND BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES IN 

ASSOCIATION WITH THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE GATEWAY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT. 

THIS AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO THIS ____________ DAY OF 2017 BETWEEN THE CITY OF MISSION, 

Kansas, a Kansas municipal corporation (“CITY”) AND FSC, INC., a Kansas corporation (“CONSULTANT”) 

FOR THE PROVISION OF PLAN REVIEW AND BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES IN ASSOCIATON WITH THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE GATEWAY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT LOCATED WITHIN THE CITY OF MISSION. 

WHEREAS, City is a municipal corporation of the second class duly authorized under the Kansas State 

Constitution; and  

WHEREAS,  City  reviews  and  approves  plans  for  construction  of  new  and/or  renovation  of  existing 

structures, and issues building permits for various aspects of the same, all with the purpose and intent 

of protecting the health, safety and welfare of the general public; and   

WHEREAS, The Gateway Development Project (the “Project”) is an approximately 544,000 square feet, 

mixed‐use new development project planned  for a 17 acre parcel of property within  the  corporate 

boundaries of the City of Mission; and  

WHEREAS,  The  review of  construction plans  associated with  the Project,  and  inspection of  various 

aspects  of  the  construction  process,  will  require  knowledge,  experience,  and  time  beyond  the 

capabilities of the City’s staff; and  

WHEREAS,  In order  to provide appropriate plan  review and  inspection  services  for  the Project, City 

issued a Request for Proposals for these services; and  

WHEREAS, Consultant submitted a proposal in response to the request, and said proposal was reviewed 

by City, and Consultant was deemed qualified and capable of providing such services as sought for the 

Project. 

NOW THEREFORE, The parties do hereby agree to enter into an agreement for provision of Plan Review 

and  Inspection  services  in association with  the Project  in accordance with  the  following  terms and 

conditions:              

Section 1.   Introduction   

1.1. The Project   

 

The Project is a mixed‐use development project proposed to be built on an approximately 17 

acre parcel of property bounded by Roe Boulevard, Johnson Drive, Shawnee Mission 

Parkway, and Roeland Drive, and entirely with the municipal boundaries of the City of 

Mission.  A copy of the development plan for the Project is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 

(“Development Plan”). 

 

The Development Plan specifically identifies six buildings around the perimeter of the site 

surrounding a partially free‐standing three level parking garage.  Building “B” on the 

southwest corner of the site is a 200 room, 7‐story hotel (140,904 square feet).  To the north, 

buildings “C”, “D” and “E” along Roeland Drive and Johnson Drive will contain 168 apartment 

units (177,812 square feet) over ground floor retail in 4‐story buildings.  Building “A” is a 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      2 
 

single‐story building with three retail tenant spaces defined (166,991 square feet).  Building 

“F” is a 3‐story office building (58,516 square feet).   

 

A boardwalk system is proposed to connect a surface parking lot on Roeland Drive to a green 

space adjacent to Buildings “C”, “D” and “E”.  This green space, or “courtyard,” is proposed 

for the benefit of residents and for use by the public.  It includes seating and a small 

performance area.   

 

The Development Plan provides 1,528 parking spaces for the mix of retail, residential, office 

and hotel uses. This includes angled parking spaces along Johnson Drive adjacent to street‐

level retail in Building “E”, a surface parking lot adjacent to Roeland Drive for Buildings “C” 

and “D”, and a multi‐level parking structure located in the center of the development.   

 

The current plan is to construct the Project in one or more phases.  City has been advised 

that Phase I would consist of the apartment buildings (Buildings “C”, “D”, and “E”) with the 

ground floor retail, and appropriate parking.  Initial site work for Phase I is expected to begin 

in early fall of 2017.  Phase II would consist of the hotel (Building “B”) and the parking 

structure.  Phase II is expected to begin in the spring of 2018 and be completed by spring 

2020.  Phase III would consist of the office building and retail components of the project 

(Buildings “A” and “F”).  Phase III is expected to be completed by spring/summer 2020.   The 

timeline for construction will be somewhat dependent on force majeure and tenant leasing. 

  

Section 2.    Scope of Services to be Performed by the Consultant  

 

2.1 General  

 

The general scope of services (“Services”) is two‐fold.  First, Consultant shall provide all plan 

review and building inspections services associated with the Project, subject to City approval 

and consent in accordance with all applicable City ordinances.  The purpose of these Services 

is to ensure compliance with all City building codes and applicable state regulations.  

Secondly, Consultant shall serve as the City’s representative in ensuring that the Project is 

built in accordance with approved plans and development agreements.  In particular, it is 

envisioned that in reviewing plans and conducting inspections, Consultant will ensure that 

materials specified are actually used and that construction techniques called for are actually 

deployed.  

 

In performing these services, it is expected that Consultant will interface with the developer’s 

representatives, architect and design professionals (working for either the developer or City), 

other agencies, and City’s Community Development staff as necessary in order to fulfill this 

purpose.    

 

Consultant shall provide sufficient, qualified, and experienced personnel to perform the 

Services identified in this Agreement.   



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      3 
 

 

 

2.2 Plan Review Services  

 

Consultant will review any and all plans submitted in connection with the  Project for 

compliance with the provisions of all City building codes and applicable state regulations 

including, but not limited to those for; fire and life‐safety, accessibility, structural, 

mechanical, plumbing, and electrical.   

 

In reviewing plans, Consultant shall prepare plan review letters with comments that are 

specific, detailed, complete, and reference plan sheet numbers and code sections where 

applicable.  Consultant shall also make personnel available in person, by phone, or email to 

answer questions of design professionals, contractors, and/or City’s Community 

Development staff.  Copies of such letters and notes of any conversations shall be provided to 

City, as well as kept on file with Consultant, in accordance with provision in Section 6.1. 

 

When satisfied that the plans comply with the applicable codes and regulations, Consultant 

shall approve and forward the plans to City for issuance of a building permit, but such permit 

issuance shall remain at all times subject to approval of City in accordance with all applicable 

ordinances.  

 

Plan review turnaround time (from the date of submittal) shall not exceed twenty‐one (21) 

regular business days for the first submittal, and ten (10) regular business days for the second 

and subsequent submittals. 

 

2.3 Inspection Services  

 

Consultant will provide inspection services, and report to City’s Community Development 

Staff, during the course of construction of the Project to ensure that such construction is 

being performed in compliance with the permit that has been issued as well as City building 

codes and applicable state and federal regulations.  Inspections will include structural, 

building, mechanical, electrical, and plumbing, and fire‐life safety.  

 

Inspections and re‐inspections will be performed within 24 hours (excluding weekends and 

holidays) from the time an inspection is requested and scheduled by City’s Community 

Development staff.  All inspection requests and the inspector’s field copy of the file will be 

prepared for Consultant by City’s Community Development staff.  

 

Inspections will be scheduled, generally, during normal business hours, 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. 

Monday through Friday, and in accordance with City’s holiday schedule: closed New Year’s 

Day, Martin Luther King’s Birthday, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Veteran’s Day, 

Thanksgiving Day and the Day after Thanksgiving, and Christmas Eve and Christmas Day. 

 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      4 
 

Circumstances may require that inspection services be scheduled before or after normal 

business hours, or on weekends, or holidays as needed.  Such inspections will be scheduled in 

advance as much as possible.  

 

On occasion, an emergency may occur necessitating the need for inspection services as soon 

as possible.  When City requests an inspection for an emergency situation, Consultant shall 

provide a qualified inspector within two hours of the request.  Furthermore, Consultant shall 

be required to provide emergency contact information for such situations, and to keep this 

information up‐to‐date through the term of the agreement.    

 

Consultant will be responsible for taking detailed notes of any inspections; assuring that all 

code discrepancies are appropriately reported, tracked and resolved; issuing pass/fail notices; 

and delivering reports of all such activity with related documentation to City upon completion 

of the inspection, all of which shall remain at all times property of City.  Notes shall be kept 

on file with Consultant in accordance with Section 6.1. 

 

2.4 Act as City’s Representative  

 

It is expected that Consultant will serve as City’s representative to ensure that the Project is 

built in accordance with approved plans and development agreements.  In particular, it is 

envisioned that in reviewing plans and conducting inspections, Consultant will ensure that 

materials specified are actually used and that construction techniques called for are actually 

deployed.  This may entail occasional on‐site construction observation to the extent 

necessary to ensure the appropriate means and methods of construction are applied and 

plans/specifications are followed. 

 

Consultant may be asked to review and evaluate issues arising in the field with design 

professionals and contractors and advise City of recommended resolutions.  This will include, 

in particular, initial review of change orders as they may relate to approved plans with City 

and making recommendations for approval or denial of such.  

 

Consultant may be asked to review the developer’s request for reimbursements under the 

development agreement to ensure accuracy and compliance with plans and specifications.  

Any inaccuracies will be brought to the attention of the developer’s representative and City 

to be rectified.  Once approved, Consultant will certify the requests for payment by City or 

from escrowed funds in accordance with the development agreement.  

 

2.5 Attendance at Design and Project Meetings 

 

Consultant will be expected, when asked, to attend design review meetings with the 

architect(s) of record and/or the engineer(s) of record for the purpose of addressing 

questions before design work begins and/or to engage in finding solutions to pending issues.   

 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      5 
 

Likewise, Consultant may be asked to attend project meetings to coordinate plan review and 

inspections services, address questions and concerns, and monitor the general progress of 

the Project. 

 

Consultant will be expected to keep and retain notes of these meetings, and to report back to 

City’s Community Development staff any pertinent outcomes of such meetings.   

 

Section 3.   Personnel to be Provided by Consultant. 

3.1 Qualifications 

 

3.1.1     Minimum Plan Reviewer Qualifications 

 

Personnel of Consultant that are conducting plan review services shall have the 

following minimum qualifications: 

 

 ICC Certified Commercial Plans Examiner, and/or 

 Licensed architect or engineer  

 10 years of design experience     

 Or some combination of education, licensing, and experience that reasonable 

matches or exceeds the above.   

    

3.1.2     Minimum Building Inspector Qualifications 

 

Personnel of Consultant that are conducting building inspection services shall have 

the following minimum qualifications: 

 

 ICC Certified Combination Commercial Inspector   

 5 years of construction trade experience  

 Or some combination of education, licensing, and experience that reasonably 

matches or exceeds the above.   

   

3.1.3     Licenses 

       

The personnel of Consultant shall have all necessary federal, state, and local licenses 

as required by law and shall, upon request furnish satisfactory evidence to City that 

such licenses are in effect during the entire period of the agreement for each person 

assigned to work under this agreement.  

 

3.2 Work Performance  

 

All services provided are to be performed under the supervision of City’s Planner, and the 

City’s Development staff and in compliance with City’s codes, policies, and interpretations.  



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      6 
 

All plan reviews and inspections shall be performed in a professional, ethical, and non‐

adversarial manner.   

 

Consultant shall be expected to provide a consistent/stable roster of professionals to provide 

the services outlined in this Agreement.  

 

Inspectors will be required to carry identification clearly showing they are authorized 

inspectors of the City of Mission.  

 

3.3 Personnel Assignment  

 

City reserves the right to request that Consultant provide alternative personnel when City is 

dissatisfied, for whatever reason, with the performance of assigned personnel after the 

agreement commences.   

 

3.4 Third Party Personnel of the Consultant  

 

It is understood Consultant may utilize individuals who are not employees of Consultant, but 

rather private, third‐party consultants to augment the service of Consultant. Consultant 

agrees to advise City of its use of third‐party consultants, provide all requested information 

as to their qualifications, including evidence of placement of acceptable insurance, and 

Consultant understands its use of third parties shall be subject to City’s prior approval.  Any 

and all third‐party consultants engaged by Consultant shall provide Services under this 

Agreement, and Consultant shall ensure their compliance with the provisions hereof.   

 

Section 4.   Equipment to Be Provided by the Consultant   

4.1 Equipment  

 

Consultant shall, at its sole cost, provide all vehicles, clothing, equipment, cell phones, 

computers, safety equipment and other related materials necessary to perform the Services.   

Section 5.  Indemnification and Insurance Provided by Consultant  

5.1 Indemnity and Required Insurance 

Consultant and Client shall indemnify and hold harmless the other and their respective 
employees from and against legal liability for claims, losses, damages, and expenses to the 
extent such claims, losses, damages, or expenses are legally determined to be caused by their 
negligent acts, errors, or omissions.  In the event such claims, losses, damages, or expenses 
are legally determined to be caused by the joint or concurrent negligence of Consultant and 
Client, they shall be borne by each party in proportion to its own negligence under 
comparative fault principles.  Neither party shall have a duty to defend the other party, and 
not duty to defend is hereby created by this indemnity provision and such duty is explicitly 
waived under this Agreement.  Causes of action arising out of Consultant’s services or this 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      7 
 

Agreement regardless of cause(s) or the theory of liability, including negligence, indemnity or 
other recover shall be deemed to have accrued and the applicable statute of limitations shall 
commence to run not later than the date of Consultant’s substantial completion of services 
on the project. 

Furthermore, Consultant shall maintain insurance coverage in the following amounts: 

 

Type of Insurance     Limit/Ea. Occurrence    Limit/Aggregate 

General Liability   

 Bodily Injury      $1,000,000      $2,000,000 

 Property Damage      $1,000,000      $2,000,000 

 Contractual Insurance     $1,000,000      $2,000,000 

Professional Liability       $3,000,000      $3,000,000 

Automobile Liability  

 Bodily Injury      $1,000,000      $1,000,000 

 Property Damage       $1,000,000      $1,000,000 

 

Worker’s Compensation  

 Employee Claims       Statutory for Kansas 

 Employer’s Liability      $1,000,000 per accident  
          $1,000,000 disease – policy limit  

$1,000,000 disease – each employee 

Workers’ Compensation policies should include a “Waiver of Subrogation” in favor of City. 

All insurance carriers should carry a minimum rating of A‐ X (rated by A.M. Best).   

5.2 Vehicles, equipment and property used by Consultant shall be the property of Consultant and 

insured as such.  City shall not be responsible for any damage that may occur to such items.  

 

Section 6.  Work Paper Retention and Access to Working Papers  

 

6.1 Work Paper Retention and Access to Working Papers 

 

All working papers and reports must be retained, at Consultant’s expense, for a minimum 

of five (5) years, unless Consultant is notified in writing by City of the need to extend the 

retention period.  Consultant will be required to make working papers available, upon 

request, to representatives of the City.  

 

6.2 Proprietary Systems  

 

Proprietary concepts, systems, and ideas developed during performance of the Services 

shall remain the sole property of Consultant, but City’s use of the same as it relates to the 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      8 
 

Project shall be deemed a fully paid‐up perpetual license, without any obligation to pay 

additional fees or royalties.  

Section 7.  Term of Services to Be Provided by the Consultant  

7.1 Term of Services Limited To the Project  

 

The Services shall be for the construction of the Project only, and as such the term for this 

Agreement will run until the completion of the Project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, City 

may consider engaging Consultant for a period of time beyond the completion of the Project 

in order to address any ongoing issues outstanding at completion of the Project.  

 

7.2 No Obligation to Consultant For Incomplete Project  

Though it is anticipated the Project will be completed in its entirety, circumstances 

unforeseen at the time of the adoption of this Agreement may result in only partial 

completion of the Project, or of a particular phase of the Project.  Therefore, City is under no 

obligation to pay, and Consultant shall not expect any reimbursement for services beyond 

what is rendered for work actually completed.  

7.3 Termination of Consultant Services 

 

City and/or Consultant may terminate this Agreement at any time without cause with 

property notice given to the other party in writing and at least 90 days prior to such effective 

date of termination.  Consultant shall be paid by the City for services up to the date of 

termination.   

Section 8. Scope of Service Are Not‐Exclusive  

8.1  Scope of Service Non‐Exclusive 

Scope of Services as outlined in Section 2 are not exclusive to Consultant, and City reserves 

the right to contract with other firms to complete particular components of the f Services or 

to supplement the work of Consultant as may be appropriate.  

Section 9. Dispute Resolution  

9.1    Dispute Resolution  

City and Consultant will make a good faith effort to address any issues that may arise.  In an 
effort to resolve any conflicts that arise during the project or following the completion of 
the project, City and Consultant agree that all disputes between them in excess of $5,000, as 
a condition precedent to legal action by either party, shall first be submitted to at least one 
session of mediation unless the parties mutually agree otherwise.  Cost of mediation service 
shall be shared equally between City and Consultant.  The mediation shall be administered 
by a mutually agreeable mediation service and shall be held in Johnson County, Kansas 
unless another location is mutually agreed upon by City and Consultant. 

 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page      9 
 

Section 10.  Compensation and Terms of Payment  

10.1 Compensation for Services Performed 

  City shall pay compensation for the Services performed at the hourly rates set forth on Exhibit 

B attached hereto.   Hourly rates will be billed in six (6) minute increments.  Any increase in 

hourly rates from year to year will be in accordance with the Consumer Price Index for All 

Urban Areas (CPI) with a base year of 2017. 

10.2 Reimbursable Costs 

 

Mileage costs that the Consultant’s personnel incur traveling to and from the Project site are 

included in the hourly rates.  Meals and lodging will not be reimbursed.  Other actual costs 

incurred by the Consultant in performing its duties will be reimbursed at cost; provided such 

costs are approved in advance, in writing, by City. 

  

10.3 Payment of Invoices Submitted  

 
Consultant shall submit monthly invoices for Services rendered and payment is due within 30 
days of invoice date.  City shall pay a late fee of 1 % per month, but not exceeding the 
maximum rate allowed by law, for all unpaid and undisputed amounts 90 days or older.  
Consultant may suspend Services for lack of timely payment. 

10.4  Dispute of Invoice Amount  

City shall notify Consultant in writing within 15 days of the date of the invoice if City objects to 

any portion of the charges on the invoice. 

Section 11.  Notices  

11.1  Notices Pertaining to This Agreement 

  Any notices pertaining to this agreement should be mailed to the following parties: 

City: 

  Laura Smith,  
  City Administrator 
  City of Mission  
  6090 Woodson  
  Mission, KS 66202 
 

  Consultant:  

Sonia Garapaty, 

  CEO 
  FSC, Inc. 
  9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
  Suite 300 
  Overland Park, KS 66210 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page     10 
 

 
Section 12.  Governing Law 
 

12.1 Governing Law  
 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Kansas. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be duly executed as of 

the date indicted below. 
 

ATTEST:  City: 
  City of Mission, Kansas 
 
 
__________________________________    By: _______________________________ 
 
  Name: _____________________________ 
 
  Title: ______________________________ 
 
  Date: _____________________________ 
 
 
  Consultant: 
  FSC, Inc. 

   
 
  By: __________________________ 
 
  Name: _______________________ 
 
  Title: ________________________ 
 
  Date: ________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page     11 
 

EXHIBIT A 
Development Plan  

 
 
 

See Attached  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agreement for Professional Plan Review and Inspection Services 
Gateway Development Project 
City of Mission – August 2017           Page     12 
 

EXHIBIT B 
Hourly Rates  

 
Personnel                 Hourly Rate 
 
Plan Review and Inspection Staff  
 
Principal (Fire Protection, Code, Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing   $155/Hour  
Fire Protection Engineer / Code Consultant / Project Manager     $145/Hour 
Field Inspector (all disciplines other than accessibility)      $125/Hour  
Senior Engineer               $120/Hour  
Engineer                 $105/Hour  
ADA (plan review & inspector)             $250/Hour  
 
 
Support Staff  
 
Designer                $95/Hour 
CAD Technician               $75/Hour  
Administrative Clerical               $60/Hour  
 
 
Reimbursable expenses include printing of final submission documents and delivery.    

 


	CC Agenda 8-16-17 - Google Docs
	AI_Resolution Implementing Class-Comp Study Recommendations - Google Docs
	Resolution Implementing Class Comp Study - Google Docs
	Table 3 - 7-11-17 - Exhibit 1 (1)
	AI_2018 Budget Resolution - Final - Google Docs
	2018 Budget Resolution_Financial Policies - Google Docs
	2018-2022 CIP Resolution - Google Docs
	Exhibit 1
	2018 Budgets  - Public Hearing 8-2-17
	AI - Ordinance Amending Chapter 635, Rental Dwellings, of the Code of Mission - Google Docs
	Ord Amending Chap 635 - Rental Dwellings
	Item #1 - Red-Line Version of Proposed Changes
	Item #2 - Clean Version of Proposed Changes (1)
	AI-SPJCC Parking Lot Improvements- Construction - Google Docs
	#1 - SPJCC Lot- O'Donnell Way Docs
	#2 - SPJCC Bid Tabulations - Corrected
	#3 - Sylvester Powell Value Engineering O'Donnell-Way (1)
	#4 - Sylvester Powell Parking lot_Bid Set_06-14-17 (1)
	Sheets and Views
	2 T_LAY_171_43299 - Layout1
	7 T_DET-CURB_171_43299 - 22x34 pdf
	8 T_DET-SWKRMP_171_43299 - 22x34 pdf (page 1)
	9 T_DET-DRIVE_171_43299 - 22x34 pdf
	10 F_TC-DETAILS - Layout1 (2)


	AI - Dog Park Recommendation - Google Docs
	PRT Dog Park Recommendation to CDC - Google Docs
	Dog Park Task Force - Planning Session
	Dog Park Task Force - Findings Resolution - Google Docs
	AI - Adopt A Park Program - Google Docs
	Adopt-A-Park - Google Docs
	AI_Kennett Place Agreement and Release - Google Docs
	Kennett Place Agreement and Release - Final
	AI - Gateway Plan Review and Inspection Services - Google Docs
	Item #1 - RFP for Gateway Plan Review and Building Inspection Services (1)
	Item #2 - FSC Proposal (1)
	Item #3 - FSC City of Mission Fee Proposal (1)
	FSC City of Mission Fee Proposal
	Mission Gateway Fee Spreadsheet FINAL




